

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2019

Exploring Firm-Level Cloud Adoption and Diffusion

William J. Wood Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Databases and Information Systems Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

William Wood

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Jon McKeeby, Committee Chairperson, Information Technology Faculty Dr. Gail Miles, Committee Member, Information Technology Faculty Dr. Steven Case, University Reviewer, Information Technology Faculty

The Office of the Provost

Walden University 2019

Abstract

Exploring Firm-Level Cloud Adoption and Diffusion

by

William J. Wood

MSIT, Walden University, 2016 BSCIS, Regents College, 1993

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Information Technology

Walden University

December 2019

Abstract

Cloud computing innovation adoption literature has primarily focused on individuals, small businesses, and nonprofit organizations. The functional linkage between cloud adoption and diffusion is instrumental toward understanding enterprise firm-level adoption. The purpose of this qualitative collective case study was to explore strategies used by information technology (IT) executives to make advantageous enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decisions. This study was guided by an integrated diffusion of innovation and technology, organization, and environment conceptual framework to capture and model this complex, multifaceted problem. The study's population consisted of IT executives with cloud-centric roles in 3 large (revenues greater than \$5 billion) telecom-related companies with a headquarters in the United States. Data collection included semistructured, individual interviews (n = 19) and the analysis of publicly available financial documents (n = 50) and organizational technical documents (n = 41). Data triangulation and interviewee member checking were used to increase study findings validity. Inter- and intracase analyses, using open and axial coding as well as constant comparative methods, were leveraged to identify 5 key themes namely top management support, information source bias, organizational change management, governance at scale, and service selection. An implication of this study for positive social change is that IT telecom executives might be able to optimize diffusion decisions to benefit downstream consumers in need of services.

Exploring Firm-Level Cloud Adoption and Diffusion

by

William J. Wood

MSIT, Walden University, 2016 BSCIS, Regents College, 1993

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Information Technology

Walden University

December 2019

Dedication

I dedicate this work to my wife Carolyn, my daughter Margaret, and my father Robert, for their unconditional love, support, and motivation while I worked through this long but fulfilling process. I am extremely grateful that I have been able to complete this program while my father remains alive, so he too can celebrate with us. My roots are as a cranberry farmer in rural Massachusetts, so accomplishing this goal is truly a dream come true. Also, I am grateful that my daughter was able to see how perseverance and hard work can pay off and be rewarding. Persistence is critical in achieving this educational goal, and we as a family have had to work through and sacrifice many long nights and weekends to successfully complete this program. I am the first in our family to achieve a doctoral-level degree, and I hope it makes my father proud.

Acknowledgments

There are many people I wish to thank for their support and encouragement. First, I want to thank my committee chair, Dr. Jon McKeeby, for his unfailing support. He was always encouraging even in the darkest of times. Without his active engagement and mentorship, I doubt I would have successfully completed this program. I would also like to thank Dr. Gail Miles. She provided a great deal of judicious advice together with welltimed inspiration. I would also like to thank Dr. Steven Case for his continued motivation and reassurance. He was always available when I found myself in need of some sage guidance. I would also like to thank Dr. Dana Haywood, Barry Briggs, and Miha Kralj for their outstanding mentorship. Your timely counsel and support were exactly what I needed to gather myself together and complete my study! A big thank you goes to all my study participants. You gave of yourselves generously. I am hopeful you find the results worthy of your time investment. I would like to thank my classmates for their continued support and wisdom over these past few years. Lastly, I would like to thank my wife and daughter for putting up with my late nights, lost family weekends, and countless hours of being in engineering mode. Without your love and support, completing this study would not have been possible.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	iv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	2
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	3
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	4
Interview Questions	5
Definition of Terms	5
Conceptual Framework	6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	8
Significance of the Study	10
Contribution to Information Technology Practice	10
Implications for Social Change	10
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	12
Diffusion of Innovation	14
Technology, Environment, and Organization	37
Integrated DOI-TOE Conceptual Model	48
Analysis of Rival Theories	52
Alternate adoption and diffusion theories	52
Cloud Computing	54

A Conceptual Model as an Enterprise Cloud Adoption Decision Aid	69
Transition and Summary	72
Section 2: The Project	74
Purpose Statement	74
Role of the Researcher	74
Participants	78
Research Method and Design	81
Research Method	82
Research Design	84
Population and Sampling	86
Ethical Research	89
Data Collection	91
Instruments	92
Data Collection Techniques	93
Data Organization Techniques	96
Data Analysis Technique	97
Triangulation	98
Themes	99
Reliability and Validity	100
Credibility	101
Transferability	102
Dependability	103

Confirmability/Objectivity	103
Transition and Summary	104
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	105
Overview of Study	105
Presentation of the Findings	106
Theme 1: Top Management Support	108
Theme 2: Information Source Bias	119
Theme 3: Organizational Change Management	125
Theme 4: Governance at Scale	134
Theme 5: Service Selection	142
Applications to Professional Practice	155
Implications for Social Change	161
Recommendations for Action	162
Recommendations for Further Study	164
Reflections	166
Study Conclusions	167
References	168
Appendix: Interview Protocol	215

List of Tables

Table 1. Alkhalil, Sahandi, and John (2017) Conceptual Framework Model	107
Table 2. Conceptual Model Frequency	107
Table 3. Conceptual Framework Frequency	109
Table 4. Frequency of First Major Theme	109
Table 5. Frequency of Second Major Theme	120
Table 6. Frequency of Third Major Theme	126
Table 7. Frequency of Fourth Major Theme	135
Table 8. Frequency of Fifth Major Theme	143

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

The discipline of enterprise cloud computing is developing, and the lines between vendor claim hype and reality often blur, which affects discernment (Avram, 2014). Lee (2015) proclaimed that psychological factors, primarily self-efficacy, have become vital driving forces underpinning practitioners' cloud intention to adopt assessments. As such, Ho, Ocasio-Velazquez, and Booth (2017) pronounced that the practitioner's prior beliefs, individual outcomes, and trust directly influence their attitude toward technology. Moreover, Ho et al. specified that the relative strength of the resultant attitude might unduly influence a practitioner's rational decision-making processes and intention to adopt assessments. Finally, Ho et al. suggested that subsequent practitioner behavioral outcomes may not be sufficiently moderated by perceived risk or subjective norms, resulting in unanticipated negative consequences. Although a handful of large cloud service providers (CSPs) have rapidly gained market share, the overall model of enterprise cloud value lacks a full examination, which includes a comprehensive audit of cloud technology weakness and immaturity impact (Chou, 2015). Therefore, given the relative immaturity of cloud computing, the inadequacy of new product adoption critical thinking, and the potential impact of a negative consequence on an organization, a more thoughtful adoption approach is required to mitigate diffusion failures (Derbyshire & Giovannetti, 2017). Consequently, the successful implementation of cloud solutions often requires a variety of unplanned interventions adversely impacting organizational resources (Rai, Sahoo, & Mehfuz, 2015). I used a qualitative collective case study to explore and understand how several large telecom companies have addressed this

phenomenon, as well as to explore factors influencing firm-level cloud adoption and diffusion decisions.

Background of the Problem

Cloud computing emerges as a significant form factor for enterprises and the next evolutionary generation of virtualization (Kushida, Murray, & Zysman, 2015). Cloud computing fills a technical void by managing computing costs and simplifying IT operations (Avram, 2014). Advocates profess that cloud computing enables significant cost savings and competitive advantages while offering techniques to abstract and manage workloads in a less restrictive and higher scaling manner (Pakath, 2015). Authors of cloud computing adoption literature focused on the individual, small business, and nonprofit organizations from a technology-specific perspective (El-Gazzar, 2014). However, the functional linkage between cloud adoption and diffusion remains instrumental to understanding enterprise firm-level adoption (Choi, Nazareth, & Ngo-Ye, 2017). Therefore, because enterprise-centric cloud adoption and diffusion literature are still emerging, the lack of applied field data negatively affects organizational decision-making processes (Haag & Eckhardt, 2014). As a result, an organization's ability to realize the cloud's actual value is often impaired.

Problem Statement

Large enterprise IT executives are making cloud adoption and diffusion decisions based on flawed or incomplete information (Ray, 2016). According to Figliola and Fischer (2016), variances in local IT cost savings when adopting cloud services can range anywhere from 10% to 250% and often ascribed to a lack of understanding, uncertainty,

and incomplete requirements. The general IT problem is that IT executives make ill-informed enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decisions based on emotion and self-efficacy rather than a critical assessment of enterprise cloud solutions. The specific IT problem is that some IT executives lack strategies to make advantageous enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decisions.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative collective case study was to explore strategies used by IT executives to make advantageous enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decisions. The target population was IT telecom executives who influence or make firm-level cloud adoption and diffusion decisions in three large (revenues greater than \$5 billion) telecomrelated companies with a headquarters in the United States. An implication for positive social change is that, by using my study findings, IT telecom executives might be able to improve their ability to optimize cloud innovation adoption and diffusion decisions to greater benefit downstream consumers in need of telecommunications services.

Nature of the Study

I used the qualitative method for this study. Researchers use applied, experientially based qualitative exploration methods to capture critical aspects of a topic and address validity and reliability (Walther et al., 2017). Accordingly, I selected the qualitative method to explore strategies to make enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decisions advantageously. Researchers use the quantitative method to focus on counted or aggregated data (Myers, 1997). I did not collect numerical or aggregated data about cloud computing, so I did not choose the quantitative method. Researchers use mixed methods

to combine quantitative and qualitative methods for complex data analysis and triangulation (Kamalodeen & Jameson-Charles, 2016). I did not use the quantitative method, so a mixed-method approach was not appropriate for this study.

I used a collective case study design for this exploration. Stake (1995) characterized case study research as the qualitative examination, analysis, and interpretation of a single or collective bounded case, intended to capture the particularity and complexity of an issue within one or more sites. Furthermore, Stake specified that an instrumental case study provides insight into a case where the issue is dominating, whereas a collective case study refers to a nested set of instrumental cases examined simultaneously. I used the collective case study design to explore the various applied aspects of enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decisions and their results across a variety of telecom companies. Researchers use ethnographic design to document shared patterns of a cultural group, which requires extensive time in the field living with a cultural group (Myers, 1997). I did not examine a culture group, so an ethnographic design was not appropriate for this study. Researchers use phenomenological design to exhaustively analyze the meanings behind the lived experiences of study participants on a phenomenon (VanScoy & Evenstad, 2015). While I did consider a phenomenological study, the lack of definition of a specific phenomenon caused me to reject this design.

Research Question

What strategies do IT executives use to make advantageous enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decisions?

Interview Questions

- 1. How do you contribute to IT cloud adoption and propagation decisions with steps, purposes, and time elements of each?
- 2. What are the key roles involved in the adoption and propagation of IT cloud within your organization, and how does your role relate to these other roles?
- 3. Please describe the nature, frequency, and structure of how you communicate IT cloud adoption and propagation decisions with other peer and subordinate IT organizational roles.
- 4. How do you gather information to formulate IT cloud adoption deliberations and facilitate propagation communications?
- 5. How do you adjudicate IT cloud adoption and propagation decisions with steps, rationale, and purposes of each?
- 6. What difficulties have you encountered in the IT cloud adoption and propagation process within your organization, and have these difficulties altered over time?
- 7. What additional strategy-related information would be worth sharing to help IT executives make advantageous enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decisions?

Definition of Terms

Compute: A virtual or physical computer instance, able to access CPU and RAM to execute instructions (Jararweh et al., 2016).

Dynamic pricing: Auction-based pricing in which a dynamic amount of resource is contracted for a dynamic amount of time by the service consumer (Wu, Terpenny, & Gentzsch, 2015).

Pay per use: Service consumption is measured and billed as you use with a minimal upfront obligation (Ray, 2016). Pay per use incorporates pay as you go and pay for what you think you will use concepts.

Purposeful sampling: Patton (2015) suggested that purposive and purposeful are equivalent. Gentles, Charles, Ploeg, and McKibbon (2015) confirmed Patton and settled on using the term *purposeful*.

Senior IT leaders: Decision makers who focus on strategic rather than tactical IT issues (Milovich, 2015).

Conceptual Framework

Two conceptual frameworks were blended to capture and express the conceptual model to support this study. The diffusion of innovation (DOI) theory, the foundational lens for this study, was initially developed by Everett Rogers in 1962; he then published the fifth edition of the theory in 2003 (Rogers, 2003). Rocco DiPietro, Edith Wiarda, and Mitchell Fleischer developed the technology, organization, and environment (TOE) framework in 1990. Researching enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion is a complex, multifaceted problem, and an extensive array of sources exist that leverage composite model pairs when documenting this field of study (El-Gazzar, 2014). DOI and TOE are two of the primary conceptual models used to explore enterprise cloud adoption (Oredo

& Njihia, 2015). Therefore, based on the focus of my study, I used an integrated DOI-TOE conceptual model.

Rogers (2003) created DOI to describe the natural adoption curve of innovations across industries as a function of an individual organization's innovativeness.

Innovativeness signifies the rate at which an innovation is adopted in comparison to others (Rogers, 2003). The four central concepts of DOI are (a) innovation, (b) communication channels, (c) time and (d) a social system; each has specific attributes and characteristics to inform an innovation's rate of adoption (Rogers, 2003). Additionally, Rogers established a five-step innovation decision-making process (i.e., knowledge, persuasion, decision, implementation, and confirmation) that models the stages taken in considering an innovation. Like the Gartner Hype Cycle, the DOI S curve delineates technological adoption over time. The five adopter categories established in Rogers are (a) innovators, (b) early adopters, (c) early majority, (c) late majority, and (d) laggards. Essential attributes modeled within DOI include the assertion of the characteristics and interpersonal communications (i.e., opinion leadership influence) that motivate individual and communal technology adoption and diffusion decisions (Rogers, 2003).

DiPietro et al. (1990) developed TOE to describe three dimensions that firms explore when seeking, adopting, and implementing new technologies. The technical context includes hardware, software, and processes (DiPietro et al., 1990). The organizational context addresses the structures, size, resources, and communications paradigms (DiPietro et al., 1990). The environmental context addresses the industry and external reporting requirements (DiPietro et al., 1990). Gangwar, Date, and Raoot (2014)

revealed that IT adoption researchers widely leverage TOE, which is well-supported by the community.

These two frameworks—DOI and TOE—as characterized by Oliveira, Thomas, and Espadanal (2014), overlap in some regards, but each model also embodies a unique set of complementary factors. Furthermore, as proposed by Oliveira et al., DOI focuses on technology adoption and diffusion from an innovation perspective, complemented by the TOE, which introduces an environmental aspect. Additionally, Oliveira et al. developed and leveraged a specific, integrated DOI-TOE enterprise cloud-adoption research model demonstrating how the two frameworks complement each other.

Similarly, Alkhalil et al. (2017) developed an integrated DOI-TOE conceptual model explicitly designed to study complicated enterprise cloud adoption and application migration decisions. Based on my study focus and the specific DOI and TOE dimensions and factors incorporated, I selected Alkhalil et al.'s (2017) model as my integrated DOI-TOE conceptual model.

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions, limitations, and delimitations are factors that influence research and outcomes. The discussion below outlines how I addressed these dynamics concerning managing overall study integrity as well as a foundational basis to collect and analyze the data of this qualitative collective case study.

Assumptions are interpretations or inferences accepted to be accurate, but that can unconsciously influence observation and perception bias (Walsh, 2015). The first assumption here was that participants understood the concepts during the interviews and

provided honest answers. Additionally, the participants understood the technical nature of an innovation, which may consist of a single or cluster of technologies. Finally, the participants understood that cloud migration decisions are synonymous with cloud adoption decisions.

Regardless of the assumptions stated above, limitations exist. Busse, Kach, and Wagner (2016) defined a limitation as a theoretical or methodological imperfection that does not substantially impair the validity of a study's findings. The first limitation was the potential for recall bias issues. Recall bias refers to DOI's reliance on the ability of participants to recall and recreate past experiences over varying, sometimes long, periods (Rogers, 2003). I used a collective case study to cross-check data to mitigate this limitation. The second limitation was the lack of generalizability. Readers determine the degree of resonance or transferability for themselves (Gehman et al., 2017). I addressed the qualitative method's internal and external validity in Section 2.

I enforced data collection boundaries throughout the study. According to Snelson (2016), a delimitation refers to restricting the study scope to make it focused and feasible. I studied the IT-centric aspects of cloud adoption and diffusion with three large (revenues greater than \$5 billion) telecom-related companies with a headquarters in the United States. Additionally, I focused on the initiation phase of adoption. Finally, I only focused on strategies that IT executives had within these organizations.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Information Technology Practice

I intended to partially address an identified literature gap in the enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion space. While information technology practices exist for small businesses for cloud computing, El-Gazzar (2014); Hsu, Ray, and Li-Hsieh (2014); and Khanagha, Volberda, and Oshri (2014) confirmed a lack of information on strategies for enterprise cloud computing adoption and diffusion. This lack of strategies may inhibit global adoption within enterprise-level organizations.

Daylami (2015) established 2006 as a foundational breakout year for cloud computing. Additionally, Kushida et al. (2015) characterized cloud computing as being a new computing platform vice the rehashing of prior technologies based on its ability to concurrently be an innovation engine, entrepreneurial platform, and corporate efficiency driver. Thus, cloud-based technologies have been on the market for the past decade, albeit with varying levels of success (Avram, 2014). The strategies from the study may help the late majority, and laggard telecommunication firms successfully and productively integrate cloud technology into their infrastructures. The secondary contribution to information technology practice is raising awareness for the potential need of telecommunications firms to reexamine their IT cloud adoption and diffusion processes.

Implications for Social Change

An underlying social change driven goal of this research effort was to help improve the IT cloud adoption and innovation diffusion practices of telecommunication

firms related to the thoughtful consideration of critical socioeconomic factors of downstream information and communication technology (ICT) service consumers. Both Gallouj, Weber, Stare, and Rubalcaba (2015) and Ismail (2015) discussed the complexity of socioeconomic factors as they relate to ICT service innovation. Ismail characterized the telecommunications industries' approach to ICT service diffusion as being predominantly supply-side driven vice demand-side driven. Thus, according to Ismail, significant socioeconomic accessibility, affordability, and usability (i.e., from a consumer's context of usage), gaps exist when telecommunications firms make ICT service adoption and diffusion decisions. The telecommunications industry provides the underlying infrastructure and exerts control over an extensive assortment of digital content and capabilities, such as cable TV, satellite communications, and mobile devices (Frieden, 2017). Gallouj et al. (2015) stressed just how pervasive and far-reaching ICT service innovations are relative to addressing future societal and business challenges. Thus, Khanagha et al. (2014) warned of the potential impact of these looming business, technological, and service model changes to telecommunications firms as they transition from selling hardware to cloud-enabled ICT services. Given the internal pressures and risks telecommunications firms face, it is highly likely that many senior IT leaders may be inward, vice externally, focused during IT cloud adoption and diffusion decision processes, especially as they relate to externally facing ICT services. Highlighting the thoughtful consideration of critical socioeconomic factors of downstream ICT service consumers is essential in helping telecommunications firms efficiently adopt and successfully diffuse ICT services.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative collective case study was to explore strategies used by IT executives to make advantageous enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decisions. The focus of the literature review was the research question: What strategies do IT executives use to make advantageous enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decisions? Successful literature reviews contain a constructive and critical analysis of current literature, which helps synthesize new knowledge, discusses the theoretical reasoning used to integrate the concepts, and presents recommendations for future research (Torraco, 2016). Therefore, my literature review included in-depth information related to my central research question, along with a critical analysis and synthesis of journal articles concerning cloud computing, DOI, and TOE. Additionally, I provide overviews of relevant cloud computing as well as innovation adoption and diffusion constructs, consider arguments about enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion in the telecommunications industry, and discuss how an integrated DOI-TOE conceptual model bound them together.

This literature review consisted of 154 journal articles on the *cloud*, *cloud* adoption, innovation adoption, diffusion theory, IT technology adoption, and composite conceptual model frameworks. I used Ulrich's periodicals directory to verify that 131 (85%) of the 154 references were peer-reviewed. Additionally, of the 154 journal articles, 136 (88%) were published within five years of expected 2019 CAO approval. Journal articles for this literature review were primarily retrieved from the following research databases: ACM Digital Library, ProQuest Central, SpringerLink, ScienceDirect,

Thoreau, and Google Scholar. When searching for candidate sources, I primarily used 2015 to 2019 as the start and end years to meet the greater than 85% 5-year-old period requirements. Older sources were located to address highly relevant or seminal topics.

I focused the literature review on four key themes: (a) individual and organizational IT-centric innovation adoption and diffusion decision processes, (b) cloud-centric innovation adoption and diffusion conceptual models, (c) current maturity level and industry trends of cloud computing, and (d) the applicability of a composite cloud-adoption and diffusion conceptual model to facilitate enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decision processes. My research on IT innovation adoption and diffusion focused on foundational individual psychological, organizational, and environmental elements from both a framework and process perspective. On cloud computing, the focus was on the history, current maturity levels, and factors impacting enterprise cloud adoption decisions. To unify the concepts toward the study with cloud-centric adoption and conceptual diffusion models, the focus was on identification and authentication of firm-level, enterprise IT-centric, innovation adoption and diffusion, conceptual models that had been successfully extended to address cloud constructs.

Recent diffusion related research has focused on adopter and innovation-related factors (or attributes) that impact innovation specific diffusion (Papazoglou & Spanos, 2018). As a result, both the work of Rogers (2003) and DiPietro et al. (1990) need further study against today's agile organizational constructs. The literature review begins by discussing DOI.

Diffusion of Innovation

Rogers (2003) published the original *Diffusion of Innovations* in 1962 and published revised editions in 1971, 1983, 1995, and 2003, to describe the natural adoption curve of innovations across industries, as a function of an individual organization's innovativeness. Rogers characterized diffusion as the process by which innovations spread throughout an organization over time. The four central concepts of DOI are (a) innovation, (b) communication channels, (c) time and (d) a social system; each has specific attributes and characteristics to inform an innovation's rate of adoption (Rogers, 2003). Rogers described innovation as an idea, practice, or technology that potential adopters perceive as new. Rogers proposed that communication and the exchanging of information within a social system facilitate new concept awareness and address uncertainty. Newness is a crucial distinguishing feature (Oredo & Njihia, 2015).

Adoption and diffusion decisions are not straightforward. In support of DOI and its complexities, diffusion is a social process triggered by innovation discoveries, whereas innovation adoption stimulates social state changes and disrupts behavior (Dearing & Cox, 2018). Despite adoption, implementation, and use challenges, innovative technologies surge if perceived to solve business problems (Ray, 2016). Both Bowman (2018) and Tarhini, Arachchilage, Masa'deh, and Abbasi (2015) warned that individual behavior impact adoption decisions. Self-efficacy, based on learned beliefs and a presumed level of individual skill, was one such individual behavior named by Tarhini et al. (2015), which can impact adoption decisions. Therefore, innovation adoption and

diffusion evaluation processes include a great deal of individual internal thought rationalization and deliberation.

Framing the life cycle of innovation adoption and diffusion activities helps contextualize individual, firm, and industry-wide innovation decisions. Rogers (2003) established a five-step innovation decision-making process (i.e., knowledge, persuasion, decision, implementation, and confirmation) to capture and represent these data sets, which models the stages taken when an individual or organization considers adopting an innovation. Furthermore, Rogers identified five adopter categories: (a) innovators, (b) early adopters, (c) early majority, (d) late majority, and (e) laggards. Leveraging these adopter categories, Rogers described the plotting of such adoption decisions over time and the resultant S-curve shape, the slope of which depicts the collective rate of diffusion across an ecosystem. Building on this theme, Rogers portrayed diffusion, or a lack thereof, as an embodiment of three general sets of variables, which are (a) an innovation's set of characteristics, (b) the potential adopters set of characteristics, and (c) the specific context and timing of the innovation being assessed. This relative innovativeness signifies the rate of adoption for innovation compared to others (Rogers, 2003). Thus, leveraging DOI as an adoption and diffusion framework helps facilitate complex decisions and provides senior IT leaders with a context of how such decisions relate to other industry participants.

The notion of innovation. Central to DOI is the notion of innovation. Rogers (2003) described a technological innovation as a blueprint, capability, or method composed of hardware, software, or some combination of both, which implements a

concept resulting in an outcome. To address any composition ambiguity, Rogers established the concept of a technology cluster or bundle of one or more closely aligned innovations viewed as a single construct. He described the instantiation of an innovative concept as being linked to the perceived newness of innovation. An innovation concept also incorporates any preadoption awareness which may influence initial adopter opinion (Wisdom, Chor, Hoagwood, & Horwitz, 2014). Dearing and Cox (2018) stated that not all innovations are desirable, and Rogers explained that undesirability occurs when innovation remains insignificant for a specific population. Due to innovation characteristic differences, the best competitive performers are not reliably spread by diffusion processes, but they generally follow the same organizational progression (Wu & Chiu, 2015). Increased consideration of an innovation's base construct and potential impact scope help to facilitate adoption decision quality and outcomes.

Developing an in-depth understanding of innovation is critical. Interest in an innovation occurs when a stakeholder infers that some perceived benefit or essential consequence may exist (Dearing & Cox, 2018). A specific business case or issue may or may not exist, but the effort is expended to increase awareness (Wisdom et al., 2014). Rogers (2003) identified a crucial decision point in the adoption process is when to begin socializing an innovation within a social system. Rogers warned that the specific dissemination methods used to communicate information about innovation, within a social system, play an essential role in addressing potential bias and mitigating any undue influence that may be placed on stakeholders and their opinions. Bettiga and Lamberti (2017) discussed the potential impact individual influencers could have on adoption

decision deliberations. As such, continual information gathering about an innovation helps address individual uncertainty and informs ongoing analysis efforts (Rogers, 2003). As supplementary information is gathered and ongoing analysis results remain positive, additional iterations of learning and analyzing may occur to address unease (Dearing & Cox, 2018). These refinement efforts continue until some threshold is met, and an informed decision can be made (Rogers, 2003). Accordingly, iterative knowledge acquisition about an innovation helps address unease and combat conflict.

A set of innovation specific characteristics was developed to help facilitate innovation adoption decisions. Rogers (2003) established five innovation characteristics that influence a potential adopter's decision-making process: relative advantage, compatibility, complexity, trialability, and observability. To further facilitate innovation adoption decisions, he stressed that the concept of reinvention is highly germane.

Reinvention, as characterized by Dearing and Cox (2018), signifies the degree to which adopters can modify an innovation to address their specific context better. Most innovations undergo some form of reinvention by adopters (Dearing & Cox, 2018). As a result, collecting the necessary information to gain insight into innovation, to include possible modifications, is an essential aspect of the innovation adoption decision process.

Relative advantage. Being able to determine relative advantage accurately is a vital part of an innovation adoption decision. Relative advantage signifies the degree to which an innovation is viewed to be better than an existing capability (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). The derivation of this value is multidimensional and is comprised of contributions from the following aspects: economic, social prestige, convenience,

satisfaction, and risk (Rogers, 2003). As an innovation's relative advantage measures begin to emerge and stabilize, a clear and unambiguous advantage can inform evaluations and even possible adoption or rejection rates (Greenhalgh, Robert, MacFarlane, Bate, & Kyriadkidou, 2004). Hence, understanding how the different dimensions of relative advantage inform on each other is critical to accurately gauge just how much innovation may or may not, really be able to deliver impact.

Compatibility. The full importance of compatibility may not be fully appreciated. Compatibility signifies the degree to which an innovation aligns with existing values, needs, and expectations of an adopting organization (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). Oliveira et al. (2014) found that incompatible innovations would not be adopted as readily as compatible ones, which supports Rogers' findings that these innovations require a forcing function to overcome any potential social system change management issues that may arise. Therefore, developing an accurate compatibility assessment can help determine cultural innovation fit as well as provide an early indication of how traumatic the change management impact would be.

Complexity. Enterprise IT system adoption is never trouble-free in today's economy. Complexity signifies the degree to which an innovation is deemed to be easily understood or used (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). Complexity calculations are modified, up or down, by the impact severity of a social systems' skills availability and supplemental training requirements (Oliveira et al., 2014). Thus, complexity rating, e.g., from low to high, informs both the innovation adoption decision process as well as its potential adoption rate (Rogers, 2003). For that reason, developing a thorough understanding of an

innovation's complexity profile can help mitigate risk and define specific innovation adoption decision activities.

Trialability. The ability to prove an innovation helps increases the adoption decision process. Trialability signifies the degree to which an innovation can be experimented with (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). The ability to prove a concept reduces uncertainty and directly affects its adoption decision process (Greenhalgh et al., 2004). Thus, being able to execute a proof of technology successfully can significantly reduce risk and help establish realistic expectations.

Observability. Being able to see innovation in action helps temper expectations. Observability signifies the degree to which others can scrutinize an innovation in action (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). The ability to see the results of a concept, even if in someone else's setting, helps address uncertainty and could stimulate further information gathering activities (Greenhalgh et al., 2004). Accordingly, being able to see an innovation operating successfully can significantly reduce risk and help establish realistic expectations.

Characteristics of a communications channel. Innovation information collected by adopters is rarely held in isolation. A communications channel is how innovation information is shared within a social system (Rogers, 2003). Scott and McGuire (2017) also suggested that mass media is best suited to spread knowledge about innovation, while interpersonal interactions can be more persuasive. Most people prefer and are profoundly influenced by personal interactions with similarly minded peers to acquire knowledge vice consuming third-party, published reports or opinions (Rogers, 2003).

Broadcasting techniques can be specifically designed to blur the mass media and interpersonal communication divide (Cappella, 2017). The nature of these interpersonal interactions informs social norms and similarities within and across ecosystems and increases the potential introduction of a group-think bias (Rogers, 2003). For instance, Kee, Sparks, Struppa, Mannucci, and Damiano (2016) explored the use of social media, and its ramifications, as an information diffusion acceleration platform. The importance of monitoring and managing any potential sources of bias becomes increasingly essential when making adoption decisions.

How effectively individuals can share information is critical when collecting data. Interpersonal innovation communications are acutely influenced by the concepts of heterophily and homophily (Dean, Ellis, & Wells, 2017). Heterophily refers to the degree by which people with different trait tie characteristics interact while homophily refers to the degree by which people with similar trait tie characteristics interact (Rogers, 2003). Trait ties consist of geography, relative proximity, family ties, organizational ties, cultural, educational, colleagues, as well as other industries (Rogers, 2003). The combination of homophilous alignment and attraction, both physical and social, together, inform communication outcome success (Almendarez, 2018). Lastly, communications between homophilous people are considered more efficient due to perceived interaction ease as opposed to more strained heterophilic interactions (Rogers, 2003). Optimizing the communications medium, based on the individual characteristics (e.g., social anxiety level) of the people involved, can significantly increase instantaneous homophilous

alignment (Lundy & Drouin, 2016). Therefore, the timely discernment of homophilous alignment can help inform data gathering and communications effectiveness.

Assessing the relative strength of the homophilous alignment is pertinent to innovation-related data collection and knowledge acquisition activities. Rogers (2003) cautioned that diffusion communications that involve the broad sharing of information and knowledge must take potential heterophilous/homophilous bias impact into account. Due to the nature of interpersonal communication alignments, most individuals tend to seek out homophilous relationships (Ramazi, Riehl, & Cao, 2018). Homophilous influences, such as from opinion leaders, can unduly inform adoption attitudes and decisions, via imitation-based effects, because homophilous others may have already done so (Dearing & Cox, 2018). Sharing new information via highly homophilous interactions may be more comfortable, but if the alignment level is too high, the additive value and accuracy of the new information garnered may be impacted (Rauwolf, Mitchell, & Bryson, 2015). Consequently, Rogers suggested that some degree of heterophily, even if specifically innovation-centric, may be needed to introduce new perspectives. Hence, the timely discernment of the homophilous alignment level can help mitigate some potential bias.

Characteristics of a social system. Understanding the construct and role of a social system within DOI is essential. An organization, or social system in modern organization theory, is a collective having a formalized structure and norms, striving to achieve common goals and objectives (Rogers, 2003). Akindele, Afolabi, Pitan, and Gidado (2016) confirmed this definition but goes a bit further by characterizing an

organization as being a subordinate part of the broader concept of a social system. In either case, Rogers (2003) proposed that social system norms define the boundaries of acceptable behavior, as well as govern communication, decision making, and operational procedures. Thus, a social system encompasses organizations and is comprised of people, structured by hierarchies, all of whom work toward achieving common goals (Akindele et al., 2016). So establishing a foundational definition of a social system helps bound innovation adoption and diffusion decision processes and activities.

Characterizing social systems traits helps relate human behavior to structure.

Consequently, as detailed in Rogers (2003), social system construction, informed by social norms, determines the relative efficiency of an organization according to five traits, namely: predetermined goals, prescribed roles, authority structure, rules and regulations, and informal practices. Short and long-term goals define the structure and function of an organization (Ahmady, Mehrpour, & Nikooravesh, 2016). Prescribed roles, within a hierarchy, define positions, their respective tasks, and duties as well as the authority and reporting structure between these positions (Akindele et al., 2016). Rules and regulations define governance and decision-making processes within an organization (Akindele et al., 2016). Informal practices, as characterized by Rogers, represent the nonnormal reality of social system human interactions and their associated effects. The ability to envision how people relate to others, and to the social system itself, helps clarify the definition of innovation adoption and diffusion decision processes and activities.

Organizations do not remain static. Though seemingly stable, Rogers (2003) declared that organizations frequently innovate through a social system's culture. An

organization's culture can impact an organization's ability to absorb change as well as actively or passively inhibit growth (Wisdom et al., 2014). Furthermore, Wisdom et al. (2014) portrayed specific examples of cultural resistance to include lack of innovation awareness or impact, lack of innovation-decision process skill and clarity, and finally, lack of rigor in the execution of the innovation adoption decision process itself.

Sriwannawit and Sandström (2015) highlighted three crucial, diffusion-related roles to help guide and accelerate organizations, namely opinion leaders, change agents, and gatekeepers. The ability to discern and mitigate social system cultural shifts helps streamline innovation adoption and diffusion decision processes and activities.

Culture and information sharing mechanisms play a critical role in DOI. Rogers (2003) considered opinion leaders, supported by Kee (2017), to be highly esteemed, internal social system individuals who are particularly sought out for advice and counsel. Opinion leaders are domain experts intended to influence and enlighten others (Dearing, 2015). Additionally, opinion leaders can, when desired, exert considerable influence over the innovation adoption and diffusion process by asserting specific positions and having others follow suit (Dearing & Cox, 2018). Conversely, change agents are individuals, either internal or external, to the social system, trying to influence the outcome of an innovation adoption decision (Haider & Kreps, 2004). Haider and Kreps (2004) warned that change agents are often driven by their own or someone else's agenda. Each role has its own set of drivers and communications paths when shaping and conducting social system interactions (Greenhalgh et al., 2004). Opinion leaders leverage peer networks to assist others in making adoption decisions while change agents petition the entire social

systems to achieve desired outcomes (Greenhalgh et al., 2004). The practical use of opinion leaders and change agents can help address a wide array of innovation adoption and diffusion decision processes and activity issues.

Converging different people toward a single decision is difficult. Organizational adoption decisions are far more complicated than individual ones (Sabi, Uzoka, Langmia, & Njeh, 2016). Most business and enterprise adoption decisions require some degree of consensus before a specific decision, in fact, a wide array of critical leadership roles and decision-makers may be involved in adjudicating a final position (Jantz, 2015). Rogers (2003) revealed three different organizational adoption types, namely: optional, collective, and authoritative. Optional decision processes allow social system members to make their own, individual adoption decisions while collective innovation adoption decisions are made via consensus (Rogers, 2003). Finally, authoritative innovation decisions are made by a select few, generally in isolation, and subsequently communicated down the organizational hierarchy to be executed (Rogers, 2003). Social system diffusion activities and their resource demands are influenced by a variety of factors such as hierarchy, norms, the urgency of need, guidance from opinion leaders, and the net effect of change agent influence efforts (Wisdom et al., 2014). Other factors inform innovation diffusion activities to include organizational innovativeness, available resources, and individual innovation knowledge gathering activities (Greenhalgh et al., 2004). As a result, asserting the type of innovation adoption decision early helps inform organizational derived requirements as well as streamline processes and activities.

Understanding the internal architecture of an organization is an essential aspect of diffusion. Rogers (2003), supported by Awa, Ojiabo, and Emecheta (2015) and Warui, Mukulu, and Karanja (2015), defined an organization's internal structure to be comprised of six characteristics, namely centralization, complexity, formalization, interconnectedness, organizational slack, and size. Centralization represents how much command and control of an organization are exerted by a select few (Rogers, 2003). Centralized organizations tend to be less innovative due to conflicting priorities and leadership's ability to manage the tension between operational pressures and strategic planning (Papachroni, Heracleous, & Paroutis, 2016). Insufficient knowledge may exist to facilitate thoughtful decisions resulting in increased uncertainty, risk, and negative consequences (Liu, Lv, Ying, Arndt, & Wei, 2018). Complexity represents how skilled an organization's staff is and their ability to understand, implement, and derive value from innovation while managing risk (Rogers, 2003). Formalization represents how strictly an organization enforces governance adherence (Rogers, 2003). Interconnectedness represents how tightly coupled members in a social system are and how freely they communicate (Rogers, 2003). Organizational slack represents how many available resources (e.g., money, people, equipment, space, and power) exist and can be leveraged by innovation activities (Rogers, 2003). Finally, the size represents the scale of an organization, its ability to resource, execute, and absorb change (Rogers, 2003). Therefore, having a clear understanding of internal organizational constraints and resource availability can help optimize innovation adoption and diffusion decision processes and activities.

Consequences of innovation. Innovation, of any kind, always involves risk.

Rogers (2003) proposed that an innovation consequence represents some social system change introduced as a result of considering an innovation. Rogers identified three consequence themes relative to innovation adoption exploration. The first, desirable versus undesirable consequences, which is based on how functionally aligned an innovation is to the perceived need. Secondly, direct versus indirect consequences, which are based on the direct or second-order ripple effects accompanying social system innovation changes. Lastly, anticipated versus unanticipated consequences, which is based on the accuracy of early-stage assumptions versus the actual results. Gledson (2016) supported Rogers by practically demonstrating the outcomes and impact, both positive and negative, of each of the three consequences in a real-world setting. As a result, undertaking a thoughtful approach toward innovation activities can help mitigate risk and potentially attenuate negative consequence impact.

Understanding what motivations may drive thought leadership influence behavior is essential. While opinion leaders, who represent social system norms, tend to be conservative with their recommendations, change agents need not be (Kee, 2017). Rogers (2003) warned that change agents tend to espouse only the desirable, direct, and anticipated consequences of innovation to influence favorable decisions. Actual results vary significantly in change agent-led initiatives; thus, more up-front rigor is required to address knowledge gaps or uncertainty (Rogers, 2003). Unforeseen negative consequences are likely to occur; ongoing knowledge acquisition can help mitigate risk (Rogers, 2003). Thought and change leaders should exercise a considerable amount of

forethought before engaging in innovation activities to aggressively address any potential negative consequences (Kim, 2015). For that reason, having a clear understanding of potential thought leadership bias and a thoughtful plan of approach can help mitigate risk.

Characteristics of time. The end-to-end innovation adoption and diffusion process, for even a single innovation, can take a considerable amount of time. Accordingly, Rogers (2003) emphasized that time is a valuable diffusion process differentiator, in fact, a strength, but it can introduce certain biases that are discussed in more detail below. Compagni, Mele, and Ravasi (2015) demonstrated the value of time in the diffusion process via their longitudinal study of robotic surgery adoption over a twenty-one-year span in Italy. In diffusion, time affects a variety of processes to include the innovation-decision life cycle process itself, the innovativeness of the adopter relative to peers, and the rate an innovation takes to diffuse across a social system (Rogers, 2003). Dearing and Cox (2018) supported the importance of Rogers' assertions on the impact of time, by labeling time, more specifically, time to adoption, to be the dependent variable in diffusion research. They also found that innovativeness reflects an adopter's change threshold and their readiness to absorb change. Hence, having a clear understanding of the innovation process time and change management requirements can help optimize innovation adoption and diffusion decision processes and activities.

Following a well-crafted, end-to-end innovation adoption methodology is essential. As depicted in Rogers (2003) and demonstrated in Walitzer, Dermen, Barrick, and Shyhalla (2015), the innovation-decision process encapsulates the end-to-end innovation lifecycle steps potential adopter's take from initial identification through to

final disposition. To cover such a complex set of activities and deliberations, the innovation-decision process has five discrete steps, namely: knowledge, persuasion, decision, implementation, and confirmation (Rogers, 2003). Burgess and Paguio (2016) used the decision process lifecycle as an analysis lens by which they analyzed their ICT adoption data. Shin, Yuan, and Zhou (2016) reported that sensemaking occurs throughout the entire innovation-decision process lifecycle by design. Thus, information is continually sought to address uncertainty and evolve internal mental frameworks (Kjærgaard & Vendelø, 2015). The innovation-decision period represents the time required for an innovation instance to pass through the entire lifecycle (Rogers, 2003). Change agents, driven by their agendas, seek to influence decreasing lifecycle processing time, but these external pressures could result in poor leadership, insufficient critical thinking, increased uncertainty, and negative consequences (Alavi & Gill, 2016). Accordingly, developing and managing a comprehensive project plan can help optimize innovation adoption and diffusion decision processes and activities.

Knowledge phase. The initial phase of the innovation adoption lifecycle. The knowledge phase represents the initial awareness or exposure to innovation (Khan, 2017). Additionally, this stage helps define what precisely the base construct of innovation is and how it works (Değerli, Aytekin, & Değerli, 2015). As information is garnered, initial opinions are formed relative to an innovation's ability to address a perceived problem or need (Rogers, 2003). Rogers (2003) represented that mass media significantly dominates this phase due to its ability to disseminate high-level innovation information to seed broad awareness. Değerli et al. (2015) finitely supported this finding in their study of

social networking in the context of DOI. Developing and evolving a practical mental model and fundamental understanding of the innovation is necessary to help address uncertainty as well as begin building on an initial attitude.

Instantiation of the knowledge kicks off a formal process. Rogers (2003) suggested that awareness of a problem or needs is a precursor to initiating the knowledge phase. Though not every innovation requires a precursor, innovation awareness can be initiated via accident, peer network, change agent, opinion leader, or mass communication (Rogers, 2003). Haider and Kreps (2004) supported Roger's importance of awareness by finding that once initial, relevant awareness by a stakeholder exists, information-gathering activities are triggered. Rogers suggested that the information gathered in this phase can help temper expectations, but that not all innovations leave this phase due to insufficient perceived value. Thus, developing a better understanding of the innovation is critical during this phase to help mitigate risk and optimize innovation adoption and diffusion decision process activities.

Persuasion phase. Initial insights into an innovation need to mature. Haider and Kreps (2004) revealed that the persuasion phase represents the evolutionary evaluation efforts to gain insight into an innovation heading toward a decision. Rogers (2003) specified that this is a busy time for change agents trying to influence deliberations. Unlike the knowledge phase, this phase is based more on emotion than critical thinking as adopters actively seek information (El Shaban & Egbert, 2018). Rogers represented that specific communication channels and mediums, especially interpersonal ones, have more impact when evaluating information received. Similar to the knowledge phase,

Değerli et al. (2015) finitely supported this finding as well in their study of social networking in the context of DOI. During the persuasion phase, the role of near peers and nonvendor third parties become increasingly important, e.g., assessing information accuracy, semantics and use of words, and attenuating bias (Rogers, 2003). The initial formation of relative advantage, compatibility, complexity, and potential consequence diagnostic evaluations begin to take form in this phase (Rogers, 2003). Similar to the knowledge phase, developing a better understanding of the innovation is critical during this phase to help mitigate risk and optimize innovation adoption and diffusion decision process activities.

Decision phase. Innovation adoption decisions require careful consideration. The decision phase represents the activities leading toward an initial adoption or rejection decision (Haider & Kreps, 2004). Rogers (2003) stated, supported by Khan (2017), that during this phase, a proof or trial may be requested, as part of this deliberation process, to help address uncertainty. Rogers proposed that proofed innovations tend to be adopted quicker as are innovations trialed by trusted peers. Rogers also warned that change agents try to influence this stage by stressing social system or industry-wide proof points, which may or may not support an adopter's deliberation needs. Accordingly, Rogers cautioned that nonproofed innovations might be rejected during this phase unless a relevant, direct connection to an identified problem or need can be established. Rogers specified that an outright rejection, or even a discontinuance of an adopted innovation, can occur if the perceived value is too low or one of the attributes of the innovation does not align well enough. Dearing and Cox (2018) supported this concept by stating that very few

innovations diffuse that results in most innovation adoption lifecycle decisions ending in rejection. Just because innovation is seemingly new, does not necessarily mean potential adopters view new as being better (Dearing & Cox, 2018). A clear and thoughtful understanding of the innovation, which includes the impact of the final adoption decision, is critical to help mitigate risk.

Implementation phase. Innovation theory meets practice. The implementation phase represents the realization and the initial deployment of an innovation (Haider & Kreps, 2004). Also, as noted above, reinvention is typical during this phase to tailor and better align innovation to an adopter's context (Dearing & Cox, 2018). Rogers (2003) suggested, supported by Khan (2017), that this phase includes the physical activities required to deploy and operationalize an innovation. Both complexity and any potential reinvention efforts need to be addressed as part of the deployment effort (Rogers, 2003). More people, from a variety of different sources, are now engaged in project management and operational activities vastly increasing complexity and risk (Rogers, 2003). Few, if any, of the implementors, were involved in the innovation adoption decision process; thus, change and resistance management issues could arise as awareness of an innovation's characteristics increase, and ongoing operational activities efforts are conducted (Rogers, 2003). Once an innovation becomes institutionalized, the final phase of this process, the confirmation phase, begins (Rogers, 2003). Hence, planning for the operational ramp-up and developing a clear implementation plan can help mitigate risk and attenuate negative consequences.

Reinvention. Reinvention plays a critical role during the innovation-decision process. Reinvention is the degree to which an innovation is changed or modified during the innovation-decision process (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). Reinvention is a common practice during the implementation phase, though it can occur during any phase, primarily to tailor and align innovation to an adopter's business or technological context (Rogers, 2003). Greenhalgh et al. (2004) found that the adoption of an innovation, in its original state, could occur, but the possibility of reinventing an innovation assists in addressing knowledge gaps, incompatibility, complexity, or uncertainty issues. Thus, potential reinvention reasons include: too complicated, lack of detailed knowledge, innovation scope, too generic, international localization requirements, local pride/not invented here, and cosmetic changes in nature (Rogers, 2003). Accordingly, the net innovation output of this localized reinvention process has an increased likelihood of adoption (Dearing & Cox, 2018). Having a clear and thoughtful understanding of innovation is critical to help determine possible reinvention requirements.

Confirmation phase. Implementation has occurred; operationalization is underway. The confirmation phase represents the validation activities required to quantify whether an innovation, in their environment, is achieving results or value relative to a defined problem or need (Haider & Kreps, 2004). As previously stated, sensemaking activities continue (Shin et al., 2016). Information gathering activities expand to include the leveraging of peer networks to assess whether to continue the operational activities of an innovation (Rogers, 2003). Rogers (2003) warned, supported by Khan (2017), that general unease about an innovation's implementation, at this point

in the lifecycle, if unaddressed, could lead to the discontinuance of an innovation. Similar to the persuasion phase, developing a better understanding of the innovation is critical during this phase to help mitigate risk, process possible reinvention options, and optimize innovation adoption and diffusion decision process activities.

Implementations can go awry. Rogers (2003) warned that, in this phase, one possible negative impact is that change agents or other relevant third parties may or may not be present to assist in addressing potential consequences and disagreement issues. As a result, three forms of discontinuance exist, which are replacement, underutilization, and dissatisfaction (Parthasarathy & Forlani, 2016). The first form is the replacement of one innovation with another (Parthasarathy & Forlani, 2016; Rogers, 2003), which tends to cause laggards to discontinue, more than early adopters, due to disenchantment (Cho, 2015). The second form is underutilization or stopping the use of innovation due to requirement changes or loss of relevance (Parthasarathy & Forlani, 2016). The third and final form, dissatisfaction, is the outright rejection of innovation based on specific performance (Parthasarathy & Forlani, 2016; Rogers, 2003). For that reason, planning and working with third parties to remain engaged during this phase can help mitigate risk.

The rate of adoption. How quickly, or not, innovation is being adopted is relevant. The rate of adoption refers to the comparison of innovation adoption speeds by members within the same social system and is represented by the S-curve plot previously discussed (Rogers, 2003). The rate of adoption is an aggregate representation (e.g., dependent variable) of five different dimensions (e.g., independent variables) namely the perceived attributes of an innovation, type of innovation-decision, communications

channels, nature of the social system, and lastly, the extent of a change agent's efforts (Rogers, 2003). Specific attribute characteristics, for each dimension, are discussed above. Rogers warned, supported by Chandler and Hwang (2015), that internal social system pressure could unduly influence deciders toward a decision even if they remain uncertain. This latent pressure not only significantly affects the adoption rate but grows more significant as more decision-makers arrive at their conclusions (Chandler & Hwang, 2015; Rogers, 2003). Other aspects, such as the nature of the innovation (e.g., a new regulatory or policy), as mentioned in Dearing and Cox (2018), have been found to influence the adoption rate as well. Similarly, Haider and Kreps (2004) suggested leveraging the identified dimensional factors as a means of capturing and modeling innovation performance data. As a result, developing and maintaining innovation adoption metrics can help address uncertainty and inform ongoing information-gathering efforts.

Innovations and adopter categories. A more detailed, innovativeness discussion is relevant. Innovators actively seek out new ideas, are amenable to high levels of uncertainty, can afford to take risks and suffer losses, and are somewhat social systems isolated from their peers (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). Early adopters share a similar profile as innovators but can take advantage of insights gained and shared by the innovator community (Rogers, 2003). Accordingly, early adopters are highly respected in their social systems and are regarded as judicious (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). However, early majority adopters move more deliberately in their innovation adoption activities (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). Early majority participants wait to see how earlier adopters fare

before moving forward themselves and are considered to represent the average members of a social system (Rogers, 2003). Late majority adopters are driven more by pressure or inflection points than by market leadership (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). Late majority adopters wait until most of the members of a social system have adopted an innovation before taking action themselves (Rogers, 2003). Lastly, laggards represent the last member of a social system to adopt an innovation (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). Laggards are often multiple versions of technology and innovations behind their social network peers and often devoid of influential opinion leaders (Rogers, 2003). Organizational culture and resource constraints are two critical factors that impair a laggard's ability to entertain, or even take action, concerning any innovations (Rogers, 2003). Therefore, developing and maintaining a pragmatic view of relative innovativeness is essential for understanding the competitive innovation landscape.

Limitations of DOI. DOI is not without issues and detractors. Rogers (2003) identified four limitations to DOI, namely proinnovation bias, source bias, recall bias issue, and issues of equality. Proinnovation bias, discussed in more detail below, implies that most innovations should be adopted, diffused, and rapidly put to use despite the existence of uncertainty (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). Source bias influences adopter's knowledge acquisition and adoption deliberations as a function of who promotes the specific innovation in question, e.g., an opinion leader, change agent, or some other person or communications medium (Rogers, 2003). The recall problem speaks to DOI's reliance on the ability of participants to recall and recreate past experiences over varying, sometimes long, periods (Rogers, 2003). Lastly, the issue of equality speaks to the socio-

economic issues that prevent lower segments of a social system from pursuing innovations; hence higher segments, who can innovate, are studied more frequently potentially introducing size bias and possibly skewing published literature in an unintended manner (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). Dearing and Cox (2018), suggested that resource availability impact societal innovation diffusion equality as resource-rich communities can adopt innovations earlier. Thus, Dearing and Cox recommended that purposeful or designed diffusion strategies be used to mitigate this effect. Developing and maintaining a pragmatic view of DOI and proactively developing limitation mitigation strategies can help address uncertainty and risk.

Proinnovation bias needs to be directly addressed. As discussed in Rogers (2003), proinnovation bias, considered to be the most impactful DOI limitation, is a subtle form of influencing a stakeholder to be predisposed to having a favorable view of innovation despite the lack of specific knowledge or the existence of uncertainty. This lack of critical thinking has a direct impact on negative consequences as innovations are moved through the innovation adoption decision process too quickly (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). Two potential causes of proinnovation bias include who is funding an innovation effort and how skewed traceability data is relative to innovation implementation successes (Rogers, 2003). The potential source of funding, e.g., a change agent or external party, can significantly influence stakeholders, especially if they are highly incentivized to make decisions quickly and circumvent proper knowledge acquisition and deliberations (Rogers, 2003). Also, if the documentation trail of an innovation depicts more successes than failures, yet the traceability of the documentation is suspect, then adopters may be

unduly influenced toward a decision based on inaccurate data (Rogers, 2003). Further, this documentation could be contaminated if the capturing and quantifying of reinvention activities is not adequately accounted for (Rogers, 2003). Developing and maintaining a pragmatic view of an innovation's horizontal, success and failure landscape can help address uncertainty and risk.

Similarly, DOI recall bias also needs to be directly addressed. As previously mentioned, and as addressed explicitly in Rogers (2003), time is a critical component of DOI. The existence of the recall problem within DOI introduces possible data inaccuracies that need to be addressed via a comprehensive cross-sectional data gathering effort (Rogers, 2003). The reconstruction of past events is difficult, especially if long periods have elapsed (Haider & Kreps, 2004). Because DOI is sequentially tracing innovations, across a life cycle, as a function of time, data gathering techniques, e.g., triangulating interviews via multiple respondents, use of panel discussions, use of archival data, etc., need to validity check each other to ensure raw data accuracy and adequately drive data analysis activities (Rogers, 2003). Also, the effective use of big data analysis techniques may help researchers examine and trace through large sets of disparate data to address the DOI recall problem (Kee, 2017). As a result, leveraging multiple different data sources is required to mitigate specific recall latency issues, cross-check data, and support data analysis and triangulation efforts.

Technology, Environment, and Organization

DiPietro et al. (1990) published TOE in 1990 to help enterprise end-users frame a technology adoption problem such that a proper gap-fit analysis effort could be

undertaken, and an appropriate approach selected. Like Rogers' *Diffusion of Innovation*, Tornatzky, and Fleischer's *The Process of Technological Innovation* illustrated the entire innovation lifecycle from initial concept inception through to its demise. The three dimensions of TOE established in DiPietro et al. include the technological context, organizational context, and environmental context. TOE was designed to help organizations and their perspective adopter's collect, organize, and analyze innovation data, from multiple perspectives, to drive innovation and implementation decisions (DiPietro et al., 1990). For that reason, TOE is a viable innovation adoption conceptual model.

TOE is a viable organizational-level conceptual model. Gupta and Saini (2017) found that the TOE analytical framework could support an array of IT innovation adoption investigations. Hoti (2015) characterized TOE's support for both subject matter experts (SME) as well as enterprise organizational innovation adoption decision processes. Furthermore, as summarized in Baker (2011) and confirmed in Gutierrez, Boukrami, and Lumsden (2015), TOE has been widely used to facilitate organization-level successful, IT system innovation adoption decisions across a wide array of systems, industries, countries, technical and developmental contexts. Additionally, Baker found that, via empirical studies, the main elements of the TOE are relevant, and more importantly, that there is variability into which factors of each element are leveraged in each case, based on the organization and the type of innovation involved. Thus, as confirmed in Baker, the leveraging of the TOE as a conceptual innovation adoption

framework is supported. Accordingly, TOE is a viable framework to support firm-level, IS innovation adoption and diffusion evaluation processes.

to technical context. Maintaining a technology roadmap is essential. DiPietro et al. (1990) represented that the technological context is comprised of the relevant internal and external technologies of a firm. Oliveira et al. (2014) expanded on this to include technologies available in the marketplace. Additionally, DiPietro et al. revealed that the technology context is purposely separated apart to highlight its influence on organizational level innovation adoption and diffusion process. The technical context of a firm significantly informs a firm's ability to explore and adopt innovations (Kurnia, Karnali, & Rahim, 2015). Diligently maintaining a technology roadmap can help mitigate risk and optimize innovation adoption and diffusion decision process activities.

Available technologies. Keeping abreast of emerging technologies is essential. Some firms may need, as a function of their industry or market conditions, to aggressively pursue innovations while others may not (Baker, Grinstein, & Harmancioglu, 2015; DiPietro et al., 1990). Thus, the volume of relevant innovations available to consider can help influence innovation initiation efforts (Baker, 2011). DiPietro et al. (1990) found, supported by Wu and Chiu (2015), that two conditions inform a firm's innovation adoption frequency, namely its industry and its organizational makeup. A broad assumption is that firms in the same industry have access to the same innovation pool, thus negating this condition as a primary differentiator (DiPietro et al., 1990; Fortin & Oliver, 2016). The second and most influential condition is a firm's organizational makeup and its ability to efficiently leverage or exploit its firm-specific

environmental market factors (Bello, Radulovich, Javalgi, Scherer, & Taylor, 2016). Of significance to all firms is the volume of information processing present in its technical environment before innovation can be adopted (Baker et al., 2015; DiPietro et al., 1990). Diligently maintaining specific market factor information can help accelerate innovation initiation.

Innovation adoption is disruptive. Three external, marketplace available innovation types or categories, to include their respective levels of organizational change management impact, are incremental changes, synthetic changes, and discontinuous changes (Harfoushi, Akhorshaideh, Aqqad, Janini, & Obiedat, 2016). Incremental changes are at lower risk and additive in nature (Harfoushi et al., 2016). Moderately risky, synthetic change consists of the recombination of existing technologies in new ways (Harfoushi et al., 2016). Discontinuous changes are high risk, significant departures from existing capabilities (Baker, 2011). Baker warned that firms adopting discontinuous innovations must be decisive and address risk quickly. Thus, movement from one category to the next increases uncertainty as well as the volume of organizational communications and information processing activities required to implement an adopted innovation (DiPietro et al., 1990). Hence, diligently maintaining IT risk-absorption rate factor information can help accelerate innovation initiation.

Current equipment and methods. Innovation adoption challenges existing IT infrastructure and operations. DiPietro et al. (1990) suggested, supported by Lau and Lo (2015), that an organization's internal technological context has a significant impact, and possibly constrains, a firm's ability to innovate and absorb change. Adoption ease, as

represented in DiPietro et al. (1990) and supported in Lin, Su, and Higgins (2016), is a function of environmental complexity that, in essence, affords less complicated competitors a chance to accelerate innovation adoption rates and potentially realize firm-specific, market factor impact faster. Large firms may have the slack resources to invest in innovation exploration and adoption activities generously, but this does not guarantee market impact (DiPietro et al., 1990; Georgallis & Durand, 2017). Therefore, efforts to incrementally reduce IT complexity, over time, can help mitigate risk and optimize innovation adoption and diffusion decision process activities.

TOE organizational context. Organizational architectures play a role in innovation. As established in DiPietro et al. (1990), the organizational context embodies the organizational structure of a firm and is comprised of the following descriptors: firm size, centralization, formalization, complexity of management structures, and slack resources available. Internal and external social system communication processes, and their associated formalities (e.g., informal or formal), are also considered part of this context (Jia, Guo, & Barnes, 2017). Furthermore, DiPietro et al. (1990) asserted, supported by Menz, Kunisch, and Collis (2015), the assumption that any person, entity, or process, managed by the firm, represents an internal organization. Thus, TOE, by design, assumes that large, sophisticated corporations, possibly nested within multiple divisions or lines of business, are all considered to be internal organizations (DiPietro et al., 1990). Understanding the specific organizational architecture of a firm can help mitigate risk and optimize innovation adoption and diffusion decision process activities.

Communication must occur to achieve results. A firm is comprised of a set of formal and informal structures and processes, which can leverage resources, to achieve its goals (Campbell & Dopico, 2016; DiPietro et al., 1990). Formal processes, as well as informal social norms, influence a firm's relative innovativeness (Kurnia et al., 2015). DiPietro et al. (1990) asserted that firms are not just stood up, but instead, they evolve as the impact of decisions and outcomes accrue over time. As a result, effective internal communications can help mitigate risk and optimize innovation adoption and diffusion decision process activities.

Firm size. Firm size has an impact on innovation activities. Larger firms are more likely to be active innovation adopters because firm size, as a typical finding, has been found to statistically significant (Baker, 2011; DiPietro et al., 1990). Size, as an aggregate index, is not a good indicator of a firm's relative innovativeness due to how the relative value of size is derived (e.g., gross revenue, number of employees, profit levels)

(DiPietro et al., 1990). Both Baker (2011) and Jeng and Pak (2014) confirmed that size does not necessarily correlate to relative innovativeness. The characteristic of size also has technical and environmental factors that also inform its value (DiPietro et al., 1990). DiPietro et al. (1990) found, demonstrated in Titus, Parker, and Bass (2018) that despite the variances in its derivation size is a meaningful descriptor (irrespective of its measure) to differentiate classes of firms, relative to each other. Understanding and normalizing size factors within an industry may help provide some industry-specific innovation adoption insight.

Centralization, management structure complexity, and formalization. The internal dynamics of a firm are essential. The centralization descriptor addresses the complexities of centralized versus decentralized decision-making bodies, while the management structure complexity characteristic addresses the intricacies of a firm's management structure (DiPietro et al., 1990). DiPietro et al. (1990) represented, supported by Queen and Fasipe (2015), that the management structure complexity characteristic also embodies a firm's command and control structures (e.g., hierarchies and authority), social system influences, occupational specialties/expertise, and employee professionalism. The formalization characteristic addresses the degree to which firms adhere to established rules and procedures (DiPietro et al., 1990; Rhee, Seog, Bozorov, & Dedahanov, 2017). The aggregation of these characteristics collectively informs the innovation decision-making processes (DiPietro et al., 1990; Yudho, Utari, Nur Fitriah, Achmad, & Chahyati, 2016). For example, complexity aids adoption decisions but not implementation while formalization and centralization aid implementation efforts but not adoption decisions (DiPietro et al., 1990). Modeling and maintaining a clear understanding of organizational characteristics can help mitigate risk and optimize innovation adoption and diffusion decision process activities.

Social system communications. Communications are an essential component of innovation adoption. This characteristic, as depicted by DiPietro et al. (1990), embodies internal and external linkages and communications. External communication linkages exist to collaborate with third parties, collect information, and then make this information available to internal resources (DiPietro et al., 1990). Internally, DiPietro et al. (1990)

advised, supported by Kim (2015), that a variety of techniques and communication methods can be employed to laterally share information within a social system such as direct contact, use of liaison and integration roles, as well as the creation of task force teams. These methods help facilitate innovation adoption decisions and any subsequent diffusion activities, which helps firms absorb higher rates of information exchanges and adaptations (DiPietro et al., 1990). Top leadership, opinion leaders, and peer networks play central roles in facilitating lateral information exchange, innovation adoption decision, and diffusion activities (Baker, 2011). For that reason, establishing and maintaining open internal and external communications channels can help mitigate risk and optimize innovation adoption and diffusion decision process activities.

Slack. Resource availability affects innovation adoption. DiPietro et al. (1990) suggested, supported by Kiss, Fernhaber, and McDougall-Covin (2018), that slack resource availability does not necessarily drive innovation. Furthermore, DiPietro et al. proposed that other factors, such as lack of knowledge or low innovativeness levels, can influence innovation adoption resource allocations. The amount of required slack, by resource type (e.g., capital, skills, people), is a function of innovation complexity and availability (DiPietro et al., 1990). Thus, the ability of a firm to manage and dynamically reallocate high priority slack resources can help facilitate innovation adoption and diffusion decisions (DiPietro et al., 1990; Jissink, Schweitzer, & Rohrbeck, 2018; Monteiro, Mol, & Birkinshaw, 2017). Effective resource management can help mitigate risk and optimize innovation adoption and diffusion decision process activities.

TOE environmental context. Industry and market context impact innovation adoption. DiPietro et al. (1990) established that the environmental context embodies the business operations space of a firm and is comprised of industry characteristics, market structure, resource access, and government regulations. Social system communications, within this context, opportunistically influence, or constraint, knowledge sharing, transactions, and innovation (DiPietro et al., 1990). So, maintaining a clear understanding of a firm and its ecosystem can help identify market opportunities.

Competition and service-provider capability impact innovation adoption. External pressure can significantly inform a firm's desire to innovate (Chen, Wang, Nevo, Benitez-Amado, & Kou, 2015). Representative industry-related impact drivers include variations in customer demand, government regulations, change agent influence, and the availability of new technologies supported by an appropriately skilled labor force (DiPietro et al., 1990). Industry competitive characteristics and technology support infrastructure are two significant factors that inform a firm's innovation activities (DiPietro et al., 1990; Gutierrez et al., 2015). Diligently monitoring the competitive and technology supplier landscapes can help mitigate risk and identify market opportunities.

Industry characteristics and market structure. Market pressures impact innovation. Industry competitive characteristics embody the intensity of competition, customer relationship management, and market uncertainty (DiPietro et al., 1990; Kung & Kung, 2015). Competition intensity is the ratio of industry output to that of the four largest firms in that industry (DiPietro et al., 1990). DiPietro et al. (1990) proposed that the higher the ratio, the denser a market is, resulting in slower rates of innovation

adoption while the lower the competitive intensity ratio is, the more aggressive an industry is in pursuing innovation activities. Dominant firms can dictate market conditions (e.g., price, quality, and service) as well as an industry's competitive landscape; thus, forcing other market participants to respond accordingly (DiPietro et al., 1990; Zamuee, 2016). In some industries, dominant customers can significantly inform an industry's innovation rate by dictating supply chain engagement terms, conditions, technologies (DiPietro et al., 1990; Raja, Chakkol, Johnson, & Beltagui, 2018). DiPietro et al. suggested, supported by Jissink et al. (2018), that industries faced with cyclic demand models can find innovation adoption to be challenging especially in regards to slack resource management. Reserving enough resources to ride out downturns in the cycle can significantly impact innovation activities (DiPietro et al., 1990; Jissink et al., 2018). Thus, many firms invest in innovations during stable periods to better leverage existing resources, while finances and market conditions are more predictable (DiPietro et al., 1990). Hence, diligently maintaining market and industry-related data can help mitigate risk and identify market opportunities.

Technology support infrastructure. Innovation activities challenge organic firm resources. DiPietro et al. (1990) established, demonstrated in Yoo and Kim (2018), that technology support infrastructure embodies the quality and availability of technical information and capabilities as well as external resources. Furthermore, DiPietro et al. proposed that the innovativeness of a firm, to include its ability to develop and execute its technology acquisition strategy, is much informed by these characteristics as well as cost. The more complex a technology context is, the higher the labor rates, training, and cost

(Amini & Bakri, 2015; DiPietro et al., 1990). Consequently, it could be more costeffective and efficient to leverage third-party suppliers to assist in innovation adoption activities based on the complexity, aggregate risk, or degree of social system change (DiPietro et al., 1990). Maintaining an understanding of technology supplier capabilities can help mitigate risk and optimize innovation adoption and diffusion decision process activities.

Government regulation. Law and regulation changes impact innovation. Classes of regulatory activities that significantly impact innovation adoption are economic, social, and institutional regulations (Blind, Petersen, & Riillo, 2017; DiPietro et al., 1990). Government regulatory activity, such as new constraints or levying new technology requirements, can significantly impact an entire industry and its innovation activities (Amini & Bakri, 2015; Baker, 2011). Economic regulations include antitrust, merger and acquisitions, price, monopolies, and compliance reporting (DiPietro et al., 1990). Social regulations include environmental protection, workers' health and safety, product, and consumer safety, and personal privacy (DiPietro et al., 1990). Institutional regulations include liability law, employment protection, immigration law, bankruptcy laws, and intellectual property rights (DiPietro et al., 1990). Maintaining an accurate understanding of relevant regulatory activity can help mitigate risk and optimize resource expenditures.

Limitations of the TOE. TOE is not without its issues. TOE, though exceedingly useful in supporting IT-related innovation adoption, has remained stagnant for quite some time with little additional synthesis (Baker, 2011). According to Baker (2011), the majority of TOE related theoretical work has focused on enumerating the different factors

and their relevance in different adoption contexts. TOE is viewed as a general theory requiring little adjustment due to its highly adaptable nature and the freedom to vary its factors and measures to support contexts (Baker, 2011). Integrating TOE with models that have explicit constructs strengthens TOE (Gangwar, Date, & Ramaswamy, 2015). Thus, TOE is viewed as being complementary to as opposed to competing with other innovation adoption theory (Baker, 2011). Accordingly, any perceived tension has already been addressed (Baker, 2011). Finally, Baker asserted that other innovation adoption theories exist that may be a better fit than TOE such as DOI, task-technology-fit theory, institutional theory, the theory of organizational design, and social contagion theory; thus, TOE may be best used supporting empirical research (Baker, 2011). Ibrahim and Jaafar (2016) confirmed this and added that combining TOE with other models helps develop more in-depth insights into underlying technological and innovation adoption behavior.

Integrated DOI-TOE Conceptual Model

DOI and TOE have similarities. These two frameworks, DOI and TOE, as characterized by Oliveira et al. (2014), do overlap in some regards, but each model also embodies a unique set of complementary factors. Furthermore, as proposed in Oliveira et al. (2014) and confirmed in Hoti (2015), DOI focuses on technology adoption and diffusion from an innovation perspective, complemented by TOE that introduces in an environmental aspect. Consequently, Oliveira et al. developed and leveraged a specific, integrated DOI-TOE enterprise cloud-adoption research model that demonstrated how the

two frameworks complement each other. Accordingly, though DOI and TOE overlap, the blending of the two offers potential informative value.

Explaining firm-level innovation adoption and diffusion decisions is difficult. Hoti (2015) revealed, and Phaphoom, Wang, Samuel, Helmer, and Abrahamsson (2015) confirmed that the majority of empirical technological innovation adoption studies refer to DOI or TOE. According to Hoti, DOI is perceived to identify characteristics that influence adopter's attitudes. Tarhini et al. (2015) asserted that DOI is the base behavioral acceptance model that other technology acceptance models should rely on. Hoti stressed, and Wang and Wang (2016) confirmed that DOI should be blended with other contexts or factors for a more holistic adoption approach. TOE has proven its ability to support a variety of different enterprise innovation adoption contexts (Chiu, Chen, & Chen, 2017). Ray (2016) characterized TOE as an extension of DOI. Lastly, Zhang, Zhao, Zhang, Meng, and Tan (2017) represented TOE as being highly generalized and added that extensions are required when instantiated to specific issues. Thus, the blending TOE with DOI makes explaining firm-level innovation adoption and diffusion decisions more complete (Hsu et al., 2014). Piaralal, Nair, Yahya, and Karim (2015) confirmed the utility of leveraging an integrated DOI-TOE framework when considering innovations. Leveraging an integrated DOI-TOE conceptual model can help explain firmlevel innovation adoption and diffusion decision process activities.

Explaining firm-level cloud innovation adoption and diffusion decision process activities is difficult. El-Gazzar (2014) reported that researching enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion presents a multifaceted problem space requiring composite

theoretical models to be employed to explore properly. Additionally, El-Gazzar offered that there is plenty of technical literature analyzing cloud adoption, but a notable lack of literature that compares how enterprises react to the same internal and external factors. DOI and TOE are two primary theoretical perspectives used to explore enterprise cloud adoption (El-Gazzar, 2014). The research dominance of DOI and TOE is confirmed and expanded on in Oredo, and Njihia (2015) that acknowledged that dominant theoretical approaches, such as DOI and TOE, do work but warned that focusing on innovation-specific adoption factors do not adequately capture and model complex organizational innovation behaviors regarding when and how to innovate. Thus, leveraging an integrated DOI-TOE theoretical model can help explain firm-level cloud innovation adoption and diffusion decision process activities.

The leveraging of integrated theoretical models continue to develop amongst researchers. As reported by El-Gazzar (2014), an extensive array of sources exist that leverage composite model pairs, such as DOI and TOE, when documenting this field of study. Beyond Oliveira et al. (2014), Alkhalil et al. (2017) also developed and leveraged an integrated DOI-TOE conceptual model to study cloud adoption decisions. Other recent examples of integrated DOI-TOE based, cloud innovation and adoption studies include Gupta and Bhatia (2017), Wang and Wang (2016), Chiu et al. (2017), Martins, Oliveira, and Thomas (2016), Rohani and Hussin (2015), Hsu et al. (2014), and Safari, Safari, and Hasanzadeh (2015). The body of evidence supporting the successful use of integrated DOI-TOE models to drive cloud innovation adoption and diffusion decisions is expanding.

The factor selection of an integrated DOI-TOE enterprise cloud adoption conceptual model is essential. Cloud adoption conceptual model designs are driven by the desire to capture and express specific innovation adoption, attitude, and impact characteristics (Sabi et al., 2016). Explanatory power helps identify specific adoption decision conceptual model factor selections (Phaphoom et al., 2015). Even though enterprise cloud adoption literature is more technical than process-focused, a consistent set of primary factors (e.g., complexity, perceived benefits, cost-benefit) can be synthesized from literature (El-Gazzar, 2014). The span of potential impact or type of innovation (e.g., local to the IT organization, internal cross-organizational, or external cross-organizational) also informs cloud adoption decision-factor selection (Wu & Chiu, 2015). Therefore, factor selection and integrated DOI-TOE conceptual model design are context-based.

DOI and TOE, either alone or integrated, are viable enterprise innovation adoption and diffusion conceptual frameworks that can be used to explain firm-level decision processes. The majority of empirical technological innovation adoption studies refer to DOI or TOE (Hoti, 2015). The research dominance of DOI and TOE is confirmed in Oredo and Njihia (2015). According to Hoti (2015), DOI is perceived to identify characteristics that influence adopter's attitudes. Tarhini et al. (2015) asserted that DOI is the base behavioral acceptance model that other technology acceptance models should rely on.

Similarly, TOE has proven its ability to support a variety of different enterprise innovation adoption contexts (Chiu et al., 2017). TOE is highly generalized, and

extensions may be required when instantiated to specific, complex issues (Zhang et al., 2017). Ray (2016) characterized TOE as an extension of DOI; but, there are times DOI should be blended with other contexts or factors to form a more holistic adoption approach (Hoti, 2015). Consequently, DOI and TOE, as characterized by Oliveira et al. (2014), do overlap in some regards but each model also embodies a unique set of complementary factors. As proposed by Oliveira et al., DOI focuses on technology adoption and diffusion from an innovation perspective, complemented by TOE that introduces an environmental aspect. Thus, the blending TOE with DOI makes explaining firm-level innovation adoption and diffusion decisions more complete (Hsu et al., 2014). Piaralal et al. (2015) confirmed the utility of leveraging an integrated DOI-TOE framework when considering innovations. Thus, leveraging either DOI, TOE, or an integrated DOI-TOE conceptual framework can help explain firm-level innovation adoption and diffusion decision process activities.

Analysis of Rival Theories

Alternate adoption and diffusion theories.

Though an integrated DOI and TOE model was selected as the conceptual framework, others were considered. Oredo and Njihia (2015) revealed that DOI and TOE are the two dominant, organization-centric, theoretical innovation adoption, and diffusion frameworks. Hoti (2015), El-Gazzar (2014), and Puklavec, Oliveira, and Popovič (2018) all confirmed this. Additionally, Hameed and Arachchilage (2016) represented DOI, TOE, technology acceptance model (Davis, 1989), the theory of reasoned action (Fishbein & Ajzen, 1975), and theory of planned behavior (Ajzen, 1991) as the primary

IT innovation adoption and theoretical diffusion models. Hameed and Arachchilage, confirmed by Baker (2011), characterized DOI and TOE, collectively, as organization-centric, preadoption, and adoption decision theories while technology acceptance model (TAM), theory of reasoned action (TRA), and theory of planned behavior (TPB) were represented as being more individual, user-centric theories. As a result, TAM, TRA, and TPB are not suitable theories to support enterprise IT innovation adoption and diffusion decision studies.

Individual IT user acceptance is valid. Fishbein and Ajzen (1975) established TRA to evaluate individual acceptance behavior as a function of their attitude and subjected norms. Fishbein and Ajzen represented that attitude indicates individual baseline beliefs impacted by the results of behavior while subjected norms characterize perceived social system pressure to conform to specific behavioral standards. Davis (1989) published TAM, a modified version of TRA, to model user acceptance of IT innovations as a function of perceived usefulness and simplicity. Davis defined perceived usefulness as the degree of job performance is improved by employing an innovation, while simplicity is characterized as the degree of effortlessness. Accordingly, Davis presented that these two variables, in combination, drive user attitude leading toward an adoption decision. Lastly, Ajzen (1991) published TPB, also a modified version of TRA, which enhanced TRA via the addition of behavioral control moderating factor that characterizes behavioral intention, which in turn, leads toward an adoption decision. Therefore, foundational individual innovation adoption theories, which model human behaviors, can be useful if employed suitably.

While TRA, TAM, and TPB are a capable individual, user-centric frameworks for studying innovation adoption, they are not an appropriate fit for enterprise-level analysis. DOI has established itself as a robust foundational model that requires augmentation. Similarly, TOE has established itself as being complementary to other models and of requiring a foundation. Moreover, integrated DOI-TOE models have been successfully demonstrated to support complex, enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decision research efforts. Accordingly, an integrated DOI-TOE model is the best fit for this study. In order to continue the DOI-TOE conceptual model theory discussion, a segue into cloud computing is required.

Cloud Computing

The evolution of cloud computing started in the early '60s. El-Gazzar (2014) described cloud computing as a method to use remote resources to store data or execute processes without a significant investment of onsite IT assets. Kushida et al. (2015) added that cloud computing evolved into cloud stacks, which involves layers from a capability maturity/abstraction perspective. The impact of cloud computing's commoditization of resource capacity has significantly disrupted the IT industry (Kushida et al., 2015). Given the quick maturation of cloud computing paradigms and service delivery methods, businesses are facing new questions regarding what functions should be retained in-house versus leveraged by a cloud-based service delivery model (Pakath, 2015). Thus, the importance of making successful, and timely, cloud adoption and diffusion decisions by IT executives become increasingly essential.

The foundational infrastructural perspectives of what constitutes a cloud and its realization are shifting rapidly. The cloud computing landscape has shifted significantly over the last decade away from traditional data centers and more toward multicloud (e.g., hybrid and federated cloud) models (Varghese & Buyya, 2018). This evolutionary path generated technical, security, and business issues, which IT professionals must continuously work to provide solutions (Varghese & Buyya, 2018). Müller, Holm, and Søndergaard (2015) supported this by advising businesses to carefully consider how best to leverage the cloud because of potential business-IT alignment impact from both cloud maturity and organizational maturity perspectives. Müller et al. found that integrating cloud offerings within the enterprise requires improvements in core competencies and operational processes due to complexity and adoption risk. IT executives must be discerning when evaluating IT cloud adoption and diffusion decisions due to the high rate of change and organizational impact associated with adopting cloud computing.

Cloud business models are also evolving quickly. Fixed and dynamic pricing are the two primary cloud pricing strategies (Chun & Choi, 2014). Chun and Choi (2014) suggested that fixed-fee pricing models, such as subscription and pay-per-use, are more typical even though dynamic pricing could be more economically efficient. Profitability pressures are forcing application owners to reexamine how they consume and pay for cloud resources (Ben-Yehuda, Ben-Yehuda, Schuster, & Tsafrir, 2014). Hence, a thorough understanding of cloud pricing models can help optimize resource investments.

Understanding dynamic pricing model subtleties can be beneficial. Cloud business models are evolving rapidly to keep pace with the high rate of cloud

technological change required to support supply-demand models (Ben-Yehuda, Agmon Ben-Yehuda, & Tsafrir, 2016). Ben-Yehuda et al. (2014) identified a trend of using dynamic arbitrage-based pricing models in which resource requirements are quickly met to facilitate rapid demand requests enabling businesses to optimize cloud investments and react sooner to evolving business needs. Pricing scheme changes are critical to cloud computing that allows providers to grow despite price variances on product demand and growth (Xu, Qin, Qiu, & Liu, 2015). Cost optimization is a principal cloud research theme (Ben-Yehuda et al., 2014). The lack of cloud business and organizational management centered literature prevents business and IT leaders from adopting cloud computing with complete data (Bayramusta & Nasir, 2016). Successful cloud strategy development and execution requires a rational understanding of cloud computing, pricing models, and literature to help drive cloud adoption and diffusion decision making processes.

Cloud computing formal definition. The standardization of cloud computing definition has been a difficult task. Mell and Grance (2011) described cloud computing as on-demand access to remote resources, which dynamically provision services with minimal effort and provider's intervention. Ruan, Chan, Zhu, Wang, and Yang (2016) confirmed Mell and Grance's contribution to the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) as an industry standard. The high growth rate of cloud computing has triggered the proliferation of as-a-service (aaS) extensions, which deviate from the core NIST definitions (Duan, Sun, Longo, Lin, & Wan, 2016). As a result, the potential

communication breakdowns and semantic understandings (e.g., use of words) may leave senior IT leaders unable to appreciate the evolving cloud computing models adequately.

Cloud computing characteristics. Specific characteristics must exist for cloud computing to deliver. Mell and Grance (2011) designated on-demand self-service, broad network access, resource pooling, rapid elasticity, and measured services as essential characteristics of cloud computing. The on-demand self-service characteristic is intended to ensure that compute capability provisioning is fully automated (Singh & Singh, 2017). Customers expect instant access to resources (Wu, Garg, & Buyya, 2015), including the ability to provision their capabilities without requiring assistance (Oredo & Njihia, 2015). The broad network access characteristic is intended to facilitate service availability across networks to support remote consumption (Singh & Singh, 2017). The resource pooling characteristic, as portrayed by Singh and Singh (2017), is intended to support the dynamic sharing of pooled resources. Resources are allocated as a function of demand (Wu, Garg, et al., 2015). The rapid elasticity characteristic is intended to help facilitate dynamic scaling as a function of demand (Singh & Singh, 2017). Lastly, the characteristic of the measured service is intended to facilitate automated management and monitoring of cloud resources (Singh & Singh, 2017). Measured services also embody metering and billing functions (Vithayathil, 2017). Oredo and Njihia (2015) added that billing is analogous to electricity consumption. As a group, these essential cloud computing characteristics embody the underlying promise of cloud computing namely open, flexible, scalable, available, and responsive.

Cloud computing service models. Cloud computing has several service delivery models. Mell and Grance (2011) designated three service models within cloud computing: (a) software as a service (SaaS), (b) platform as a service (PaaS), and (c) infrastructure as a service (IaaS). Wu, Garg, et al. (2015) characterized SaaS as applications hosted as a service, which Iqbal et al. (2016) elaborated that it enables consumers to leverage cloud provider application capabilities via a lightweight, front-end device but prevents access to the underlying infrastructure. PaaS services include a virtualized hardware instance, OS, network, as well as other middleware capabilities to allow end-users to provide a service or perform a business function (Iqbal et al., 2016). In the case of PaaS, a platform is a discrete computer system instance that includes hardware, an operating system (OS), and some measure of appropriate end-user enabling tooling and interfaces (Iqbal et al., 2016). As a result, underlying hardware and software management costs are eliminated (Oredo & Njihia, 2015). IaaS offers its capabilities from the OS and down to include hardware and device-level virtualization that enable consumers to run their software (Mell & Grance, 2011). Oredo and Njihia (2015) characterized IaaS as being virtualized computing resources, e.g., processors and data servers provided as a service. These three foundational service models, viewed as building blocks, have been positioned by proponents, to fulfill a wide array of IT cloud requirements readily.

Cloud computing deployment models. Cloud computing has several deployment models. Mell and Grance (2011) designated private cloud, community cloud, public cloud, and hybrid cloud as cloud deployment models. As described by Puthal,

Sahoo, Mishra, and Swain (2015), a private cloud is an internal cloud implementation that provides exclusive, infrastructure support to an organizational entity. A community cloud, as portrayed by Puthal et al., is a cloud implementation that provides support to a distinct group of potentially disparate users, who share a standard set of interests or goals. A public cloud, allocated for general public consumption, leverages abstracted infrastructure capabilities provisioned by and housed within the facilities of a CSP (Mell & Grance, 2011). Lastly, a hybrid cloud is comprised of two or more distinct cloud infrastructures, which remain autonomous but are integrated to provide business functionality to a consuming entity (Mell & Grance, 2011). Given the array of possible cloud computing deployment models and their unique deployment and operational profiles, careful consideration is required during the IT cloud adoption planning and diffusion process.

Cloud computing anything-as-a-service (XaaS). Cloud success has led to a services marketing barrage. Botta, de Donato, Persico, and Pescapé (2016) referred to XaaS as everything as a service, which X can associate to a vast array of capabilities. However, Duan, Duan, et al., (2016) revealed that different sources broadly use the term XaaS, which creates confusion when communicating the service to clients. Conversely, Duan, Sun, et al. (2016) found that a semantically aligned XaaS paradigm offers a promising approach to encapsulating infrastructure resources and developing federated, service-oriented architecture (SOA)-like facades to hide the underlying implementation details. Botta et al. considered XaaS metaphors to be part of a strategic mesh of cloud internet of things (IoT) as a service and internet of everything (IoE) things-as-a-service

offerings. Consequently, the potential overuse of XaaS nomenclature may leave senior IT leaders unable to understand the evolving cloud computing service models effectively.

Infrastructural impact on cloud adoption decisions. The IT industry is being impacted by cloud computing. Early cloud implementations used mainframes and virtual machines to provide standalone service instances with intra/inter-instance isolation (Shinder, 2016). Shinder (2016) also reported that the use of lower-cost open systems platforms drove down the cost of raw computing over the last three decades. Kushida et al. (2015) described the commoditization of cloud computing as a disruptive technology to the IT industry. Thus, a significant paradigm shift is occurring for businesses as IT capabilities change from capital assets to metered services (Pakath, 2015). Organizations require thoughtful planning to consume cloud-based services at scale.

Another consideration in cloud computing is data center energy efficiency.

Previous data center models required vast floor space, redundant power, cooling, network trunks, and other forms of extensive power requirements (Schlichting, 2015). Cloud computing-centric data center redesign is enabling resource savings and real-estate footprint consolidations due to increased energy efficiency gains and floor space utilization optimization (Mills et al., 2015). These changes allow data centers to surpass legacy designs at a fraction of the energy cost (Schlichting, 2015). Porter and Heppelmann (2015) suggested that this cloud-based efficiency, coupled with the emergence of smart devices, allows maintenance of an organic capability, such as a data center, to be a strategic or compliance-related decision rather than a tactical one. Despite these successes, Shuja et al. (2017) voiced concern that green computing requires further

research to understand how to design sustainable data centers better. As a result, cloud adoption decision processes must not only consider architectural and topological requirements, but they must also consider infrastructural housing requirements as well.

Cloud computing architecture. Performance remains a critical success factor for large enterprises. Although high performance traditionally relates to expensive coupled systems, cloud computing's cost-efficient aggregation of an array of loosely coupled systems is gaining traction (Kushida et al., 2015). Hwang et al. (2016) suggested that practitioners evaluate 18 distinct performance metrics, such as elasticity, latency, recoverability, quality of service, and availability when considering high-performance cloud systems. Garrison, Wakefield, and Kim (2015) directly linked the relative success of IT capabilities and service composition selection efforts to outcomes such as IT economies of scale, cost reductions, and skills development. Though performance also has a role in measuring whether an implementation is meeting business needs and enduser expectations (Sharma, Javadi, Si, & Sun, 2016). Careful consideration must be afforded to IT cloud-service composition selection activities as part of the IT cloud adoption and diffusion decision process.

Virtual machine (VM) sizing optimization is also a critical success factor for large enterprises. Ristov, Mathá, Kimovski, Prodan, and Gusev (2018) revealed that challenges to understanding cloud architecture include VM heterogeneity, dynamic load management, capacity planning, and VM configuration optimization. To begin to address cloud computing linear scalability performance concerns, Ristov et al. presented a comprehensive approach to model, capture, and evaluate cloud performance

characteristics based on variable architectural scenarios. Despite the recent progress made, a considerable amount of work remains to mature cloud resource management techniques and further enable automated cloud workload optimization capabilities (Weingärtner, Bräscher, & Westphall, 2015). Given the current maturity state of cloud performance modeling and its direct linkage to appropriately sizing resource configurations and their consumption, careful consideration must be afforded to IT cloud service capacity planning activities as part of the IT cloud adoption and diffusion decision process.

Availability is also a critical success factor for large enterprises. Fault tolerance, or reliability, is the ability to absorb interruptions and process transactions despite any failure (Cheraghlou, Khadem-Zadeh, & Haghparast, 2016). Fault tolerance focuses on responding to VM faults and improving system recovery time to reduce downtime impact (Mohammed, Kiran, Awan, & Maiyama, 2016). Cloud computing differs from traditional fault tolerance by focusing on load balancing and elasticity schemes to address faults (Cheraghlou et al., 2016). Coady, Hohlfeld, Kempf, McGeer, and Schmid (2015) confirmed that this method increases the capacity and reliability of services. Thus, cloud computing remains available even if a few systems become unavailable.

Security impact of cloud adoption decisions. Adopting and integrating cloud computing capabilities within a large enterprise creates security concerns. Liu, Sun, Ryoo, Rizvi, and Vasilakos (2015) developed the enterprise cloud-security landscape point of view that categorizes cloud computing security factors, existing solutions, and the subsequent gap analysis of the existing solutions mapped against the challenges.

Consequently, Liu et al. suggested that the inability to develop defensive security solutions at the same pace as cloud technology hinders adoption. Similarly, Alassafi, Alharthi, Alenezi, Walters, and Wills (2016) analyzed a wide array of potential and perceived enterprise-centric, cloud computing security factors that inform organizational adoption of cloud computing. As a result, Alassafi et al. created a comprehensive, enterprise-centric, cloud adoption security framework to address social factors, cloud security risk factors, and perceived cloud security benefits. In their model, Alassafi et al. included concerns such as API issues, hijacking, compliance, data ownership, service interruption, data leakage, trust, privacy, security auditing, resource concentration, and innovation. Lastly, Chang, Kuo, and Ramachandran (2016) developed an enterprise, infrastructural level cloud-security adoption framework, which focuses on the firewall, identity management, and encryption factors. Although the capturing, modeling, and evaluation of cloud security factors are occurring, the practical reality of cloud computing security capabilities must be considered as part of the IT cloud adoption and diffusion decision process.

The impact of both cloud security and reliability have far-reaching implications on the IT community. Organizations need to iteratively evolve their defense strategy against evolving criminal and nation-state actors (Rid & Buchanan, 2014). A reference security framework should incorporate a wide array of devices to address ever-increasing cloud computing complexity (Fernandez, Monge, & Hashizume, 2015). Fernandez et al. (2015) emphasized the development of security or misuse mitigation strategies to address cloud vulnerability use cases such as leveraging software-defined networking as a means

of addressing device security issues and dynamically reconfiguring cloud networks.

Accordingly, device-level security capabilities must be considered as part of the IT cloud adoption and diffusion decision process.

Different dimensions of a cloud security strategy require addressing. Rid and Buchanan (2014) described criminal actors as individuals who seek credit cards, financial transaction, or other personally identifiable information through rudimentary forms of cyberattacks. Breaches caused by nation-state actors, who use corporate or defense espionage to attack cloud systems within a wide variety of industries, is rapidly rising (Rid & Buchanan, 2014). The use of proper controls, transparency, incident response, and compliance audits to monitor and govern cloud security activities needs to be stressed (Jaatun, Pearson, Gittler, Leenes, & Niezen, 2016). These security concerns need to be mapped to factors included in a significant security framework (Alassafi et al., 2016). As a result, security is a considerable driver in cloud adoption decisions.

Alternate pricing models are impacting cloud adoption. As previously stated, two primary cloud pricing models exist to consume cloud services, a pay-per-use model, and a subscription model. More pricing options exist, such as dynamic, value-based, auction-based, and prenegotiated rates (Chun & Choi, 2014). Arbitrage marketplace supply/demand pricing models are rapidly emerging to address the rising cost and excess capacity in cloud service provider environments (Ben-Yehuda et al., 2014). Other licensing fee structures exist for SaaS providers, internal organizations via chargeback models, or enterprise vendors whose cloud-based services are consumed as part of fulfilling a business or infrastructure requirement (Chun & Choi, 2014). From an expanse

perspective, Mazrekaj, Shabani, and Sejdiu (2016) presented over a dozen different cloud pricing schemes that vary along with a wide array of dimensions. More directly, Kar and Rakshit (2015) described a decision support-based, cloud pricing model that focuses on pricing based on factors that include trust, cost, value, and flexibility. Also, De and Mukherjee (2015) provided a detailed, healthcare industry-specific, cloud pricing analysis of a mobile cloud-based solution to address home health care and epidemic monitoring issues. Consequently, cloud-computing pricing model evaluation efforts require additional investigation.

Not all cloud pricing models are simplistic. Chun and Choi (2014) described payper-use models as paying for only the resources consumed. Several factors affect this model, such as equipment depreciation state, agreement term, QoS required, I/O volume, data storage consumed, breadth of services consumed, and CSP maintenance costs (Chun & Choi, 2014). As part of the sophisticated cloud pricing analysis conducted in Chun and Choi, the authors established that a perpetual or subscription-based model is sometimes leveraged where a consumer requires or prefers some predictability in their billing cycles or would like to pay in advance. For example, if a consumer would like to monetize what would be an operating expense (OPEX) cost and convert it to capital expenditure (CAPEX) cost for depreciation purposes (Chun & Choi, 2014). For that reason, a clear set of financial requirements should be developed and validated as part of the cloud adoption decision and diffusion process.

Current cloud economic models are heavily skewed in the provider's favor. Chun and Choi (2014), Ben-Yehuda et al. (2016), and Ben-Yehuda et al. (2014) all emphasized

that providers want to maximize revenue vice entertain revised pricing models that may impact their bottom line. Current cloud pricing models are primarily driven by unit consumption-based derivations rather than service composition, a distinct disadvantage to consumers (Wu, Nadjaran Toosi, Buyya, & Ramamohanarao, 2018). Pricing is driven by resource granularity, e.g., vastly expanding on Amazon's EC2 spot pricing, help drive down costs to consumers (Ben-Yehuda et al., 2016). The contemporary problem, as presented in Ben-Yehuda et al. (2014), is that time increment minimums currently charged by CSPs are on a multi-minute basis. Furthermore, Ben-Yehuda et al. (2014) speculated that the time shortening trend would continue until per second, or Resource as a Service (RaaS), pricing is realized. Cloud infrastructure resources must be monetized and carry varying costs based on performance, scale, availability, and geographic concerns (Chun & Choi, 2014). Specific resources such as CPU, memory, storage, network, quality of service (QoS), input/output (I/O), security, privacy/isolation, and support are representative assets or services that aggregate together for billing purposes (Ben-Yehuda et al., 2016). Thus, to optimize cloud resource consumption, cloud service consumers must evaluate workload characteristics to understand potential economic impacts better.

RaaS based pricing models may offer a unique competitive advantage. An alternate set enabling capabilities are required to help capture and curate service catalog meta-data, monitor and capture ecosystem participant interactions, and facilitate the execution of multi-cloud service requests (Ben-Yehuda et al., 2014). Due to the high rate of change involved and potential technical complexities, automated resource management

tooling would be required to successfully operate and orchestrate the policy-driven environment (Ben-Yehuda et al., 2014). Fowley, Pahl, Jamshidi, Fang, and Liu (2018) provided a broad-spectrum, end-to-end overview of multi-cloud to include managing complex, enterprise-scale, multi-cloud environments via broker services. Consequently, Wang, Cao, and Xiang (2015) presented a comprehensive broker service selection model designed to dynamically facilitate real-time, multi-cloud service selection negotiation and service management functions. The derived requirements of a broker service capability to address the geographic, data, security, authentication, nonfunctional requirements and more, significantly raise the bar on large-scale, multi-cloud implementations (Fowley et al., 2018). The need for improved performance is especially real if enterprise-class applications, workloads, and services, as suggested in Ben-Yehuda et al., are meant to be dynamically reallocated at a per second rate. Subsequently, Kablan, Joe-Won, Ha, Jamjoom, and Keller (2015) developed a reputation-based system that could be leveraged to manage and prioritize resource allocations as well as moderate ecosystem participant behaviors as required. Based on this research, to take sufficient advantage of shortinterval time slice pricing, cloud service consumers must evaluate workload characteristics to understand the potential technical and economic effects better.

Industry participation is required to stimulate a RaaS marketplace. As an extension to the broker service discussion, Wang et al. (2015) proposed an automated brokerage clearinghouse, like a marketplace exchange, to be established that preallocates capacity and dynamically matches consumers with providers and instantiates the agreed-on service on behalf of both. Lin, Squicciarini, Dondapati, and Sundareswaran (2016)

suggested an approach to leverage real-time, transactional metadata to cross-correlate service requests with provider capabilities. Though Lin, Squicciarini, et al. (2016) proposed that significant price reductions could be achieved via this approach, active CSP participation and investments would be required as would a ready set of consumers ready and legally able to leverage this kind of marketplace metaphor. Moon, Kim, Kim, and Lee (2015) suggested implementing a reverse auction approach to help stimulate the RaaS, multi-cloud exchange ecosystem to take sufficient advantage of short-interval time slice pricing, cloud service consumers must evaluate organizational and industry innovativeness and maturity readiness to understand the potential economic impact better.

Enterprise cloud adoption decisions. Recent, peer-reviewed, enterprise-centric cloud-adoption process literature is challenging to find. Ray (2016) suggested that enterprise cloud adoption decisions should be viewed across multiple levels. El-Gazzar, Hustad, and Olsen (2016) characterized cloud computing as an emerging form of IT outsourcing. Accordingly, Schneider and Sunyaev (2016) highlighted the lack and technology-centric focus of enterprise cloud sourcing literature relative to prior, far more comprehensive sourcing knowledge bases. Alkhater, Walters, and Wills (2018) confirmed the enterprise cloud-adoption literature gap existence while El-Gazzar, Wahid, and Stendal (2018) confirmed the tactical vice strategic literature focus and De Vries, Bekkers, and Tummers (2015) confirmed deficient theoretical underpinnings.

Business and academia do not characterize nor look into enterprise cloud adoption decisions the same way, further intensifying the literature gap issue (Ray, 2016). Thus,

El-Gazzar (2014) represented the nature and extent of the enterprise cloud adoption literature gap. Accordingly, El-Gazzar et al. highlighted the relative importance and impact such literature gap issues create when enterprises make cloud adoption decisions. Thus, Alkhater et al. (2018) revealed and leveraged a multidimensional, enterprise cloud adoption theoretical model intended to help quantify and contribute some baseline literature to include high-lighting the factorial differences between small, medium, and extensive enterprise adoption decisions. More interpretative case studies are required to better understand enterprise cloud adoption factors, processes, and strategies (El-Gazzar, 2014). The execution of more qualitative case studies by practitioners would help augment literature and inform IT senior leaders are making enterprise cloud adoption decisions.

A Conceptual Model as an Enterprise Cloud Adoption Decision Aid

Making enterprise cloud-innovation adoption decisions are difficult (Bildosola, Río-Belver, Cilleruelo, & Garechana, 2015). Cloud migration is the transition of some or all legacy IT resources (e.g., hardware, software, data, business processes) to a third party CSP (Alkhalil et al., 2017; El-Gazzar et al., 2016). The organizational cloud adoption decision phenomenon is relatively immature (Alkhalil et al., 2017; El-Gazzar et al., 2016; Sharma, Gupta, & Acharya, 2017). Meanwhile, integrating DOI with TOE makes DOI firm-level explanations more complete (Hsu et al., 2014). As a result, senior IT executives need decision aids to help facilitate enterprise cloud innovation adoption processes.

Decision aids provide frameworks to guide cloud innovation adoption decisions. Accordingly, Alkhalil et al. (2017) leveraged the innovation adoption characteristics, of an integrated DOI-TOE model, to gain further understanding of complicated, enterprise cloud adoption and application migration decisions. The Alkhalil et al. (2017) approach and model have been reinforced by Giacumo, Villachica, and Breman (2018). Alkhalil et al. employed and tested their integrated DOI-TOE model, using exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis techniques. Alkhalil et al.'s research design approach were to conduct a qualitative study to collect case data, refine factor criteria, and validate hypothesis statements to seed a follow-on quantitative analysis research effort intended to clarify the identified factors and their relative effects. Alkhalil et al. examined the underlying factors that increased the difficulty of organizational cloud adoption decisions. Thus, Alkhalil et al. took a wide array of enterprise attributes into account to characterize and quantify their impact on a potential innovation adopter's decision process. Alkhalil et al.'s stated goal was to explore the under-appreciated complexity of making organizational cloud adoption and migration decisions. Thus, the Alkhalil et al. model, as a framework, is a decision aid that can help facilitate cloud innovation adoption decisions.

Alkhalil et al. (2017), leveraged their literature review to develop a preliminary set of factors intended to address cloud adoption decisions and their complexity related research questions. A two-stage approach, a qualitative effort followed by a quantitative effort, was used to help gather and validate the appropriate data (Alkhalil et al., 2017). Alkhalil et al. revealed that stage one, the qualitative study, leveraged semistructured

Skype-based or face-to-face interviews of subject matter experts to collect applied data from experienced practitioners. The analysis results from stage one, in conjunction with data collected during the literature review, helped Alkhalil et al. refine their stage two research approach and hypotheses. Resultant stage one data was thematically analyzed, in six phases, to determine factors influencing cloud adoption decisions, to include the application of the DOI and TOE frameworks to the data (Alkhalil et al., 2017; Giacumo et al., 2018).

Alkhalil et al. (2017) employed, reinforced by Giacumo et al. (2018), an integrated model, in their view, to better capture and represent the complexity and impact of each context and factor on enterprise cloud adoption decisions. Alkhalil et al. recognized the overlaps between DOI and TOE (e.g., technology and organizational contexts), but they also recognized the deltas (e.g., DOI has no environmental context, and TOE does not address individuals or some innovation attributes). Alkhalil et al. viewed TOE as providing the general contextual framework and DOI as providing many of the individual factors within each context. Alkhalil et al. noted that each selected factor was tailored to a cloud adoption context.

Four different contexts, each containing two or more factors, were established in the Alkhalil et al. (2017) model namely innovation characteristics, technology context, organizational context, and environmental context. The Alkhalil et al. model innovation characteristic context was comprised of four DOI derived factors specifically relative advantage, complexity, trialability, and risk. The technology context included both compatibility (DOI) and size (TOE) factors. The organizational context contained

organization readiness (TOE), internal social (TOE), external social (DOI), and top management support (DOI) factors. Finally, the environmental context encompassed of three TOE derived factors namely information sources, regulation, and selection of cloud provider factors.

Transition and Summary

The literature review presented 1) an overview of organizational IT-centric innovation adoption and diffusion processes and issues, 2) an overview of cloud computing and relevant trends, 3) cloud-centric extensions to IT-centric theory, and finally, 4) demonstrated the applicability of an integrated DOI-TOE conceptual model, to this study, to facilitate complex, enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decision processes.

The cloud computing overview was geared toward large-scale enterprises and their unique computing needs. The purpose of this qualitative collective case study was to explore strategies used by IT executives to make advantageous enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decisions.

The review of DOI, TOE, and the integrated DOI-TOE models were essential to establishing organizational and environmental perspectives, beyond just the technical, when considering cloud innovation adoption decisions. The analysis results of this literature review have demonstrated the immaturity of enterprise cloud computing, the complexity of enterprise cloud computing adoption decisions, as well as revealed a number of gaps in large enterprise and firm-centric, cloud innovation adoption and diffusion literature. Finally, the application of an integrated DOI-TOE conceptual model

may help address a portion of these perceived gaps as well potentially reveal some insights relative to successful enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion strategies.

Section 2 expanded on the study with sections dedicated to the role of the researcher, participants, qualitative method justification, population and sampling methods, ethical study conduct, data collection, and analysis techniques, as well as study reliability and validity issues.

Section 2: The Project

Section 2 contains a comprehensive discussion of the study. I discuss and address researcher ethics to include active mitigation factors. Additionally, the discussion includes justification for participants, sampling methods, methodology and design, and other decisions made for this study. I also present the data source, collection, storage, and analysis techniques and decisions made for this study. Lastly, I discuss and address qualitative collective case study reliability and validity issues.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative collective case study was to explore strategies used by IT executives to make advantageous enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decisions. The target population was IT telecom executives who influence or make firm-level cloud adoption and diffusion decisions in three large (revenues greater than \$5 billion) telecomrelated companies with a headquarters in the United States. An implication for positive social change is that, by using my study findings, IT telecom executives might be able to improve their ability to optimize cloud innovation adoption and diffusion decisions to greater benefit downstream consumers in need of telecommunications services.

Role of the Researcher

My role as the researcher included serving as the primary instrument in collecting and analyzing data for this study. Baillie (2015) stated that qualitative researchers are the primary instruments because of their influence on how data are collected and analyzed. In addition to collecting data, I proactively reduced bias to safeguard the academic rigor of the data and the analysis. Despite mitigation efforts, bias exists in every qualitative study

(Roulston & Shelton, 2015), which can include issues with anticipation bias, sampling technique, participant bias, subconscious research design, and data analysis techniques that do not correctly address equivalency (Morse, 2015). During data collection, I used the purposeful sampling method to incorporate relevant data while taking proactive measures to mitigate potential sources of personal and other bias.

I have over 30 years of professional IT experience in enterprise compute-centric positions, which include industry chief technology officer and Fortune 500 IT executive management roles. The first focal points were complex systems management, software systems engineering, and software architecture focused primarily on developing and deploying complex, object-oriented, real-time weapons and communications platforms. The second focal point was enterprise architecture, which includes the development of complex solutions for internet-based organizations. The current focal point is managing a large-scale technology provider with enterprise architecture, artificial intelligence, and cloud subject matter experts related to complex global product development.

Additionally, I have an extensive background in telecommunications including commercial markets, public sector markets, and nine years of service in the U.S. Navy. My awareness of my background on the topic helped prepare me to deal with this liability.

A series of targeted open-ended questions were developed to help facilitate participant interviews and collect relevant phenomena data. Additionally, I used follow-up questions, based on initial answers, to elicit additional information from participants. During each interview, I used an interview protocol to ensure consistency and to

formalize the verbal data collection effort. Interview protocols help guide novice researchers with procedural, interpersonal, and reflexivity issues, such as scheduling, recording, question sequencing, bias mitigation, and overall flow (Hoover, Strapp, Ito, Foster, & Roth, 2018). A copy of the interview protocol is in Appendix.

I remained mindful of bracketing during the investigation due to my professional background that includes over 25 years of senior IT leadership experience. Bracketing is the ability of a researcher to set aside prior knowledge and act nonjudgmentally toward a topic (Sorsa, Kiikkala, & Åstedt-Kurki, 2015). Researchers may use bracketing to isolate and highlight participant responses from their topic-related knowledge base (Sorsa et al., 2015). I adhered to the interview protocol and actively endeavored to relate ad hoc follow-up questions directly back to participant responses rather than steer or lead participants down unintended paths. Fusch, Fusch, and Ness (2017) suggested that interview protocols, member checking, data saturation, and triangulation can help mitigate bias. Specific to bracketing, I leveraged member checking to authenticate contributor responses and voice. The incorporation of multiple points of view (e.g., data sources) beyond interview transcripts helped address not only bias, data saturation, and triangulation issues but also DOI recall bias issues previously mentioned.

I reviewed the Belmont Report (Department of Health and Human Services, 1979) concerning the ethical treatment of research participants. I completed the "protecting human research participants training" certification. I endeavored to both communicate and demonstrate the fundamental principles outlined in the Belmont Report—namely, respect for the person, beneficence, and justice. Relative to the three

Belmont Report principles, Miracle (2016) stated that people are self-governing beings with the right to determine their study participation levels. Miracle further stated that researchers should do participants no harm while attempting to increase potential benefits and decreasing any potential adverse effects. Lastly, Miracle addressed the concept of fairness and trust between researchers and participants. As the researcher, I actively pursued the applied application of these principles in my study not only to protect the participants but also to help address study reliability and validity.

In an ongoing fashion, I communicated my plans and activities with my chair and fellow doctoral students to gain feedback and advice. This approach served as a precautionary measure to ensure that sufficient mitigation strategies were in place to address bias issues that might arise. I did have a personal or professional history with one target company but not their respective participants.

As discussed in more detail below, the primary rationale behind employing a purposeful sampling technique was to select the best possible candidates to interview.

Morse (2015) highlighted the potential bias that directed sampling schemes can introduce concerning a small population study and a study's ability to be accurately reproduced with other participants whose ability to address the phenomena at hand might not be equivalent. Therefore, the capture, analysis, and reflexive documentation of participant insights and experiences were critical to the success and ultimate value of this study and its findings.

Participants

Study participants were comprised of IT telecom executives who influence or make firm-level cloud adoption and diffusion decisions in three large (revenues greater than \$5 billion) telecom-related companies with a headquarters in the United States.

Study participant selections were based on individual IT executive selection criteria, how well they mapped to one of the six roles, and their ability to provide detailed descriptions of their firm-level cloud adoption and diffusion experiences. The six organizational roles (or their respective functional equivalents) examined per case were chief information officer, chief technology officer, chief cloud architect, vice president/director of cloud development, vice president/director of cloud operations, and vice president/director of enterprise applications.

Developing a strategy to identify, review, and gain access to participants is essential for researchers (Høyland, Hollund, & Olsen, 2015). For this study, I used personal and business relationships to identify and approach potential candidate companies. Peticca-Harris, deGama, and Elias (2016) stressed, as confirmed in McFadyen and Rankin (2016), the importance of leveraging relationship managers (e.g., gatekeepers) to gain participant access to conduct research. I worked with my personal network and with the telecom industry leaders within my firm to generate a shortlist of candidate companies and their respective gatekeepers. Once I obtained the appropriate institutional review board (IRB) approval (#02-08-19-0525494), each candidate company gatekeeper was contacted to ascertain corporate-level study participation interest and process Walden University-based cooperation letters or corporate nondisclosure

agreements (NDAs) with Walden University. Thus, once a corporation was selected, and an executed cooperation letter or NDA was obtained, and appropriate IRB partner-level approval was received, the identified corporate gatekeepers were leveraged to facilitate communications and gain access to participants. These principal gatekeepers helped facilitate role-mapping efforts and the identification and preliminary qualification of potential study participants. Participant selection criteria, for each case, were comprised of senior IT executives who had at least one year in their current role and at least ten years of IT leadership experience and who had successfully experienced procuring and deploying an enterprise-class cloud solution based on case-specific organizational role-mapping requirement needs.

To improve the reliability and validity of a study, researchers need to establish, nurture, and document participant relationships (Peticca-Harris et al., 2016). Carter et al. (2017) suggested developing and employing participant-centric approaches to increase recruitment success rates. According to Kornbluh (2015), the perceived quality and satisfaction levels of participant and researcher interactions can significantly inform data collection efforts. Thus, gatekeepers were able to facilitate initial introductions, establish preliminary working relationships, share study particulars, present interview parameters, and address any confidentiality concerns. Collegial interviewers solve procedural problems and are dynamically reflexive during an interview while building rapport with participants (Hoover et al., 2018). Given the seniority level of the participants, quickly assessing and managing the interviewer-interviewee relationship was important.

Dixon (2015) suggested that establishing participant inclusion boundaries is essential. Documenting the eligibility criteria of qualitative case study participants is even more critical given the possible population pool size (Morar et al., 2015). When the number of cases in a collective case study is small, purposeful sampling is a viable means of selecting eligible participants (Etikan, Musa, & Alkassim, 2016). Participant selection criteria, for each case, were comprised of senior IT executives having at least one year in their current role, at least ten years of IT leadership experience, and who had successfully experienced procuring and deploying an enterprise-class cloud solution by case-specific, organizational role-mapping requirement needs. Thus, senior IT executives who staff the six identified IT executive positions, who meet the participant selection criteria, and who take part in firm-level cloud innovation adoption and diffusion strategy development and execution, were eligible to participate in the study. Equivalent position titles, based on role responsibilities, experience, tenure, and skill, were considered, as appropriate, to make sure each role, across all the cases, had participants identified. In that way, each case was comprised of at least six interviews, at least one from each stated organizational IT role, to assist individuals and collective case data analysis efforts. Those IT executives who did not meet the eligibility criteria or had job descriptions and titles that did not correctly align with the identified roles were excluded. Once a specific role participant was identified and positively engaged, no other candidates were considered for that specific interview role unless a participant withdrew or the gatekeeper specifically recommended withdrawal. In either case, designated participants, as a function of being selected and sharing from their vast array of relevant experience, aligned with the

overarching research question—namely, identifying strategies to make advantageous enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decisions.

Tasked with protecting human research subjects' welfare and ethical rights, an IRB provides overarching research process governance and oversight (Liberale & Kovach, 2017). IRB approval should be gained before engaging any potential corporate gatekeepers or prospective downstream individual participants (Ciolfi & Kasen, 2017; O'Brien & Steele, 2017). Once I obtained appropriate IRB approval (#02-08-19-0525494), identification of candidate companies occurred, the appropriate gatekeepers were engaged, and letters of cooperation were sought. An IRB exists to protect human research participants at the project level by providing oversight and governance of the research process by U.S. federal law (Hom, Podlogar, Stanley, & Joiner, 2017). As part of the participant engagement process and in compliance with IRB partner-level approval requirements, executed individual consent forms were obtained and archived. Specific data storage processes and practices are detailed below.

Research Method and Design

Qualitative research and a collective case study were the chosen method and design for exploring strategies used by IT executives to make advantageous enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decisions. The integrated DOI-TOE conceptual framework adopted to examine this topic helped characterize firm-level enterprise-centric IT decision strategies. El-Gazzar (2014) highlighted the literature gap for this topic and suggested that more qualitative studies were needed. Therefore, I conducted a qualitative

collective case study to understand enterprise IT adoption and diffusion issues in more depth.

Research Method

Qualitative research lends itself well to exploring new concepts in great depth (Boddy, 2016; Imran & Yusoff, 2015). Because the qualitative method empowers researchers to explore practitioners' experiences expressively, it was far more relevant to this study than pursuing a numerically based quantitative method. As highlighted in Section 1, the lack of cloud adoption field data has exacerbated researching organizational level decision processes in favor of more individual technology adoption decision research. A wide array of quantitative cloud adoption literature exists, yet the identified gap in high quality qualitative firm-level cloud adoption and diffusion literature offers a tremendous opportunity for researchers in the future (El-Gazzar, 2014). Firm-level cloud adoption and diffusion literature require a more in-depth analysis of anecdotal and experientially based data vice the analysis of discrete data sets (El-Gazzar, 2014).

To that end, qualitative data collection and analysis techniques afford researchers the ability to capture and share rich insights that might not otherwise be exposed (Renz, Carrington, & Badger, 2018). The qualitative process, by design, enables the investigation, aggregation, and analysis, via triangulation, of vibrant content (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Exploration is especially central in the enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion space because literature is limited for large enterprises, and existing literature has focused on cloud technical rather than a broad spectrum, executive IT-related issues of import to senior IT executives (El-Gazzar, 2014). The focus of this study was applied

not theory-driven. Thus, for this study, the qualitative method was more appropriate than the quantitative method.

The quantitative method was once considered but subsequently deselected.

Quantitative studies examine, frame, and report on numerical factors associated with the hypothesis that conforms with an identified theory to be explored (Park & Park, 2016).

Nassaji (2015) suggested that the quantitative method, being more descriptive, is well suited to analyze numerically coded qualitative data. Chan (2000) revealed that an identified an ever-widening schism between the qualitative and quantitative methods primarily related to organizational level analysis efforts that tend to favor quantitative approaches. Park and Park (2016) reconfirmed that researchers still favor the quantitative method. This unintended bias (Park & Park, 2016) has created a gap in the literature, as identified by El-Gazzar (2014). Thus, as the data for this study was comprised of semistructured and unstructured textual data, I did not select the quantitative method.

The mixed-method was not considered. Like quantitative studies, mixed-method researches combine the aspects of quantitative studies with exploratory textual qualitative data within a single study instance (Venkatesh, Brown, & Sullivan, 2016). Frequently, qualitative studies, which are used to explore a topic, are followed up with quantitative studies used to test hypotheses (Palinkas et al., 2015). Abdalla, Oliveira, Azevedo, and Gonzalez (2018) cautioned that mixed-method studies require more thought than just merging the two other methods. That said, double scope, mixed-method studies, can explore and reveal a great deal of valuable information and insight but can be costly and time-consuming (Fusch et al., 2017). Fusch et al. (2017) went on to suggest that novice

researchers chose a design that is straightforward to address, can readily reach data saturation, can be completed in a reasonable timeframe, and can be completed for a reasonable cost. Lastly, as the data for this study was not empirical but rather semi and unstructured text, the mixed method was not selected.

Research Design

Due to the IT strategy exploration emphasis of the research question, a collective case study design was chosen over an ethnographic or phenomenological approach. Collective case study, including a discrete number of companies and participants, can explore rich information and generate some interesting compare and contrast findings (Baxter & Jack, 2008). Case-level similarities and differences are of value both to the inquiry as well as to understanding the phenomena (Shaban, Considine, Fry, & Curtis, 2017). Thus, given the need to explore topics in more depth, the ability to openly explore the topic is far more befitting the nature of the data required to analyze and report on the topic correctly (Lewis, 2015). Furthermore, case study designs allow researchers to uncover rich information that may not be otherwise captured via other design methods (Yazan, 2015). Lastly, collective case studies seek to explore and describe vice assess a phenomenon (Arghode, Wang, & Lathan, 2017). Therefore, a collective case study design was appropriate to capture, analyze, and report on an enterprise level, senior telecommunications IT executive experiences with making, communication, and executing firm-level, cloud adoption, and diffusion decisions.

A phenomenological design was seriously considered, but it became too difficult to isolate and accurately articulate the concept of the cloud adoption phenomena that

were meant to be explored. Also, given the nature of phenomenological data collection requirements, a far more extensive set of study participants would be necessary to achieve data saturation (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Willis, Sullivan-Bolyai, Knafl, and Cohen (2016) presented phenomenological research as humans relating their perceptions of lived experiences concerning a descriptively defined phenomenon; hence, the results of this form of study focus on the essence of the phenomena itself. Ghaffari and Lagzian (2018) revealed that phenomenological methods had not been applied to cloud computing adoption. Enterprise cloud adoption is an organizational centric construct vice a phenomenological one; thus, a phenomenological design would not readily support the research goals. Accordingly, phenomenological design was not selected.

Ethnography was not considered. Ethnography focuses on analyzing cultural phenomena with a social group (Sirek, 2016). While an organization is a cultural group, the data collection aspects of an ethnographic study require observation while living amongst the cultural group over a period (Sharp, Dittrich, & de Souza, 2016). Given the nature of the research topic, these data collection limitations would not correctly serve to unearth the depth and breadth of data required to address the research question in an acceptable timeframe. Eventually, over many months of observation, sufficient data may be captured to drive data analysis efforts, but the risk associated with potential data detail specificity risk concerning the research question could seriously impair both study trustworthiness and results. Granted formal and informal interviews can take place within the construct of an ethnographic design; they are not the primary data collection means (Jowsey, 2016). Jowsey (2016) lamented that observation still receives preferential

treatment concerning being ethnography's primary data collection medium. Thus, given the nature of the research question, an ethnographic design was not selected.

Data saturation, or the point at which additional data provides no new information, can always be addressed via collecting data from an array of different sources (Hagaman & Wutich, 2016; Nelson, 2016). For this study, three different data sources were selected. Beyond the baseline interview data, each participant was asked to provide additional relevant, textually-based artifacts. These secondary data sources consisted of architectural and other business documents that could be ingested and analyzed. A third data source, publicly available reports such as 10-k's and annual reports, were ingested and analyzed as well. Because each of the candidate companies is publicly accountable, the submission of financial and compliance reports is required for shareholder, public, and analyst consumption. Financial and compliance reports are rich with various degrees of the company, IT cloud strategy, and innovation intention content (Du, Deng, & Qian, 2018). Hennink, Kaiser, and Marconi (2016) provided qualitative study saturation assessment guidance to help gauge when saturation is achieved. My qualitative study saturation attainment strategy is discussed in more detail below.

Population and Sampling

Identifying, accessing, selecting, recruiting, and interviewing the appropriate study participants is a challenging endeavor. Gentles et al. (2015) suggested that careful thought should be applied when framing the research population, sampling method, and participant selection criteria. With this counsel in mind, for this qualitative collective case study, the population consisted of IT telecom executives who influence or make firm-

level cloud adoption and diffusion decisions within three large (revenues greater than \$5 billion) telecom-related companies with a headquarters in the United States. Participant selection criteria, for each case, was comprised of senior IT executives having at least one year in their current role, at least ten years of IT leadership experience, and who had successfully experienced procuring and deploying an enterprise-class cloud solution were selected by case-specific, organizational role mapping requirement needs.

For this qualitative collective case study, the bounded sample consisted of at least six participants per company from three selected companies. I worked with my personal network as well as the telecom industry leaders within my firm to generate a short-list of candidate publicly accountable companies based on headquarters locations, willingness to engage, and their top-line revenue. Once identified, each candidate company gatekeeper was contacted to ascertain corporate-level study participation interest and, once agreed on, process inter-corporate cooperation letters. The selection of three similar instrumental cases can help identify what is potentially familiar or different within and across each case (Veinot, Lin, Woods, & Ng, 2017). For each company, six organizational roles (or their respective functional equivalents) were examined and was comprised of a chief information officer, chief technology officer, chief cloud architect, vice president/director of cloud development, vice president/director of cloud operations, and vice president/director of enterprise applications. Most candidate organizations had at least one viable candidate per role. For this study, a purposeful sampling technique (discussed below) was employed. Thus, in the case where two or more viable and interested

participants exists, the most senior, by internal company standards, the available participant were selected with the other candidates being held in reserve.

Guetterman (2015) reported that sample size considerations are two dimensional, namely the size of the sample versus appropriateness or relevance. Accordingly, Guetterman suggested that researchers should identify and document their rationale as well as remain aggressively reflexive throughout the research process. The six different roles per organization were selected to obtain a cross-section of cloud adoption and diffusion data from across the cloud leadership spectrum ranging from executive management, architecture, development, enterprise applications, and finally, operations. Each role provided a slightly different view of the phenomena yet also converged with the other roles with little new data being added as the interviews progressed, thus addressing data saturation requirements. When examining what value could be obtained by adding additional roles to the interview list, the incorporation of a seventh or even eighth role did not appear, on reflection, to bring any additional value. Thus, the six roles identified and selected were deemed the most relevant. Therefore, for case-centric consistency purposes, the same role groups were selected for each company so that inter and intra case analysis can occur to help triangulate the data, achieve data saturation, and tease out more relevant themes.

Stake (1995) stated that sources drive case study sampling that best helps researchers understand the case at hand. Thus, for this study, a purposeful sampling technique was employed. Etikan et al. (2016) defined purposeful sampling as a nonrandom technique that supports the deliberate choice of a data source or a participant

as a function of its participant's qualities. Furthermore, Etikan et al. suggested that purposeful sampling is desirable when the phenomena universe is small and will be studied intensively. Homogeneous purposeful sampling is used when greater emphasis is placed on the depth and similarity of a sub-group to reduce variation and simplify analysis (Palinkas et al., 2015). Thus, a homogeneous purposeful sampling technique was used for this study. Gentles et al. (2015) suggested that researchers must describe what purposeful means in their context else, in neglecting to do so, readers would not be able to judge the rigor of the study due to the lack of precision.

Moreover, Gentles et al. warned that differentiating purposeful from convenience sampling should be incorporated into this discussion. For this study, purposeful sampling was used to identify high-value participants whose skills and experience best mapped to the six organizational roles identified above. Convenience sampling would have worked, but the relative fit of a potential participant to each role may have introduced too much risk.

Ethical Research

Each study participant was offered an informed consent form to review and execute. The informed consent form was intended to communicate the purpose of the study, the handling of privacy and data, risk, and rewards, as well as overall study participant rights (Barnard, 2016). Participants may elect to execute consent forms before the scheduling of any interviews (Santos et al., 2017). Walden University IRB partner-level approval was required before any participants could be contacted at all.

Once IRB approval (number 02-08-19-0525494) had been received, candidate companies were engaged, and the appropriate cooperation letter or NDA was executed. With gatekeeper provided contact information, once the partner-level IRB approval was received, I reached out to individual participants via telephone, in-person, or e-mail as appropriate. Once initial contact with prospective participants had been made, three things occurred, namely the detailed explanation of the study purpose, individual participation requests, and as appropriate, and the sharing of the informed consent forms. Brière, Proulx, Flores, and Laporte (2015) cautioned about the potential issues regarding participant remuneration. Thus, each potential participant taking part in this study did not receive any remuneration. Participation was solely to satisfy academic and professional giveback purposes. Lastly, I adhered to each participant's right to refuse and withdraw from the study at any time without penalties or repercussions. This right included any time during the interview, as well. The participants did not need to inform me of their refusal or withdrawal, which also extended to the partner letters of cooperation or NDA.

Wilson, Kenny, and Dickson-Swift (2017) suggested that participant and relationship protection are essential characteristics in conducting ethical research. Close looping research process activities with the IRB is not only mandatory but is also a great way to help assess both risk and benefits for all relevant study stakeholders (Ferreira, Buttell, & Ferreira, 2015). Accordingly, all electronic materials reside on an encrypted external drive and documents were appropriately marked and handled. All personal and corporate-specific data, even if not sensitive, has been locked away in an appropriately secured safe in my home office for the next five years. After five years, all retained

original copies should no longer be necessary and can be destroyed (Ferreira et al., 2015). I will destroy any original data by physically destroying the USB and SD storage devices and shredding and burning all physical documentation. No need-to-know exists beyond me for the source data. Therefore, no personal or corporate-specific information will be divulged at any point. A transcription service for interviews was used, under an IRB approved nondisclosure agreement. The transcription service has not retained any source audio data provided to them. This transcription process was incorporated into the IRB submission package and was included in the privacy and data handling review discussion.

Data Collection

Thoughtful, well-documented execution of data collection and analysis processes are essential aspects toward establishing rigor (Hays, Wood, Dahl, & Kirk-Jenkins, 2016). Ivey (2017) cautioned that data collection methods must align with the study question and aims of the study to address the potential validity impact. I used openended, semistructured interview questions as the primary data collection means. The semistructured interview process was used to help facilitate eliciting productive enterprise level, cloud adoption and diffusion experience, and strategy data that can be coded, analyzed, and triangulated further. I used the interview protocol (Appendix) to help conduct the data capturing activities for each interview.

In addition to the interviews, I collected corporate enterprise architectural documents, provided by participants, for secondary analysis, while publicly available corporate financial reporting documents and annual reports, many of which contain IT strategy and implementation details, served as the third data source. Enterprise

architecture artifacts, or boundary objects, help facilitate organizational communications and concept understanding between various stakeholder communities (Abraham, Aier, & Winter, 2015). One example of a relevant U.S. Security and Exchange Commission (SEC) filing is the 10-k report, which presents a comprehensive analysis of the company to include research and development activities (Du et al., 2018). Furthermore, I captured relevant study participant interview metadata and detailed field notes in addition to interactive participant responses. Twining, Heller, Nussbaum, and Tsai (2017) stressed the importance of a researcher documenting the entire qualitative study data collection lifecycle.

Instruments

I, as the researcher, was the primary data collection instrument. As such, I used semistructured interviews to help elicit participant experiences relative to the questions depicted in the interview protocol document (Appendix). The breadth and depth of information participants are willing to disclose during the interview process significantly influences both a study's contents as well as its eventual findings (Saunders & Townsend, 2016). I used both reflexive journals and comprehensive field notes to capture additional information during and after the interview. Researchers use reflexive journals to document data collection decisions and interview metadata to facilitate later data collection integrity determinations (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Furthermore, Fusch et al. (2017) stated that extensive note-taking during the interview process helps capture participant body language and semantic context of their responses. Ad hoc questions were sparingly used to mitigate researcher bias to the extents possible, but as appropriate,

I asked appropriate follow-up questions. Follow-up questions are meant to explore specific content further as well as to demonstrate to participants that their answers have been both captured as well as understood by the researcher (Kallio, Pietilä, Johnson, & Kangasniemi, 2016). The overall integrity of these processes is essential in establishing individual trustworthiness attribute strategies (Lincoln & Guba, 1985).

When practical, I traveled to the participant's worksite and coordinated with the gatekeepers to schedule conference rooms, refreshments, audio equipment, and validate availability for conducting in-person or Skype-based interviews. The goal for each partner company was to conduct the interviews over a 2 to 3-day span, allowing me to take notes and update journals accordingly. I used a transcription service for timely results and review data to ensure accuracy with the audio. On completion, I member checked the transcribed data with the participants, preferably in-person with Skype and email being alternatives, to ensure the contextual meaning of the answer were accurate. I also coordinated with gatekeepers to set additional dates if participants were unable to meet the appointment for reasons outside the right to refuse and withdraw. These processes were intended to help address the reliability and validity issues of the data collection process.

Data Collection Techniques

No data collection activities occurred until partner-specific Walden University IRB approval had been obtained. Once IRB approval (number 02-08-19-0525494) was granted, I contacted the gatekeepers of multiple large telecommunications companies, with headquarters in the United States, to present cooperation letters for their review and

execution. Once an executed cooperation letter or NDA had been received and the appropriate partner-level IRB approval granted, with gatekeeper provided contact information, I worked to explain the study and its participant requirement needs. An initial list of potential eligible candidates was created, in collaboration with gatekeepers, and the process of participant recruitment began. The process for onboarding each participant has been explained above. Brinkmann (2016) suggested that interviews are an appropriate data collection technique for qualitative studies examining strategies. Malli and Sackl-Sharif (2015) confirmed this and goes on further to highlight how interaction dynamics can significantly inform data quality. Once the roster of interviews per company or case were completed, data collection activities were planned onsite, if pragmatically possible, to maximize face to face time and conduct the interviews. Face to face was preferred as this was a complex phenomenon to examine. According to Fusch et al. (2017), direct observation is foundational to conducting qualitative case study data collection, but warned that novice researchers need to manage bias proactively. The notes taken during this process significantly helped establish context, mitigate researcher bias, and ensure that the participant's voice was more accurately heard. Lastly, two audio recorders were used, a primary and a secondary. This redundancy was intended to address any device or operator failure issues out of respect of the participants' time. The backup recording was only used if the original recording was damaged or unusable for any reason.

Research study participant convenience and comfort are essential (Dikko, 2016). When possible, interviews were conducted in-person, onsite. Member checking sessions

were conducted with Skype and email being secondary means. When possible, I traveled to the participants and worked with the respective gatekeepers to schedule conference rooms, water, audio equipment, and validate availability. The goal was to conduct at least six interviews over a 2 to 3-day span allowing me to take notes and update journals accordingly. Because a transcription company was used under NDA, I was able to have the transcripts returned to me quickly, and the ability to member check content with each participant occurred promptly after my review and validation of the transcripts. The transcription company was not 100% accurate; thus, the need arose to review and correct contextual and industry-specific terms personally. Member checking and triangulation, according to James (2017), help strengthen data authenticity. Makeup dates were scheduled if a participant was unable to attend follow up appointment times.

When possible, I conducted member checking in-person and, as needed, via Skype and email. For each participant, I shared and requested edits to the interview summary material to ensure I appropriately captured the participant's perspective. As needed, I followed up verbally via Skype to address any questions and, if participants were willing, pose additional follow up and qualifying questions. Member checking not only facilitates validating that the contents of a transcribed interview are correct but also allows researchers to ask additional follow up questions (Harvey, 2015). Member checking is considered crucial toward establishing credibility (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Member checking also enables researchers to address any potential data collection misunderstandings that may impact the precision of any findings (Caretta, 2016). Varpio, Ajjawi, Monrouxe, O'Brien, and Rees (2017) suggested that qualitative researchers, like

full disclosure, should comprehensively report participant participation data (e.g., invited, responded, withdrew) as well as any changes in interpretations that occurred as a result of member checking.

Gatekeepers and participants were asked to contribute relevant architectural and business documentation relevant to the research questions. Participants were sufficiently skilled and senior enough to recognize what related artifacts they could supply to help assist the study. The derived value to their organization helped trigger another level of cooperation and data sharing openness. The collection of publicly available compliance reporting data and annual reports, which contain IT strategy and implementation discussions, was found in the investor portion of the corporate websites. By collecting data from three different sources, data saturation and triangulation issues were addressed, but additionally, also helped address DOI recall bias issues that were introduced in Section 1.

Data Organization Techniques

The ability to capture participant contributed data in a well-documented, accurate manner, considerably helped facilitate external reader trustworthiness evaluations and perceptions. Information submitted by and/ about particular participants were named accordingly, for example, C1 P1 EADOC, C2 P3 Notes, C3 Reflexive_Journal. Excel spreadsheets were used to maintain a simple document management system. Broman and Woo (2018) suggested that spreadsheets are valid multi-purpose tools that help organize and stage data for additional downstream digital analysis capabilities. Collected data's attributes were manually organized in Excel to enable other data processing tools. Atlas.ti

is a comprehensive qualitative data analysis platform (Paulus & Bennett, 2017). Furthermore, as noted in Denneson et al. (2017), Atlas.ti can be used to organize and support transcript analysis. Accordingly, I leveraged Atlas.ti to conduct thematic language processing analysis of my digital data. This data will be retained in a locked container for five years and then discarded.

Data Analysis Technique

Fusch and Ness (2015) stressed the need to focus on achieving data saturation. Iterative data processing techniques, involving multiple different data sources, enhance study analysis procedures and stimulates triangulation analysis efforts (Van Dongen, Habets, Beurskens, & van Bokhoven, 2016). Thus, a continuous analysis modeling technique, leveraging Atlas.ti, was used to fold in and analyze new data after it had been captured and its source and handling metadata accurately documented. Recursive data analysis enables incremental, actionable, value-added insight to be teased out promptly (Kerwin-Boudreau & Butler-Kisber, 2016). As such, contextually-based theme development techniques were used to identify themes from the semistructured data being collected. Natural language processing (NLP) techniques can also be used to isolate verbnoun pairs to isolate specific semantically-based themes (Renz et al., 2018). Code and meaning saturation, as defined in Hennink et al. (2016), represents a method of assessing code and theme organization. These iterative approaches, collectively, helped drive analysis efforts toward successfully identifying and achieving data saturation and a finalized thematic model.

Triangulation

Triangulation helped validate study-specific data collection processes and practices and encompassed the use of a variety of complementary analysis techniques geared toward gaining topical insights (Yazan, 2015). Barnham (2015) suggested that triangulation helps empower greater faith in qualitative findings. Mayer (2015) named data, theoretical, methodological, and investigator as the four forms of triangulation. Furthermore, Mayer described data triangulation as the use of different data or sources, theoretical triangulation as the use of multiple theoretical positions, methodological triangulation as the use of a mixed-mode research method, and lastly, investigator triangulation as the usage of a second researcher to collect and analyze data. Based on the defined study parameters and design, I used data triangulation for the analysis.

Data triangulation means collecting data at different periods, from different sources, to obtain a much more detailed description of the phenomena being examined (Abdalla et al., 2018). Hence, data triangulation, to support study validation processes, is often used to analyze multiple sources of data in the same study (El Hussein, Jakubec, & Osuji, 2016). Beyond the interview transcripts, source enterprise architecture documents provided by participants as well as publicly available annual report data was ingested, parsed, and coded.

Varpio et al. (2017) warned researchers against just describing what they will triangulate, but to also document how. Furthermore, Tonkin-Crine et al. (2015) advised caution when triangulating due to its complex nature. As previously stated, the Alkhalil et al. (2017) integrated DOI-TOE model was selected as my foundational model to capture

better and characterize complicated enterprise innovation adoption and diffusion decisions. Thus, for this study, because the source data comes from similar contexts, a consistent style of interpretation and coding was employed across the different cases and data sources. Because I was the sole coder, the ability to maintain cross data interpretation and coding consistency was higher. Data triangulation was used to analyze different data sources collected from different actors, primarily via interviews, through a consistent lens. As represented in Varpio et al. (2017), supported by Jentoft and Olsen (2017), not only are different perspectives expected, they help in developing a richer understanding of the phenomena under study.

Themes

I conducted inter and intra case analysis using open and axial coding as well as constant comparative methods. Mohajan (2018) characterized open coding as the process of identifying and labeling essential words, or groups of words, in a sequential process. Mohajan also characterized axial coding techniques as a means of enabling researchers to analyze major categories and flesh out and link sub-categories. Zhang and Wildemuth (2016) portrayed the constant comparative method as a means of managing coding categories via analyzing phrase to category mappings to make sure each category is well understood and documented.

In addition to the open and axial coding methods, NLP techniques were leveraged to conduct study coding and theme analysis. NLP assists researchers in identifying relevant insights that might not otherwise be found (Renz et al., 2018). Researchers recognize Atlas.ti as one of a select few higher-end, qualitative data analysis software

(QDAS) tools (Paulus, Woods, Atkins, & Macklin, 2017). Researchers use QDAS to support a variety of research designs, especially the analysis of textual data collected via interviews, focus groups, documents, and field notes (Woods, Paulus, Atkins, & Macklin, 2016). Woods et al. (2016) found that the more significant majority of QDAS usage (greater than 95%) was to support qualitative research studies. Atlas.ti, as a data analysis and data management tool, supports complex data visualization, critical theme concept matching, and coding (Jarvis, Wachowiak, Walters, & Kovacs, 2017; Woods et al., 2016). Atlas.ti facilitates code assignment and analysis (Woods et al., 2016). Additionally, Paulus and Bennett (2017) suggested the use of Atlas.ti as a project management tool as well due to its ability to document decisions thus aiding transparency. Paulus and Lester (2015) argued that Atlas.ti offers superior analysis support than what is possible by hand. Therefore, intercase analysis of attributed codes, supported by Atlas.ti, was used to solidify specific themes. Intracase analysis efforts focused on evaluating and determining the commonality or uniqueness of each case.

Reliability and Validity

Adhering to disciplined research processes is an essential aspect of developing and demonstrating reliability and validity. Additionally, demonstrating both consistency and integrity with study participants helped facilitate both the gathering as well as follow-on validation of the input data. Member checking is an essential aspect of ensuring the participant's voice, and not the researcher's bias is appropriately captured and articulated. Dikko (2016) defined reliability as the consistent measurement of a concept attenuating bias, while Zamanzadeh et al. (2015) stated validity was the proper representation and

utilization of measurement instruments to execute a study. Dikko would affirm a study as being reliable if the same participants were reinterviewed, using the same questions at different times with similar data being collected. Leung (2015) stressed, relative to the issue being explored, the appropriate end-to-end design alignment and researcher choices are crucial qualitative study validity drivers. Thus, concerning the validity, the same protocols, instruments, and sources of data (e.g., interviews, strategy documents, and publicly available annual reports) were leveraged, for each case, to ensure consistency, facilitate triangulation, and address data saturation.

Lincoln and Guba (1985) presented trustworthiness as defining the critical perspective of how qualitative research study rigor can be articulated and established. Lincoln and Guba defined and positioned trustworthiness as the aggregation of dependability, credibility, transferability, and confirmability that were equated to their quantitative counterparts' internal validity, external validity, reliability, and objectivity. Morse (2015) confirmed Lincoln and Guba. The strategies to achieve qualitative study rigor trustworthiness (e.g., persuade a reader that the findings of the study are worth considering), as defined by Lincoln and Guba, are discussed below.

Credibility

For qualitative studies, credibility is the measure of how well (e.g., accurately) the research represents the issue being examined (Noble & Smith, 2015). Techniques that can be used to address credibility issues include prolonged engagement, persistent observation, triangulation, negative case analysis, peer-reviews, and member checking (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Ensuring that study participants are eligible/qualified is

essential in establishing initial study credibility (Liao & Hitchcock, 2018). Additionally, close-looping interview transcript contents with participants are vital in making sure collected data accurately capture their experiences (Birt, Scott, Cavers, Campbell, & Walter, 2016).

Additionally, member checking sessions create opportunities for the collection of supplementary content (Caretta, 2016). As interviews were the primary form of data for this study, meticulous care was required to plan, schedule, execute, reflect, document, and member check these sessions. Other forms of data were used to augment and triangulate the interview data. Beyond the interviewing process, the rigor, care, and quality of the capturing and reporting of the entire study lifecycle were of paramount importance. Thus, for this study, adherence to the tenets cited above were critical success factors. The methods and techniques outlined in this section provided the structural guidance required to safeguard compliance.

Transferability

For qualitative studies, transferability refers to the ability to cast or project study findings to another phenomena or population via the imposition of abstractions (Amankwaa, 2016). Guba and Lincoln (1989) suggested that this is the prerogative of a third party, while Morse (2015) suggested that this is the prerogative of the original researcher. Although Morse expressed that qualitative study finding transferability is left to the researcher to decide, Merriam (1995) asserted, confirmed by Twining et al. (2017), that qualitative study findings are not externally transferable. While Merriam suggested that no additional external transferability is assumed in qualitative studies, researchers

should provide sufficient information to enable individual opinion formation. Thus, for this study, individual and collective case transferability was left to the reader to determine.

Dependability

For qualitative studies, dependability refers to the ability to repeat the study and generate the same results (Constantinou, Georgiou, & Perdikogianni, 2017).

Dependability establishment strategies, such as triangulation, reflexivity, analysis complexity, and providing a detailed description of the research process, assist readers in replicating a study (Hays et al., 2016). Additionally, the use of over-lapping data analysis methods (e.g., triangulation, stepwise replication) can assist in establishing dependability (Morse, 2015). To help manage consistency, an interview protocol, and member checking were used to help guide and document participant interactions. Triangulation, as described above, was used to help safeguard relying too heavily on any one data source.

Confirmability/Objectivity

For qualitative studies, confirmability refers to how well researchers can mitigate their own bias and ensure that data collected, to the extent possible, represent participant perspectives (Abdalla et al., 2018). Similar to dependability, the credibility techniques discussed above also convey to confirmability (Hays et al., 2016). Beyond member checking, the proactive use of comprehensive notes, audit trails, and reflexive logs assist in addressing researcher bias (Korstjens & Moser, 2017). Additionally, for this study, three different data sources were used to help address DOI recall bias issues previously

discussed, as well as to address any potential data saturation issues that might have arisen.

Transition and Summary

After restating the purpose of the study, Section 2 discussed researcher ethics and proposed active mitigation approaches. Section 2 also provided information and justifications on study participant, sampling, methodology, and design, to include any associated decisions made thus far. Section 2 also presented data source, collection, storage, and analysis techniques and decisions made thus far. Lastly, impactful reliability and validity issues were presented and discussed.

Section 3 presents my research study findings, describe practical, applied applications for professional practice, address relevant implications for social change, addresses call to action and further study recommendations, reflect on my efforts and valuable lessons learned, and, lastly, offer some concluding remarks.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Overview of Study

The purpose of this qualitative collective case study was to explore strategies used by IT executives to make advantageous enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decisions. This study was guided by an integrated DOI and TOE conceptual framework to better capture and model this complex, multifaceted problem space. Table 1 depicts the Alkhalil et al. (2017) conceptual framework model that is based on the integration of the DOI and TOE conceptual models. Table 2 demonstrates how well-aggregated factors from each of the conceptual frameworks—DOI and TOE, respectively, contribute to the overall collected evidence. The study's population consisted of IT executives with cloud centric roles in three large (revenues greater than \$5 billion) telecom-related companies with a headquarters in the United States. Data collection included semistructured individual interviews (n = 19) and the analysis of publicly available financial documents (n = 50) and organizational technical documents (n = 41). I used data triangulation and interviewee member checking to increase study findings validity. Intercase and intracase analysis using open and axial coding and constant comparative methods were leveraged to identify five major themes namely top management support, information source bias, organizational change management, governance at scale, and service selection. The findings showed techniques that the IT executives used to make advantageous enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decisions.

Presentation of the Findings

The main research question of this study was: What strategies do IT executives use to make advantageous enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decisions? The five main themes identified, and how executives find ways to address them, are discussed in detail below. Three cases were explored, totaling 19 participants. To improve readability, the following nomenclature will be used: C represents the case number, while P represents the participant number; thus, C2P4 would be the fourth participant from Case 2, and C3P5 would be the fifth participant from Case 3. The five themes exemplify strategies that IT executives could use to make advantageous IT cloud adoption and diffusion decisions. Each theme is introduced, synthesized, and tied back to the conceptual model with each contributing factor broken out into its paragraph.

Table 1

Alkhalil, Sahandi, and John (2017) Conceptual Framework Model

Context	Factor	Source	Description		
Innovation	Relative	DOI	Cost reduction, agility, back-up, higher		
characteristics	advantage		performance		
	Complexity	DOI	Lack of cloud environment knowledge, lack of cloud service management skills, cost management issues, risks management,		
			cloud immaturity		
	Trialability	DOI	Ease of testing		
	Risks	DOI	Privacy and confidentiality concerns, vendor lock-in, loss of control		
Technology	Compatibility	DOI	Organizational culture and staff impact, interpretability issues		
	Size	TOE	Large data migration issues		
Organization	Organization readiness	TOE	Levels of expertise		
	Internal social	TOE	Need for adaptation, disruption of current business processes		
	External social	DOI	Collaboration		
	Top management support	DOI	Competitiveness, outsourcing culture, trust		
Environment	Information sources	TOE	Difficult to access information, complexity		
	Regulation	TOE	Legal implications concerns, data ownership, service level agreement		
	CSP selection	TOE	Cloud provider and service selection difficulty, increasing number of cloud providers and their configuration		

Table 2

Conceptual Model Frequency

	Participant			Document	
Conceptual model	Count	References	Count	References	
DOI	19	383	66	138	
TOE	19	367	33	81	

Theme 1: Top Management Support

Undertaking a comprehensive enterprise-scale cloud transformation journey requires steadfast commitment, open communication, and superior strategic and tactical leadership business and technical skills. The top management support theme (e.g., executive leadership) exemplifies these management qualities targeting the facilitation and stewardship of a large enterprise IT cloud adoption and diffusion decision support ecosystem. Eight of the 13 conceptual framework factors (Table 1) contribute evidence toward this theme: (a) top management support, (b) relative advantage, (c) risks, (d) internal social, (e) compatibility, (f) regulation, (g) complexity, and (h) size. Table 3 and Table 4 depict the aggregated and relative evidentiary contributions of each of these attributes. All participants and 85 documents were leveraged to synthesize the following discussion. Study findings showed how top management support plays an indispensable role in formulating and executing enterprise IT cloud adoption and diffusion decision-making strategies.

Table 3

Conceptual Framework Frequency

	Participant		Document	
Conceptual framework	Count	References	Count	References
Compatibility	19	166	21	61
Complexity	19	90	11	24
CSP selection	17	67	7	9
External social	12	23		
Information sources	19	59	1	1
Internal social	19	148	21	66
Organization readiness	18	86	2	3
Regulation	2	2	1	1
Relative advantage	9	19	14	27
Risks	12	30	6	7
Size	3	5	1	1
Top management support	17	47	10	15
Trialability	3	8	4	4

Table 4
Frequency of First Major Theme

	Participant		Document	
Major theme	Count	References	Count	References
Top management support	19	507	85	202

Organizational architectures play a role in innovation. An unsupportive organizational structure can be a substantial enterprise innovation barrier (Das, Verburg, Verbraeck, & Bonebakker, 2018). As established in DiPietro et al. (1990), the organizational context embodies the organizational structure of a firm. Internal and external social system communication processes and their associated formalities (e.g., informal or formal) are also considered part of this context (Jia et al., 2017). DiPietro et al. asserted the assumption that any person, entity, or process, managed by the firm,

represents an internal organization. Thus, large, sophisticated corporations, possibly nested within multiple divisions or lines of business, are all considered internal organizations (DiPietro et al., 1990).

The internal dynamics of a firm are essential. The management structure complexity characteristic addresses the intricacies of a firm's management structure (DiPietro et al., 1990). DiPietro et al. (1990) represented that the management structure complexity characteristic also embodies a firm's command and control structures (e.g., hierarchies and authority), social system influences, occupational specialties/expertise, and employee professionalism. Firms are comprised of a set of formal and informal structures and processes that can leverage resources to achieve their goals (Campbell & Dopico, 2016; DiPietro et al., 1990). DiPietro et al. asserted that firms do not just stand, but instead, they evolve as the impact of decisions and outcomes accrue over time. As a result, strong leadership is essential. An aspect of strong leadership is excellent communication, which entails ensuring that organizational goals are repeatedly stressed, teams are motivated, and employees are kept up to date on progress and changes (Schermerhorn et al., 2019). Effective and sympathetic leadership, from vision through to institutionalization, is critical toward successful IT cloud innovation adoption (Carreiro & Oliveira, 2019).

Fourteen participants agreed that establishing and communicating a clear direction (e.g., vision, mandate) to include well-defined goals is essential. The establishment, adoption, and nurturing of a market-leading mindset and culture means cloud needs to be viewed as more than just another data center, according to three

participants (C2P2, C2P4, and C3P1). Additionally, C2P2 cautioned that the IT leader managing the IT infrastructure not having the right cloud innovation-centric mindset could represent a significant organizational barrier. C2P2, backed by C3P6, went further and suggested that, even though the cloud has data center-like characteristics, it is far more efficient and flexible, enabling businesses to reimagine their processes in manners not previously envisioned and opening up an entirely new world of possibility.

Nonetheless, C2P2 warned that, in some organizations, it might take the retirement of a generation of cloud-adverse executives to stimulate and achieve. Some roles, not even believing change is necessary, can represent some of the most significant organizational barriers, cautioned C2P4. C2P1 suggested that IT become an innovation center and solution-centric business partner vice remaining to be a traditional sunk-cost, cost center.

In many instances, IaaS-based workloads, when moved to the cloud, can end up costing more from a total cost of ownership perspective, than current on-premise solutions (Fisher, 2018). C2P4 suggested that merely viewing cloud as another compute solution dramatically limits its potential. Additionally, ten participants stressed the critical nature of being creative and open to innovative concepts, such as business models (especially finance), transformational activities, sourcing strategies, architectural approaches, compute composition, process reengineering, and automation, among others. C1P2 cautioned that the inability to adapt to new paradigms contributes to inertia, further exacerbating existing internal change management difficulties. Failure to successfully do so, according to C3P2, could impact overall firm valuation and cash flow.

As such, the top management team must understand, capture, and communicate desired outcomes (Yigitbasioglu, 2015). Six participants agreed that wholesale, all-in commitment to the cloud is required to help motivate organizations to follow through on commitments effectively. Hence, the need for both near and long-term roadmap planning and prioritization was discussed by seven participants. Further, four participants (C1P2, C2P2, C2P5, and C3P3) stated that the development of both greenfield and brownfield strategies is required. According to eight participants, competitive differentiation, agility, and the ability to reallocate resources are essential toward enabling successful IT cloud adoption and diffusion decisions.

Agility matters according to five participants who agreed that strategy perfection is not required. They cautioned that too much time is often spent planning and bogging down vice just adopting a do it attitude and moving out. In some cases, though, based on two participant's (C1P2, C2P4) experience, an executive decree may be required to help jump-start initiatives. Four participants (C1P1, C1P6, C2P2, and C2P4) viewed their organizations as being market leaders that significantly alters how they engage with both their own and other organizations. According to C2P2, once a certain level of cloud maturity is reached, looking over the horizon to see what is next is both invigorating and challenging at the same time. Hence, being able to drive service provider requirements helps position both current and future IT cloud innovation adoption successes. Dominant firms can dictate market conditions (e.g., price, quality, and service) as well as an industry's competitive landscape; thus, forcing other market participants to respond accordingly (DiPietro et al., 1990; Zamuee, 2016). In some industries, dominant

customers can significantly inform an industry's innovation rate by dictating supply chain engagement terms, conditions, technologies (DiPietro et al., 1990; Raja et al., 2018).

At the individual factor level, top management support (Table 1) represents how leadership helps establish and drive an organization's posture. Competitiveness, in this study's construct, represents how aggressively cloud-based paradigms are going to be considered and ultimately implemented and an outsourcing sensitive culture adopted. Trading partner support and relationship management is an essential aspect of cloud competitiveness (Gangwar et al., 2015). Lastly, trust is both organizational as well as personal. Trusting a third-party service provider to take on and run a significant piece of functionality, for a corporation, is not a trivial matter nor is establishing trust between individuals both internally and externally (Rahi, Bisui, & Misra, 2017). The absorptive capacity of top management leadership affects IT cloud adoption decisions (Ratten, 2015). Ultimately, how mature, or not, an organization can become is a function of how vested and engaged senior leaders are in the technologies, processes, and people (Heavin & Power, 2018).

Relative advantage signifies the degree to which an innovation is viewed to be better than an existing capability (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). From DOI, the derivation of this value is multidimensional and is comprised of contributions from the following aspects: economic, social prestige, convenience, satisfaction, and risk (Rogers, 2003). Whether a vast cost reduction is being sought, increased organizational bandwidth, or improved technical performance, the perceived relative advantage of an innovation, especially cloud, matters from an initial identification, concept consideration, and

leadership decisioning perspective. Shuaib, Samad, Alam, and Siddiqui (2019) asserted that relative advantage is a crucial cloud adoption determinant. Nonetheless, for this study, relative advantage, per Table 3, was not discussed much during the data collection process though it was often stipulated. Cost management discussed further below, seemed to dominate financial evidentiary thoughts considerably more than cost reduction. From a clear relative advantage characteristic perspective, agility-based comments were far more frequent than any of the others. The ability to quickly (and easily) do something, especially from continuous integration, continuous delivery (CICD) development operations perspective, was stressed to be of critical importance. As leaders evolve their understanding of the cloud's relative advantages, their ability to better manage policies and management structures improves (Gangwar et al., 2015). As an innovation's relative advantage measures begin to emerge and stabilize, a clear and unambiguous advantage can inform evaluations and even possible adoption or rejection rates (Greenhalgh et al., 2004).

Risks, as defined in Table 1, were not a primary driver (Table 3) and came up infrequently during data collection. Though, as attributes of risks per Table 1, privacy and loss of control concerns existed, vendor lock-in seemed to dominate this factor's contribution to the evidence. Al-Badi, Tarhini, and Al-Qirim (2018) presented a comprehensive cloud computing adoption risk-centric, a conceptual model that considers three dimensions, namely legal (privacy and confidentiality), technical (security and vendor lock-in), and operational (loss of control). In this study, security, in the large, was discussed broadly as a top management issue by all the participants, with many stressing

that security incorporation into a cloud strategy realization plan is a mandatory requirement. That said, much of the security and nonvendor lock-in discussion was attributed to other factors such as compatibility and complexity as these were more appropriate to the content's context than risks were. Concerning vendor lock-in, a comprehensive multi-cloud strategy, discussed in more detail below, was broadly recommended as a means of mitigating this concern.

The need for organizational adaptation and current business process change, referred to as internal social in Table 1, were dominant topics (Table 3) during the data collection process. A firm is comprised of a set of formal and informal structures and processes (Campbell & Dopico, 2016; DiPietro et al., 1990). Formal processes, as well as informal social norms, influence a firm's relative innovativeness (Kurnia et al., 2015). DiPietro et al. (1990) asserted that firms are not just stood up, but instead, they evolve as the impact of decisions and outcomes accrue over time. Accordingly, business transformation is a traumatic event for an organization across multiple dimensions. Rogers warned, supported by Chandler and Hwang (2015), that internal social system pressure could unduly influence deciders toward a decision even if they remain uncertain. This latent pressure not only significantly affects the adoption rate but grows more significant as more decision-makers arrive at their conclusions (Chandler & Hwang, 2015; Rogers, 2003). Unplanned personnel issues could arise leading to organizational architecture and leadership adjustments. According to participants, many well-established business processes needed to be reengineered or retired, while an array of new processes needed to be instantiated. Internally, DiPietro et al. (1990) advised that a variety of

techniques and communication methods can be employed to share information laterally. These methods help facilitate innovation adoption decisions and any subsequent diffusion activities as well as help firms absorb higher rates of information exchanges and adaptations (DiPietro et al., 1990). For the three cases, the enterprise-level impact of this factor was considerable requiring great top management focus.

Per Table 3, compatibility, or the impact on organizational culture and staff as well as interpretability issues (Table 1), was a dominant factor. From DOI, compatibility signifies the degree to which an innovation aligns with existing values, needs, and expectations of an adopting organization (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). The adoption and diffusion of IT cloud capabilities within the three case organizations introduced significant amounts of trauma requiring that each organization, and their top management, mature and persist through the institutionalization efforts. Comparing and contrasting internal social and compatibility is a meaningful discussion. The need to make a change vice the impact of a change are obviously two different things, but they are equally dominant concerning large-enterprise IT cloud adoption and diffusion data collection and analysis deliberations. Organizational inertia does not subjectively change just because an environmental or technological change has been introduced (Wang, Liu, Liang, & He, 2017). Overcoming organizational inertia was identified by many of the participants as one of the significant leadership hurdles they needed to address as part of their cloud journey. The net result, especially to staff, was substantial consisting primarily of organizational impact more so than interpretability issues. Consequently,

capable leadership has a positive effect on successful cloud innovation adoption (Ratten, 2015).

Law and regulation changes impact innovation adoption. Classes of regulatory activities that significantly impact innovation adoption are economic, social, and institutional regulations (Blind et al., 2017; DiPietro et al., 1990). Government regulatory activity, such as new constraints or levying new technology requirements, can significantly impact an entire industry and its innovation activities (Amini & Bakri, 2015; Baker, 2011). Economic regulations include antitrust, merger and acquisitions, price, monopolies, and compliance reporting (DiPietro et al., 1990). Social regulations include environmental protection, workers' health and safety, product, and consumer safety, and personal privacy (DiPietro et al., 1990). Institutional regulations include liability law, employment protection, immigration law, bankruptcy laws, and intellectual property rights (DiPietro et al., 1990). For this study, legal implication concerns, data ownership issues, and service level agreements, referred to as regulation in Table 1, were not a major contributing factor (Table 3) though when discussed, this factor was linked to activities holding severe long-term repercussions and top management support concerns. The data ownership and service level agreement characteristics of regulation did not play a significant role in evidence analysis activities.

Complexity, as a significant factor (Table 3), is comprised of several attributes (Table 1). Complexity, or cumulatively, the lack of cloud environment knowledge, cloud cost management problems, lack of cloud service management skills, immaturity of the cloud, and base risk management played a considerable role in each participant's dialog.

From DOI, complexity signifies the degree to which an innovation is deemed to be easily understood or used (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). Complexity calculations are modified, up or down, by the impact severity of a social systems' skills availability and supplemental training requirements (Oliveira et al., 2014). Thus, complexity rating, e.g., from low to high, informs both the innovation adoption decision process as well as its potential adoption rate (Rogers, 2003).

Consequently, the cost management discussion alone was quite significant, as were conversations regarding the lack of skills and knowledge issues. Despite being in the market for quite a few years, cloud services are still a relatively new endeavor that many feel are more complex than their current solutions (Wang et al., 2017). Thus, at the enterprise-scale, levels of complexity increase exponentially, requiring top management to oversee IT resource management diligently (Wang et al., 2017). The amount of time invested by each of the case organizations is considerable. Entire departments have been allocated to prosecuting issues that arise from this factor.

Firm size has an impact on innovation activities. Larger firms are more likely to be active innovation adopters (Baker, 2011; DiPietro et al., 1990). From TOE, size, as an aggregate index, is not a good indicator of a firm's relative innovativeness based on how the relative value of size is derived (e.g., gross revenue, number of employees, profit levels) (DiPietro et al., 1990). Both Baker (2011) and Jeng and Pak (2014) confirmed that size does not necessarily correlate to relative innovativeness. DiPietro et al. (1990) found that despite the variances in its derivation, size is a meaningful descriptor (irrespective of its measure) to differentiate classes of firms, relative to each other. Understanding and

normalizing size factors within an industry may help provide some industry-specific innovation adoption insight. In this case, all three of the case organizations have revenues above \$5 billion. Each possesses vast arrays of transactional and historical data. Size, according to Table 1, refers to the difficulties associated with migrating large volumes of data. As demonstrated in Table 3, size is not a major contributing factor but is a constraint. As a derived requirement, size needs to be considered with every planning and service decision. The ability to even adopt a service is constrained by that service's ability to operate at the scale necessary to address size-related issues.

Theme 2: Information Source Bias

Information source bias refers to the individual and cumulative prejudicial impact that different content creation entities may have on IT cloud innovation adoption and diffusion decisions. Three of the 13 conceptual framework factors (Table 1) contribute evidence toward this theme, namely CSP selection, information sources, and external social. Tables 3 and 5 depict the aggregated and relative evidentiary contributions of each of these attributes. All participants and eight documents were leveraged to synthesize the following discussion. Study findings showed how information source bias plays a crucial role in formulating and executing enterprise IT cloud adoption and diffusion decision-making strategies.

Table 5
Frequency of Second Major Theme

	Pa	Participant		Document	
Major theme	Count	References	Count	References	
Information source bias	19	149	8	10	

Recognizing bias requires some skill, insight, and diligence (Ryan, 2018). Content bias influences adopter's knowledge acquisition and adoption deliberations based contextually on who or what they are, e.g., an opinion leader, change agent, or some other industry-recognized source (Rogers, 2003). Specific dissemination methods used to communicate information about an innovation play an essential role in addressing potential bias and mitigating any undue influence that may be placed on stakeholders and their opinions (Rogers, 2003). It is notable for bearing in mind that individual influencers can have a significant impact on adoption decision deliberations (Bettiga & Lamberti, 2017). As such, the continued gathering information about an innovation helps address individual uncertainty and inform ongoing analysis efforts (Rogers, 2003).

Making effective, risk mitigated IT cloud adoption decisions is made even more difficult when the underlying data is skewed. C1P4 strongly warned about buying into hype. Service provider, vendor, and pundit data often contain hype, unproven assertions, and bias (Albee, 2018). Despite this, eleven participants indicated that they rely heavily on service provider provided content that includes social media (e.g. blogs, marketing material, white papers) obtained material. Kee et al. (2016) explored the impact of social media can have as a target population guiding platform and information diffusion

acceleration instrument. In fact, both Albee (2018) and Mathewson and Moran (2016) exposed how product vendors are using sponsored content, disseminated via social media, particularly to romanticize their brand and influence clients. Further, many blogs and bloggers themselves are being strategically sponsored for favorable vendor product placement (Colliander & Erlandsson, 2015).

Rogers (2003) cautioned that people prefer homophilous personal interactions, to include their intrinsic bias, as an information source. Further, Ramazi et al. (2018) stated that people, in fact, purposely seek out homophilous relationships. Nevertheless, bear in mind that homophilous influences can unduly inform adoption attitudes and decisions (Dearing & Cox, 2018). With that in mind, 15 participants stated that service provider relationships are critical components of their information gathering and deliberation processes. Relationship driven interactions can include one on one discussions, tailored briefings, and vendor-sponsored executive briefings in their facilities. Congruently, third-party change agents are often driven by agendas, not necessarily in alignment with client organizations (Haider & Kreps, 2004). Most participants cited the value of the data they receive via these interpersonal interactions but also stressed that these dialogs provide opportunities for case organizations to provide practical feedback and product requirements to service providers.

As an example, from DOI, the persuasion phase represents the evolutionary evaluation efforts to gain insight into an innovation heading toward a decision (Haider & Kreps, 2004). This is a busy time for change agents trying to influence deliberations (Rogers, 2003). Unlike the knowledge phase, also from DOI, this phase is based more on

emotion than critical thinking as adopters actively seek information (El Shaban & Egbert, 2018). Rogers represented that specific communication channels and mediums, especially interpersonal ones, have more impact when evaluating information received. Thus, during the persuasion phase, the role of near peers and nonvendor third parties become increasingly important, e.g., assessing information accuracy, semantics and use of words, and attenuating bias (Rogers, 2003).

Two participants (C1P1 and C1P4) highlighted the fact that vendors seem to filter documentation stressing successes while limiting or not even reporting failures. This lack of visibility and forthrightness creates trust issues that can be challenging to overcome. Albee (2018) specifically addressed vendor content trust, reliability, and relevancy issues and observed that vendors must do a much better job to achieve better results. Moreover, Askalidis, Kim, and Malthouse (2017) explicitly highlighted techniques for overcoming online review bias. Ten participants stressed that they employ a trust but verify approach to service provider literature, using their organic resources, especially when it comes to service performance, cost, and service level agreement data. A great deal of hype is created when new services are brought to market, and at the enterprise level, it could be quite sometime before those services are mature enough to consume. Service-specific maturity issues are addressed in more detail below.

Beyond service providers, industry pundits are also heavily relied on as data sources, as stated by numerous participants with three (C1P2, C1P3, and C2P3) articulating specific bias concerns. The issue here is that pundits have mixed allegiances while trying to be viewed as being objective (Snapp, 2017a; Snapp, 2017b). Sponsored

content has the potential to introduce conflicts of interest and bias. Most pundits receive large streams of revenue from service providers and professional services vendors; thus, their content could be considered prejudiced (Snapp, 2017a; Snapp, 2017b).

Correspondingly, four participants (C1P1, C1P2, C1P6, and C2P2) expressed concern about how pundit service provider-related agendas may negatively impact their organizations. Given the high rates of change in the enterprise cloud realm, two participants (C3P3 and C3P4) expressed how, as a result, their relative level of unease often increases. Two additional participants (C1P1 and C1P4) went further stressing that it is nearly impossible to stay on top of the steady stream of content and that they are often overwhelmed and unable to absorb it all. Bear in mind that a large volume of published content may need to be waded through due to it being too dated or no longer relevant. This entire situation is further compounded by the presence of AI or robot-based content tools being used to auto-generate news (Jung, Song, Kim, Im, & Oh, 2017).

CSP selection, from TOE, is a challenging endeavor, especially for large enterprises. As represented in Table 1, CSP selection characterizes the difficulty associated with how specific, cloud-centric services are chosen to include which vendor(s) to leverage in the process. Service selection, as a theme, is discussed in detail below. For macro-level CSP selection decisions, a density issue exists, to include the resultant cumulative bias, which is further compounded by the sheer frequency of new service offerings, coupled with the variability in their configurations, as well as the everincreasing number of service providers entering the market. Accordingly, the volume of supporting content per service is daunting. Perception informs on mental models that can

be prejudiced by the unconscious ignoring of observed dissonant data (Thuraisingham, 2017).

Consequently, ingesting and making risk mitigated sense of this plethora of data requires a well-coordinated, highly communicative, enterprise-wide effort. DiPietro et al. (1990) acknowledged that social system communications could opportunistically influence or constraint knowledge sharing, transactions, and innovation. Top management must engage in guiding resources and guide decision deliberations.

Information sources, as depicted in Table 1, refers to the difficulty in accessing relevant service provider-related content as well as its relative complexity. Depending on the context of the decision to be made, specific information to help frame and adjudicate a decision could prove difficult both from access as well as technical interpretation perspectives. Other factors address expertise levels and organizational impact, but they are dependent on pertinent data. This relevancy issue is further compounded by potential bias impacting the sophisticated decision at hand. DiPietro et al. (1990) established, demonstrated in Yoo and Kim (2018), that technology support infrastructure embodies the quality and availability of technical information and capabilities as well as external resources. The more complex a technology context is, the higher the labor rates, training, and cost (Amini & Bakri, 2015; DiPietro et al., 1990). The resource cost associated with researching and evaluating the relative quality of cloud suppliers and services can be considerable. Thus, maintaining an understanding of technology supplier capabilities can help mitigate risk and optimize innovation adoption and diffusion decision process activities.

Though not mentioned frequently (Table 3), external social or collaboration, as depicted in Table 1, is nonetheless an essential factor. As revealed, both CSP selection and information sources are complex happenings. The ability to partner with third parties, whether they be a CSP, vendor, industry partner, competitor, or pundit, is critical to help weigh through the data and gain insight. External communication linkages exist to collaborate with third parties, collect information, and then make this information available to internal resources (DiPietro et al., 1990). Seven participants discussed how they leveraged service provider professional services as a means of piloting an offering or working through some information interpretation difficulties. For that reason, establishing and maintaining open internal and external communications channels can help mitigate risk and optimize innovation adoption and diffusion decision process activities.

Theme 3: Organizational Change Management

Organizational change management (OCM) concepts have been around for many years. OCM, as defined in Bögel, Pereverza, Upham, and Kordas (2019), can be represented as having three different views, namely the macro (system), meso (organization), and micro (individual) levels. Each level has its characteristics and organizational process implications (Bögel et al., 2019). For this study, the OCM theme focuses on the strategic transformational realm (e.g., macro and meso levels) rather than the more tactically focused project or micro level. More specifically, this study focuses on the enablement and operationalization of a complex, enterprise-centric IT cloud adoption and diffusion decision ecosystem. Seven of the thirteen conceptual framework

factors (Table 1) contribute evidence toward this theme, namely compatibility, internal social, complexity, organization readiness, top management support, risks, and size. Tables 3 and 6 depict the aggregated and relative evidentiary contributions of each of these attributes. All participants and 71 documents were leveraged to synthesize the following discussion. Study findings showed how organizational change management plays a vital role in formulating and executing enterprise; IT cloud adoption, and diffusion decision-making strategies.

Table 6
Frequency of Third Major Theme

	Pa	Participant		Document	
Major theme	Count	References	Count	References	
Organizational change					
Management	19	572	72	177	

Cameron and Green (2015) offered that leadership plays a critical role in facilitating large scale organizational change. As such, leadership needs to collectively address the following representative initiatives that could (and should) be contained within a comprehensive enterprise-class, IT cloud adoption and diffusion decision OCM program namely business case development, organizational design, talent and training management, operations management, agile adoption and propagation, software product line engineering, regulatory and compliance management, CICD process development, and governance establishment. Each of these initiatives has associated crucial enterprise-wide performance indicators that need to be tracked and reported on to help support internal alignment, evangelism, and resistance management efforts. In fast-moving

organizations, being able to effectively drive change while meeting ongoing revenue requirements requires leadership acumen, emphasis, and follow-through. Consequently, business and IT alignment are crucial in successfully enabling complicated organizational modernization efforts (Govindaraju, Akbar, & Suryadi, 2018).

Organizations do not remain static. Though seemingly stable, Rogers (2003) declared that organizations frequently innovate through a social system's culture. An organization's culture can negatively impact an organization's ability to absorb change and inhibit growth (Wisdom et al., 2014). Specific examples of cultural resistance include lack of innovation awareness or impact, lack of innovation-decision process skill and clarity, and finally, lack of rigor in the execution of the innovation adoption decision process itself (Wisdom et al., 2014). That said, 15 participants cited internal inertia as one of the most significant issues they needed to overcome for their cloud journeys to succeed. In some cases, the adoption of cloud was too disruptive to their roles and careers for some, so specific staff career-centric communications programs had to be developed to address the inertia offered C2P4. Organizational culture and resource constraints are two critical factors that impair a laggard's ability to innovate (Rogers, 2003).

Transforming an organization's culture is a tough thing to do. Not only is strong leadership and a well-defined future state required, but the appropriate resistance management strategy must also be employed. Sixteen participants stated that skill and role changes are required to combat legacy mental models, often leading to painful paradigm shifts. Dearing and Cox (2018) found that innovativeness reflects an adopter's change threshold and their readiness to absorb change. Trying to absorb too much change

at one time can lead to negative consequences. Thus, having a clear understanding of innovation process time and change management requirements can help optimize innovation adoption and diffusion decision processes and activities.

As previously mentioned, for an OCM program to be successful, ubiquitous metrics, or ways of measuring yourself, need to be defined and broadly socialized. To help facilitate collective OCM activities, emerging integrated reporting (IR) concepts may help quantify and socialize this data in a meaningful way (Perego, Kennedy, & Whiteman, 2016). Furthermore, leadership needs to engage to help evangelize and incentivize staff while expert process and business analysts undertake the day to day activities rolling out the new program. Individual leader acumen and personal presence can go a long way in influencing positive outcomes (Nohe & Michaelis, 2016). All participants except C2P5 and C3P6 commented on the net impact of OCM initiatives on an organization, especially its culture and staff. Six participants agreed that the development and institutionalization of a new organizational architecture are required. Advances in dynamic organizational alignment and role evolution can significantly impact positive change (Khan, Nicho, Takruri, Maamar, & Kamoun, 2019).

During this process, how the business and IT align is vital according to 14 of the participants. C1P6 took a thought-provoking position concerning IT alignment and customer service, stating that, in their opinion, the OCM issues being addressed in the large are so crucial that specific customer service performance does not matter.

Govindaraju et al. (2018) stressed the importance of business and IT alignment as well as highlighted the need for strong intraorganizational relationships. All the participants

except for C1P3 agreed that indeed, the cumulative impact on IT cloud-adoption centric OCM efforts, of the internal social factor (Table 1), is exceptionally high. IT cloud adoption efforts will necessitate the reengineering of long-term enterprise processes, such as ITIL, demanding further commitments from leadership to persevere and work through difficulties. Two participants (C1P3 and C3P4) suggested that a productivity function be created to drive value realization activities and ensure that the organization truly benefits from OCM programmatic activities. C3P2 cautioned that new processes need to be of the appropriate weight and rigor to support large-scale, enterprise agile disciplines.

Per Table 3, compatibility, or the impact on organizational culture and staff as well as interpretability issues (Table 1), was a dominant factor. From DOI, compatibility signifies the degree to which an innovation aligns with existing values, needs, and expectations of an adopting organization (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). The adoption and diffusion of IT cloud capabilities within the three case organizations introduced significant amounts of trauma, requiring that each organization mature and persist through the institutionalization efforts. Comparing and contrasting internal social and compatibility is a meaningful discussion. The need to make a change vice the impact of a change are two different things, but they are related in dominance concerning large-enterprise IT cloud adoption and diffusion data collection discussions. Organizational inertia does not subjectively change just because an environmental or technological change has been introduced (Wang et al., 2017). Overcoming organizational inertia was identified by many of the participants as one of the significant OCM hurdles they needed

to address as part of their cloud journey. The net result, mainly to staff, was considerably consisting primarily of organizational impact more so than interpretability issues.

The need for organizational adaptation and current business process change, referred to as internal social in Table 1, were dominant topics (Table 3) during the data collection process. A firm is comprised of a set of formal and informal structures and processes (Campbell & Dopico, 2016; DiPietro et al., 1990). Formal processes, as well as informal social norms, influence a firm's relative innovativeness (Kurnia et al., 2015). DiPietro et al. (1990) asserted that firms are not just stood up, but instead, they evolve as the impact of decisions and outcomes accrue over time. Accordingly, business transformation can be a traumatic event for an organization across multiple dimensions. Rogers warned, supported by Chandler and Hwang (2015), that internal social system pressure could unduly influence deciders toward a decision even if they remain uncertain. This latent pressure not only significantly affects the adoption rate but grows more significant as more decision-makers arrive at their conclusions (Chandler & Hwang, 2015; Rogers, 2003). Unplanned personnel issues could arise leading to organizational architecture adjustments.

Consequently, well-established business processes needed to be reengineered or retired while an array of new processes needed to be instantiated. Internally, DiPietro et al. (1990) advised, supported by Kim (2015), that a variety of techniques and communication methods can be employed to share information laterally. These methods help facilitate innovation adoption decisions and any subsequent diffusion activities as well as help firms absorb higher rates of information exchanges and adaptations (DiPietro

et al., 1990). For the three cases, the enterprise-level impact of this factor was considerable.

Complexity, as a significant factor (Table 3), is comprised of several attributes (Table 1). Complexity, or cumulatively, the lack of cloud environment knowledge, cloud cost management problems, lack of cloud service management skills, immaturity of the cloud, and base risk management played a considerable role in each participant's dialog. From DOI, complexity signifies the degree to which an innovation is deemed to be easily understood or used (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). Complexity calculations are modified, up or down, by the impact severity of a social systems' skills availability and supplemental training requirements (Oliveira et al., 2014). Thus, complexity rating, e.g., from low to high, informs both the innovation adoption decision process as well as its potential adoption rate (Rogers, 2003). Despite being in the market for quite a few years, cloud services are still a relatively new endeavor, which many feel are more complex than their current solutions (Wang et al., 2017). Thus, at the enterprise-scale, levels of complexity increase exponentially. The amount of time invested by each of the case organizations is considerable, whereby entire departments have been allocated to prosecuting many of the issues that arise from this factor.

Organization readiness, as depicted in Table 1, refers to the level of expertise that may exist in an organization. Beyond just expertise, readiness could be considered to be a combination of top management support, organizational capability, and policy (Alrawahna, Hung, & Chen, 2018). Organizational readiness could also be defined as resource availability, operational flexibility and maturity, and collective willingness and

propensity (Shahrasbi & Rohani, 2018). Accordingly, the internal dynamics of a firm are essential. DiPietro et al. (1990) represented, supported by Queen and Fasipe (2015), that the TOE management structure complexity characteristic also embodies a firm's command and control structures (e.g., hierarchies and authority), social system influences, occupational specialties/ expertise, and employee professionalism. Expertise in either acquired or grown. All three case organizations were highly committed to developing their talent vice outsourcing and losing the intellectual capital that could be gained through their IT cloud adoption and diffusion journeys. At the enterprise level, to operate at scale, breadth of talent is required to be is spread appropriately throughout the organization to achieve holistic successes. Pocket based successes may be excellent for small or medium-sized corporations, but operating at scale requires a broader base.

Much has already been said regarding top management support from a higherorder theme perspective. At the individual factor level, top management support (Table 1)
represents how leadership helps define and establish an organization's posture.

Competitiveness, in this study's construct, represents how aggressively cloud-based
paradigms are going to be considered and ultimately implemented and an outsourcing
sensitive culture adopted. Trust is both organizational as well as personal. Trusting a third
party to take on and run a significant piece of functionality for a corporation is not a
trivial matter, nor is establishing trust between individuals, both internally and externally.

Top leadership, opinion leaders, and peer networks play central roles in facilitating lateral
information exchange, innovation adoption decision, and diffusion activities (Baker,
2011). How mature, or not, an organization can become a function of how vested,

cognitive, and engaged senior leaders are in the technologies, processes, and people (Almubarak, 2017; Wang et al., 2017).

Vendor lock-in, data security, privacy, and data confidentiality are all serious cloud adoption concerns (Almubarak, 2017). Per Table 3, risks were not a primary driver and came up infrequently during data collection. Though, as attributes of risks per Table 1, privacy and loss of control concerns existed, vendor lock-in seemed to dominate this factor's contribution to the evidence. Security, in the large, was discussed broadly by all the participants, with many stressing that security incorporation into a cloud strategy realization plan is a mandatory requirement. That said, much of the security and nonvendor lock-in discussion was attributed to other factors such as compatibility and complexity as these were more appropriate to the content's context than risks were. Concerning vendor lock-in, a comprehensive multi-cloud strategy, discussed in more detail below, was broadly recommended as a means of mitigating this concern.

Firm size has an impact on innovation activities. Larger firms are more likely to be active innovation adopters (Baker, 2011; DiPietro et al., 1990). From TOE, size, as an aggregate index, is not a good indicator of a firm's relative innovativeness based on how the relative value of size is derived (e.g., gross revenue, number of employees, profit levels) (DiPietro et al., 1990). Both Baker (2011) and Jeng and Pak (2014) confirmed that size does not necessarily correlate to relative innovativeness. DiPietro et al. (1990) found that despite the variances in its derivation, size is a meaningful descriptor (irrespective of its measure) to differentiate classes of firms, relative to each other. Understanding and normalizing size factors within an industry may help provide some industry-specific

innovation adoption insight. In this case, all three of the case organizations have revenues above \$5 billion. Each possesses vast arrays of transactional and historical data. Size, according to Table 1, refers to the difficulties associated with migrating large volumes of data. As demonstrated in Table 3, size is not a major contributing factor but is a constraint. As a derived requirement, size needs to be considered with every planning and service decision. The ability to even adopt a service is constrained by that service's ability to operate at the scale necessary to address size-related issues.

Theme 4: Governance at Scale

For this study, the governance at scale theme refers to the design, establishment, and operations of an enterprise-class corporate governance body capable of driving and administering a sophisticated IT cloud adoption and diffusion decision-making ecosystem. Enterprise cloud governance refers to the creation and realization of business value, derived from the use of cloud services while optimizing investment and risk (Karkošková & Feuerlicht, 2016). Seven of the thirteen conceptual framework factors (Table 1) contribute evidence toward this theme, namely top management support, organizational readiness, risks, internal social, compatibility, regulation, and complexity. Tables 3 and 7 depict the aggregated and relative evidentiary contributions of each of these attributes. All participants and 72 documents were leveraged to synthesize the following discussion. Study findings showed how governance at scale plays a critical role in formulating and executing enterprise IT cloud adoption and diffusion decision-making strategies.

Table 7

Frequency of Fourth Major Theme

	Participant		Document		
Major theme	Count	References	Count	References	
Governance at scale	19	569	72	177	

The centralization descriptor addresses the complexities of centralized versus decentralized decision-making bodies, while the management structure complexity characteristic addresses the intricacies of a firm's management structure (DiPietro et al., 1990). DiPietro et al. (1990) represented that the management structure complexity characteristic also embodies a firm's command and control structures (e.g., hierarchies and authority), social system influences, occupational specialties/expertise, and employee professionalism. The formalization characteristic addresses the degree to which firms adhere to established rules and procedures (DiPietro et al., 1990; Rhee et al., 2017). The aggregation of these characteristics collectively informs the innovation decision-making processes (DiPietro et al., 1990; Yudho et al., 2016).

A governance function is an essential component of leading an enterprise-centric IT cloud program, mainly by providing executive-level oversight and guidance (Schmidt, Wood, & Grabski, 2016). That said, eleven participants discussed the importance of developing a robust, principle-based cloud governance model that defines guardrails, metrics (standards and denominators for metrics and telemetry package definitions), and processes. Sixteen participants discussed the establishment of the governance program mainly focusing on its operations and its centrality. According to participants, in order to operate within an enterprise, at scale, some measure of centralization, even if merely to

set standards and establish principles, was required. C1P5 strongly suggested that business-IT alignment and joint prioritization needs to be established early in the process. Nonetheless, the governance model may execute in a federated manner, with various levels of autonomy to be granted as a function of individual group innovativeness and skill. A networked governance model may be viable for some large, federated organizations (Ojo & Mellouli, 2018).

While pockets of internal governance resistance may exist, 12 participants stressed how establishing guardrails were an essential aspect of agility enablement and that controls are required to address the chaos and strike a balanced posture. According to S3P3, based on the maturity level of the groups in question, explanations may be required to satisfy highly-skilled, opinionated thought leaders. The purpose of the governance program is to enable potentially thousands of developers while not bogging them down with needless process (Bass, 2015). Further, four participants (C1P2, C3P1, C3P2, and C3P4) stressed the importance of creating and enabling self-sufficient teams who are not inhibited by slow or nonrelevant processes. C3P3 backed this observation but further stated that this is a daily struggle. However, to operate at scale, individual trade spaces need to exist (Bass & Haxby, 2019).

Conversely, just spawning off discrete agile-based efforts and claiming victory was strongly advised against by two participants (C2P2 and C3P6) as the downstream cost of recombining all the snowflakes together could be both cost and organizational focus prohibitive. Examining enterprise characteristics are suggested to help address the complexities associated with implementing such a multifaceted program. More directly,

C2P2 stressed the importance of leveraging artificial intelligence and machine learning to derive better answers from data being collected. Additionally, ten participants stated that dealing with estate intricacies and size is critical when trying to stand up an extensive governance program successfully. Additionally, five participants cautioned that multicloud management constructs must be accounted for when designing an enterprise-class governance program.

Streamlining processes is essential to help facilitate adoption and adherence was suggested by three participants (C1P1, C1P2, and C1P4). Bass (2015) suggested that product owners play an important role in facilitating the overall governance process. Six participants acknowledged that the passage of time (and pacing) could have a significant impact on risk management and decisioning. Evidence suggested that being able to step back and understand the entire governance ecosystem, to include visualizing how the various parts relate and communicate with one another, is vital when designing and standing up an enterprise governance program.

At the individual factor level, top management support (Table 1) represents how leadership helps establish an organization's posture. Competitiveness, in this study's construct, represents how aggressively cloud-based paradigms are going to be considered and ultimately implemented and an outsourcing sensitive culture adopted. Trading partner support is an essential aspect of cloud competitiveness (Gangwar et al., 2015). Trust is both organizational as well as personal. Trusting a third-party service provider to take on and run a significant piece of functionality for a corporation is not a trivial matter, nor is establishing trust between individuals both internally and externally (Rahi et al.,

2017). How mature, or not, an organization can become is a function of how vested and engaged senior leaders are in the technologies, processes, and people (Heavin & Power, 2018). Deficient top management support will lead to significant negative consequences (Alreemy, Chang, Walters, & Wills, 2016).

Organization readiness, as depicted in Table 1, refers to the level of expertise that may exist in an organization. Beyond just expertise, readiness could be considered to be a combination of top management support, organizational capability, and policy (Alrawahna et al., 2018). Organizational readiness could also be defined as resource availability, operational flexibility and maturity, and collective willingness and propensity (Shahrasbi & Rohani, 2018). Accordingly, the internal dynamics of a firm are essential. DiPietro et al. (1990) represented, supported by Queen and Fasipe (2015), that the TOE management structure complexity characteristic also embodies a firm's command and control structures (e.g., hierarchies and authority), social system influences, occupational specialties/ expertise, and employee professionalism. Expertise is either acquired or grown. All three case organizations were highly committed to developing their talent vice outsourcing and losing the intellectual capital that could be gained through their IT cloud adoption and diffusion journeys. At the enterprise level, to operate at scale, breadth of capability is required to ensure the talent is spread appropriately throughout the organization to achieve holistic successes. Pocket based successes may be excellent for small or medium-sized corporations, but operating at scale requires a broader base.

Vendor lock-in, data security, privacy, and data confidentiality are all serious cloud adoption concerns (Almubarak, 2017). Per Table 3, risks were not a primary driver and came up infrequently during data collection. Though, as attributes of risks per Table 1, privacy and loss of control concerns existed, vendor lock-in seemed to dominate this factor's contribution to the evidence. Security, in the large, was discussed broadly by all the participants, with many stressing that security incorporation into a cloud strategy realization plan is a mandatory requirement. That said, much of the security and nonvendor lock-in discussion was attributed to other factors such as compatibility and complexity as these were more appropriate to the content's context than risks were. Concerning vendor lock-in, a comprehensive multi-cloud strategy, discussed in more detail below, was broadly recommended as a means of mitigating this concern.

The need for organizational adaptation and current business process change, referred to as internal social in Table 1, were dominant topics (Table 3) during the data collection process. A firm is comprised of a set of formal and informal structures and processes (Campbell & Dopico, 2016; DiPietro et al., 1990). Formal processes, as well as informal social norms, influence a firm's relative innovativeness (Kurnia et al., 2015). DiPietro et al. (1990) asserted that firms are not just stood up, but instead, they evolve as the impact of decisions and outcomes accrue over time. Accordingly, business transformation is a traumatic event for an organization across multiple dimensions. Rogers warned, supported by Chandler and Hwang (2015), that internal social system pressure could unduly influence deciders toward a decision even if they remain uncertain. This latent pressure not only significantly affects the adoption rate but grows more

significant as more decision-makers arrive at their conclusions (Chandler & Hwang, 2015; Rogers, 2003). Unplanned personnel issues could arise leading to organizational architecture adjustments. Well established business processes needed to be reengineered or retired while an array of new processes needed to be instantiated. Internally, DiPietro et al. (1990) advised, supported by Kim (2015), that a variety of techniques and communication methods can be employed to share information laterally. These methods help facilitate innovation adoption decisions and any subsequent diffusion activities as well as help firms absorb higher rates of information exchanges and adaptations (DiPietro et al., 1990). For the three cases, the enterprise-level impact of this factor was considerable.

Per Table 3, compatibility, or the impact on organizational culture and staff as well as interpretability issues (Table 1), was a dominant factor. From DOI, compatibility signifies the degree to which an innovation aligns with existing values, needs, and expectations of an adopting organization (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). The adoption and diffusion of IT cloud capabilities within the three case organizations introduced significant amounts of trauma, requiring that each organization mature and persist through the institutionalization efforts. Comparing and contrasting internal social and compatibility is a meaningful discussion. The need to make a change vice the impact of a change are two different things, but they are related in dominance concerning large-enterprise IT cloud adoption and diffusion data collection discussions. Organizational inertia does not subjectively change just because an environmental or technological change has been introduced (Wang et al., 2017). Overcoming organizational inertia was

identified by many of the participants as one of the significant OCM hurdles they needed to address as part of their cloud journey. The net result, mainly to staff, was considerably consisting primarily of organizational impact more so than interpretability issues.

Law and regulation changes impact innovation. Classes of regulatory activities that significantly impact innovation adoption are economic, social, and institutional regulations (Blind et al., 2017; DiPietro et al., 1990). Government regulatory activity, such as new constraints or levying new technology requirements, can significantly impact an entire industry and its innovation activities (Amini & Bakri, 2015; Baker, 2011). Economic regulations include antitrust, merger and acquisitions, price, monopolies, and compliance reporting (DiPietro et al., 1990). Social regulations include environmental protection, worker's health and safety, product and consumer safety, and personal privacy (DiPietro et al., 1990). Institutional regulations include liability law, employment protection, immigration law, bankruptcy laws, and intellectual property rights (DiPietro et al., 1990). Maintaining an accurate understanding of relevant regulatory activity can help mitigate risk and optimize resource expenditures.

Complexity, as a significant factor (Table 3), is comprised of several attributes (Table 1). Complexity, or cumulatively, the lack of cloud environment knowledge, cloud cost management problems, lack of cloud service management skills, immaturity of the cloud, and base risk management played a considerable role in each participant's dialog. From DOI, complexity signifies the degree to which an innovation is deemed to be easily understood or used (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). Complexity calculations are modified, up or down, by the impact severity of a social systems' skills availability and supplemental

training requirements (Oliveira et al., 2014). Thus, complexity rating, e.g., from low to high, informs both the innovation adoption decision process as well as its potential adoption rate (Rogers, 2003).

Consequently, the cost management discussion alone was quite significant as were conversations regarding the lack of skills and knowledge issues. Despite being in the market for quite a few years, cloud services are still a relatively new endeavor that many feel are more complex than their current solutions (Wang et al., 2017). Thus, at the enterprise-scale, levels of complexity increase exponentially. The amount of time invested by each of the case organizations is considerable, whereby entire departments have been allocated to prosecuting many of the issues that arise from this factor.

Theme 5: Service Selection

Within this study, service selection refers to the organizational structure, enterprise processes, criteria, and heuristics required to make discrete service provider service selection or adoption decisions. Services consumed could range from very course-grained SaaS services, medium-grained on and off-premise PaaS and IaaS based services, all the way down to event-driven services that could include microservices as well as serverless capabilities. These fine-grained services are often referred to as Function as a Service (FaaS). More specifically, service selection refers to the act of deciding what service to consume, from whom, over what channels, following what service level agreements. A sourcing strategy, as a starting place, was recommended by 11 participants to help capture and articulate decision-making heuristics. All 13 of the conceptual framework factors (Table 1) contribute evidence toward this theme. Tables 3 and 8 depict

the aggregated and relative evidentiary contributions of each of these attributes. All participants and 89 documents were leveraged to synthesize the following discussion. Study findings showed how service selection plays a mandatory role in formulating and executing enterprise IT cloud adoption and diffusion decision-making strategies.

Table 8

Frequency of Fifth Major Theme

	Par	Participant		Document	
Major theme	Count	References		Count	References
Service selection	19	750		99	219

However, what is a sourcing strategy? As represented in Schneider and Sunyaev (2016), a cloud sourcing strategy could be comprised of vendor characteristics and performance, decision process, scope, governance mode, asset ownership assumptions, multicloud topology mode (e.g., combination of what vendors or capabilities if more than one is involved), outsourcing degree, contractual mode, market environmental considerations, network access requirements, service level agreements, and resource management. Johansson and Muhic (2017) cautioned, based on the results of their cloud sourcing literature review, that this topic is still immature and in need of additional research. Thus, following the lead of those who have been successful can help mitigate a considerable amount of risk.

In the establishment of a baseline sourcing strategy, nine participants suggested adopting a multi-cloud strategy from the start. Multicloud, in this case, could be any combination of CSP providers, on-premise private cloud capabilities, hybrid cloud, as

well as SaaS consumption. Future multi-cloud deployment support dictates that enterprises must consider different architectures and their implications (Dhirani, Newe, & Nizamani, 2018). The rationale behind assuming such a stance is that most organizations have either proactively chosen such or have inadvertently backed into a multi-cloud stance, even if by accident, because of individual business unit level decisions.

Six participants stated that deciding whether to instantiate a service on-premise or go off-premise is already a difficult decision. To further exacerbate adoption decision complexity is the analysis of which CSP vendor to go with as well as what combination of services is required. As represented in Lang, Wiesche, and Krcmar (2016), specific CSP selection criteria could be comprised of certifications, contract terms, access control, deployment model, flexibility, functionality, service geolocation, integration, legal compliance, monitoring, support, solution testing, and transparency. Thus, the design, realization, and configuration of many service selection efforts are quite elaborate. This convolutedness is further exacerbated if financial models are the sole or at least primary basis driving service selection decisions. Intangibles such as agility, ease of use, supportability, operational overhead, possible innovation rates, and other such competitive differentiators could be left out of the equation entirely. Having staff with the right technical acumen engage is vital according to C2P1. While C1P4 cautioned further that making an actual selection is just the starting point, a considerable amount of work is required to operationalize a service once a contract is signed.

All but two participants (C1P2 and C2P3) highlighted the specific value of handson knowledge acquisition as part of the due diligence process. The ability to test and proof out a capability, to include its possible configurations, are invaluable as firms consider if it even works, solves the problem, has measurable results, is secure, and can scale appropriately. This trialability construct is often a critical path for complex service deliberation, primarily if a lot of integrations, strategic interactions, or performance characteristics exist. Three participants (C1P4, C3P1, and C3P2) suggested that industry proof points should also be considered as part of the process. Synergy Research Group (2017) identified 24 hyperscalers or cloud service operators owning datacenters housing hundreds of thousands, or even millions, of servers such as Microsoft, Google, Amazon, and IBM. C3P1 went further suggesting not to write off smaller CSPs too readily; they may offer increased agility, flexibility, and value-add as the hyperscalers try to maintain broad applicability stances.

Concerning PaaS-based services, three participants (C2P1, C3P2, and C3P4) suggested that open source could be an attractive alternative because it is considered very agile and often has low licensing fees though supporting surround may be weaker requiring an investment in tooling and support. That said, four participants (C2P1, C2P2, C2P5, and C3P4), backed by C3P3, noted that too many choices exist at times and that standards and decision aids may be required to drive choices.

All participants except C1P5 discussed strategy formation tactics to include outlining specific decision heuristics. For instance: Who makes individual decisions against what criteria? How are the decisions vetted and by whom? What are the cost and security implications as well as geographic and compliance concerns? How about service level agreements? Fourteen participants discussed their own perspectives regarding

topology requirements, ease of use, agility, and deployment speed, as well as supportability and cost management concerns as suggested key criteria areas. More specifically, participants C2P1, C2P4, and C3P4 consider what effort can be shifted to CSPs vice retained organically as part of their deliberations so they can focus on business value add vice things they no longer consider within their area of concern. Conversely, 12 participants discussed constraints such as service immaturity and enterprise consumption readiness. Twelve participants consider the resultant output value to business. Twelve participants also consider what skills exist and the available capacity as delimiters. C1P4 noted that contracting maturity, e.g. terms and conditions, liability clauses and incident reporting requirements were also important constraints. An example of a fine-grained requirement is C3P4 who observed that striping applications across on and off-premise capabilities is required, on occasion, to mitigate risk and improve performance. Accordingly, different availability and performance characteristics exist that drive topology considerations. Having such criteria included in an enterprise sourcing strategy may be beneficial to future-proofing service selection decisions.

Relative advantage signifies the degree to which an innovation is viewed to be better than an existing capability (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). From DOI, the derivation of this value is multidimensional and is comprised of contributions from the following aspects: economic, social prestige, convenience, satisfaction, and risk (Rogers, 2003). Whether a vast cost reduction is being sought, increased organizational bandwidth, or improved technical performance, the perceived relative advantage of an innovation, especially cloud, matters from an initial identification and concept consideration

perspective. Shuaib et al. (2019) asserted that relative advantage is a key cloud adoption determinant. But for this study, relative advantage, per Table 3, was not discussed much during the data collection process though it was stipulated often. Cost management discussed further below, seemed to dominate the relative advantage discourse considerably more than cost reduction. Agility discussions were far more frequent than any other relative advantage characteristic. The ability to quickly (and easily) do something, especially from a CICD perspective, was stressed to be of critical importance. As an innovation's relative advantage measures begin to emerge and stabilize, a clear and unambiguous advantage can inform evaluations and even possible adoption or rejection rates (Greenhalgh et al., 2004).

CSP selection, from TOE, is a challenging endeavor. As represented in Table 1, CSP selection is comprised of the difficulty associated with who chooses specific services to include which vendor to leverage in the process. This density issue is further compounded by the sheer rate of new service offerings, the variability in their configurations, and the ever-increasing number of service providers. Competition and service provider capability impact innovation adoption. DiPietro et al. (1990) acknowledged that social system communications could opportunistically influence or constraint knowledge sharing, transactions, and innovation. Further, external pressure can significantly inform a firm's desire to innovate (Chen et al., 2015).

Information sources, as depicted in Table 1, refers to the difficulty in accessing relevant service provider-related content as well as its relative complexity. Depending on the context of the decision to be made, specific information to help frame and adjudicate

a decision could prove difficult both from an access as well as technical interpretation perspectives. Other factors address expertise levels and organizational impact, but they are dependent on pertinent data. This relevancy issue is further compounded by potential bias impacting the sophistication level of the decision at hand. DiPietro et al. (1990) established, demonstrated in Yoo and Kim (2018), that technology support infrastructure embodies the quality and availability of technical information and capabilities as well as external resources. The more complex a technology context is, the higher the labor rates, training, and cost (Amini & Bakri, 2015; DiPietro et al., 1990). Thus, maintaining an understanding of technology supplier capabilities can help mitigate risk and optimize innovation adoption and diffusion decision process activities.

Organization readiness, as depicted in Table 1, refers to the level of expertise that may exist in an organization. The internal dynamics of a firm are essential. DiPietro et al. (1990) represented, supported by Queen and Fasipe (2015), that the TOE management structure complexity characteristic also embodies a firm's command and control structures (e.g., hierarchies and authority), social system influences, occupational specialties/ expertise, and employee professionalism. Expertise is either acquired or grown. All three case organizations were highly committed to developing their own talent vice outsourcing and losing the intellectual capital that could be gained through their IT cloud adoption and diffusion journeys. Beyond just expertise, readiness could be a combination of top management support, organizational capability, and policy (Alrawahna et al., 2018). Organizational readiness could also be defined as resource availability, operational flexibility and maturity, and collective willingness and

propensity (Shahrasbi & Rohani, 2018). At the enterprise level, to operate at scale, a breadth of capability is required to ensure the talent is spread appropriately throughout the organization to achieve holistic successes. Pocket based successes may be fine for small or medium-sized corporations but operating at scale requires a broader base.

Being able to proof a technology or service is hugely beneficial to the innovation adoption decisions especially in the IT cloud space. Trialability signifies the degree to which an innovation can be experimented with (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). The ability to prove a concept reduces uncertainty and directly affects its adoption decision process (Greenhalgh et al., 2004). Thus trialability (Table 1), helps organizations touch and feel a service up close and gain a deeper understanding of its operational characteristics.

Observability signifies the degree to which others can scrutinize an innovation in action (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). Further, the ability to see the results of a concept, even if in someone else's setting, helps address uncertainty (Greenhalgh et al., 2004). Thus, different from observability, trialability affords an organization the opportunity to test drive a capability with its own data, within its own context. This subtle difference is of paramount importance though and is a critical aspect of case 2's IT cloud journey.

Vendor lock-in, data security, privacy, and data confidentiality are all serious cloud adoption concerns (Almubarak, 2017). Per Table 3, risks were not a primary driver and came up infrequently during data collection. Though, as attributes of risks per Table 1, privacy and loss of control concerns existed, vendor lock-in seemed to dominate this factor's contribution to the evidence. Security, in the large, was discussed broadly by all the participants with many stressing that security incorporation into a cloud strategy

realization plan is a mandatory requirement. That said, much of the security and nonvendor lock-in discussion was attributed to other factors, such as compatibility and complexity, as these were more appropriate to the content's context than risks were. With respect to vendor lock-in, a comprehensive multicloud strategy, discussed in more detail below, was broadly recommended as a means of mitigating this concern.

The need for organizational adaptation and current business process change, referred to as internal social in Table 1, were dominant topics (Table 3) during the data collection process. A firm is comprised of a set of formal and informal structures and processes (Campbell & Dopico, 2016; DiPietro et al., 1990). Formal processes, as well as informal social norms, influence a firm's relative innovativeness (Kurnia et al., 2015). DiPietro et al. (1990) asserted that firms are not just stood up, but instead, they evolve as the impact of decisions and outcomes accrue over time. Accordingly, business transformation is a traumatic event for an organization across multiple dimensions. Rogers warned, supported by Chandler and Hwang (2015), that internal social system pressure could unduly influence deciders toward a decision even if they remain uncertain. This latent pressure not only significantly affects adoption rate but grows more significant as more decision-makers arrive at their own conclusions (Chandler & Hwang, 2015; Rogers, 2003). Unplanned personnel issues could arise leading to organizational architecture adjustments. Well established business processes needed to be reengineered or retired while an array of new processes needed to be instantiated. Internally, DiPietro et al. (1990) advised, supported by Kim (2015), that a variety of techniques and communication methods can be employed to laterally share information. These methods

help facilitate innovation adoption decisions and any subsequent diffusion activities as well as help firms absorb higher rates of information exchanges and adaptations (DiPietro et al., 1990). For the three cases, the enterprise-level impact of this factor was considerable.

Per Table 3, compatibility, or the impact on organizational culture and staff as well as interpretability issues (Table 1), was a dominant factor. From DOI, compatibility signifies the degree to which an innovation aligns with existing values, needs, and expectations of an adopting organization (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). The adoption and diffusion of IT cloud capabilities within the three case organizations introduced significant amounts of trauma requiring that each organization mature and persist through the institutionalization efforts. Comparing and contrasting internal social and compatibility is a meaningful discussion. The need to make a change vice the impact of a change are obviously two different things, but they are related in dominance with respect to large-enterprise IT cloud adoption and diffusion data collection discussions. Organizational inertia does not subjectively change just because an environmental or technological change has been introduced (Wang et al., 2017). Overcoming organizational inertia was identified by many of the participants as one of the significant OCM hurdles they needed to address as part of their cloud journey. The net result, especially to staff, was considerably consisting primarily of organizational impact more so than interpretability issues.

Law and regulation changes impact innovation. Classes of regulatory activities that significantly impact innovation adoption are economic, social, and institutional

regulations (Blind et al., 2017; DiPietro et al., 1990). Government regulatory activity, such as new constraints or levying new technology requirements, can significantly impact an entire industry and its innovation activities (Amini & Bakri, 2015; Baker, 2011). Economic regulations include antitrust, merger and acquisitions, price, monopolies, and compliance reporting (DiPietro et al., 1990). Social regulations include environmental protection, workers' health and safety, product and consumer safety, and personal privacy (DiPietro et al., 1990). Institutional regulations include liability law, employment protection, immigration law, bankruptcy laws, and intellectual property rights (DiPietro et al., 1990). Maintaining an accurate understanding of relevant regulatory activity can help mitigate risk and optimize resource expenditures.

Complexity, as a significant factor (Table 3), is comprised of several attributes (Table 1). Complexity, or cumulatively, the lack of cloud environment knowledge, cloud cost management problems, lack of cloud service management skills, immaturity of the cloud, and base risk management played a considerable role in each participant's dialog. From DOI, complexity signifies the degree to which an innovation is deemed to be easily understood or used (Kee, 2017; Rogers, 2003). Complexity calculations are modified, up or down, by the impact severity of a social systems' skills availability and supplemental training requirements (Oliveira et al., 2014). Thus, complexity rating, e.g., from low to high, informs both the innovation adoption decision process as well as its potential adoption rate (Rogers, 2003).

Consequently, the cost management discussion alone was quite significant, as were conversations regarding the lack of skills and knowledge issues. Despite being in

the market for quite a few years, cloud services are still a relatively new endeavor that many feel are more complex than their current solutions (Wang et al., 2017). Thus, at the enterprise-scale, levels of complexity increase exponentially. The amount of time invested by each of the case organizations is considerable, whereby entire departments have been allocated to prosecuting many of the issues that arise from this factor.

Firm size has an impact on innovation activities. Larger firms are more likely to be active innovation adopters (Baker, 2011; DiPietro et al., 1990). From TOE, size, as an aggregate index, is not a good indicator of a firm's relative innovativeness based on how the relative value of size is derived (e.g., gross revenue, number of employees, profit levels) (DiPietro et al., 1990). Both Baker (2011) and Jeng and Pak (2014) confirmed that size does not necessarily correlate to relative innovativeness. DiPietro et al. (1990) found that despite the variances in its derivation, size is a meaningful descriptor (irrespective of its measure) to differentiate classes of firms, relative to each other. Understanding and normalizing size factors within an industry may help provide some industry-specific innovation adoption insight. In this case, all three of the case organizations have revenues above \$5 billion. Each possesses vast arrays of transactional and historical data. Size, according to Table 1, refers to the difficulties associated with migrating large volumes of data. As demonstrated in Table 3, size is not a major contributing factor but is a constraint. As a derived requirement, size needs to be considered with every planning and service decision. The ability to even adopt a service is constrained by that service's ability to operate at the scale necessary to address size-related issues.

Though not mentioned frequently (Table 3), external social or collaboration as depicted in Table 1, is nonetheless an essential factor. As revealed, both CSP selection and information sources are complex happenings. The ability to partner with third parties, whether they be a CSP, vendor, industry partner, competitor, or pundit, is critical to help weigh through the data and gain insight. External communication linkages exist to collaborate with third parties, collect information, and then make this information available to internal resources (DiPietro et al., 1990). Seven participants discussed how they leveraged service provider professional services as a means of piloting an offering or working through some information interpretation difficulties. For that reason, establishing and maintaining open internal and external communications channels can help mitigate risk and optimize innovation adoption and diffusion decision process activities.

Much has already been said regarding top management support from a higherorder theme perspective. At the individual factor level, top management support (Table 1)
represents how leadership helps define and establish an organization's posture.

Competitiveness, in this study's construct, represents how aggressively cloud-based
paradigms are going to be considered and ultimately implemented and an outsourcing
sensitive culture adopted. Trust is both organizational as well as personal. Trusting a third
party to take on and run a significant piece of functionality for a corporation is not a
trivial matter, nor is establishing trust between individuals, both internally and externally.

Top leadership, opinion leaders, and peer networks play central roles in facilitating lateral
information exchange, innovation adoption decision, and diffusion activities (Baker,

2011). How mature, or not, an organization can become a function of how vested, cognitive, and engaged senior leaders are in the technologies, processes, and people (Almubarak, 2017; Wang et al., 2017).

The five findings, specifically top management support, information source bias, organizational change management, governance at scale, and service selection, are all indispensable components of how IT executives make advantageous enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decisions. Each finding, in isolation, plays a vital role in the IT cloud adoption decision process, but jointly, they inform a comprehensive strategy that both strengthens and industrializes individual and collective decisions. Enterprise-scale operations command quick cycle times. Consequently, employing a rich set of efficient, risk-managed IT cloud adoption and diffusion decision processes is vital.

Applications to Professional Practice

The following discourse is meant to address the specific IT problem identified in the problem statement, namely that some IT executives lack strategies to make advantageous enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decisions. Participants in the study provided strategies that IT executives could use to make advantageous enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decisions.

Perhaps contrary to popular social media content, many of this study's participants suggested the best way to start a cloud journey is by boldly committing wholly to the pursuit. The organizations being a unicorn mindset must go according to C2P1. Furthermore, C2P1 stated that software-defined everything is disrupting every industry, and that cloud is in every organization's future. Additionally, citing projects that

spanned many years, participants laid bare the expensive lessons learned associated with aiming too low, spread over too long a time. Not a single participant argued against taking bite-sized steps, but the need is great to start with something highly relevant to stakeholders to ensure complete commitment to its unbridled success. C2P5 certainly backed this suggestion.

Consequently, smaller, nonrelevant efforts may fail due to a lack of urgency and apathy. Likewise, participants recommended starting with a new cloud-native capability, not with the lifting and shifting of a legacy application. The net new capability will provide far more valuable insights quicker.

Of supreme importance, when making IT cloud adoption and diffusion decisions are the ability to fail quickly, adapt, and iterate. Exhibiting agility and persistence in this manner will help focus efforts and improve incremental success rates. By starting to anticipate failures, adjustment plans can be made ready to execute quickly. One of the sacrifices required to operate in this manner effectively is the willingness to declare something good enough to implement. The handwringing over what is complete or polished enough to deploy could negatively impact the more substantial opportunity that is to try new concepts to gauge their relative acceptance levels.

As part of deploying increments of functionality, as is the new development operations-driven manner, it is crucial to understand a capability's derived and nonfunctional requirements, especially availability and scalability. The proper deployment, security, network controls, and functionality is critical toward not only

enabling capabilities that can effectively scale, but that is also secure and compliant enough to protect your corporate assets.

Staff development is imperative toward achieving long-term, IT cloud innovation adoption successes. According to C3P2, large firms can undoubtedly engage consultants to address gaps, but leveraging organic personnel will help retain intellectual capital and achieve meaningful successes quicker. Resist the urge to outsource strategic decision-making capabilities, instead invest in training and continually develop organic assets. Organizational developers and other process participants could significantly enhance cloud journeys. Bottoms up innovations, created by these resources, can significantly impact operations enabling much higher and quicker returns. As a result, in developing employee skills, the likelihood of successful IT cloud innovation adoptions is increased. C1P6 offered that individual developers, with their intimate knowledge of the environment, can create new capabilities that can pointedly positively impact the business.

Broad organizational communications, at relatively high frequency, increase the probability of such an initiative's success, because the wide-ranging distribution of strategy, status, and metric performance data are significant, especially in trying to overcome internal inertia and solidify collective buy-in. Personnel who are experiencing unease will find the frequent communications of immense value while they continue to resolve newer cloud paradigms in their minds. Analytics-driven dashboards are one mechanism to communicate statistical data, especially financials, while blogging can be used to convey textual strategic and organizational messaging. Such techniques allow

individuals to employ their initiative and acquire information in forms conducive to their learning styles.

Large enterprises consume vast amounts of resource. It is unlikely that any one enterprise will be wholly dedicated to a single CSP. The assumption of a comprehensive multi-cloud strategy is required from the start to address organizational risk. Multicloud can be defined as any combination of on and off-premise compute capabilities and SaaS services. This includes all private, hybrid, hyperscalers, SaaS suppliers (e.g., SAP, Salesforce, Ariba, amongst many others) and smaller, industry-specific CSPs. Adopting a multicloud strategy is integral to your success as it affects much of your sourcing strategy as well as principle and architectural designs, processes, and implementation choices.

Further, the development of a mature shared services model will help facilitate sourcing and PaaS targeting decisions. Gaining a clear understanding of your portfolio estate is essential as data, analytics, and application clustering considerations must be factored into all your target topology assumptions and principles. At times the imposition of abstractions (e.g., monitoring, logging, alerting, and security) will be required to handle enterprise-level CSP operational management better.

Large enterprises, dependent on their cloud-first strategy decisions, will still retain some measure of on-premise capability whether it resides in an organic or collocated data center. This is not a negative. To the contrary, this affords a level of choice that better serves capability deployment targeting decision heuristics though the additional complexity must be accounted for. In capitalization-centric industries, this can help support CAPEX requirements while also enabling OPEX based operations. As related in

the service selection theme, beyond cost, how latency affects application topology decisions becomes a factor as do other intangible considerations such as ease of support, agility, potential rate of innovation, amongst others. Given how cloud cost is computed and potential sunk cost investments, moving every capability to the cloud may not make business sense. In such cases, both private and hybrid cloud solutions play an essential enablement role, especially as enterprise tooling (e.g., deployment, monitoring, logging, and capacity management tools) becomes increasingly ubiquitous.

Cost reduction is often centered on competitive differentiation while cost management is an operational necessity that happens to also provides for some competitive advantage. Each participant spoke to the need to understand, quantify, and forecast deployment cost scenarios as part of their adoption, and continued leveraging, of different capabilities. Cost management, from a complexity perspective, is quite involved and is a multidimensional problem. Only moving applications to the cloud is frequently cost-prohibitive. The nature by which cloud costs are incurred could overwhelm OPEX budgets unless cost optimization tactics are employed. Certainly, reserved instance (RI) arbitraging can be employed, but a series of other right-sizing, tuning, elasticity changes and configuration setting adjustments must be made to appropriately (and iteratively) optimize deployments. Managing cloud cost is a daily occurrence in large enterprises similar in construct to a day-trader, according to C1P3, whereby cloud workload can be moved around based on spot pricing. At scale, a comprehensive tagging and charge-back management system are required to close-loop and trace cloud resource consumption issues.

Multicloud strategies, especially within large enterprises, require that portfolio views of CSP and SaaS vendor capabilities be created and maintained. These points of view need to be updated regularly to keep pace with the high rates of change in the cloud product space. These portfolio views help supplement sourcing strategies and decisions as well as become a source of truth that documents an organizationally-centric perspective of different vendors' service roadmaps and their relative maturity. Without maintaining such perspectives, each decision would require an inordinate amount of due diligence and proofing that may increase decision risk significantly if not adequately prosecuted.

When operating at scale, both automation and artificial intelligence (AI) is indispensable. These concepts go well beyond merely reducing human touches, being able to process provisioning requests, error and configuration management as well as enabling real-time operational resource management is crucial. Numerous participants discussed how automated CICD processes were table stakes now from a product inception and deployment perspective. Enabling automated self-service both from a development as well as end-user perspectives is also considered a baseline capability. When thousands of developers and tens of thousands of users are involved, the scale is essential. Automation is required to achieve that scale. Indeed, this means that numerous job functions must change to include automation development skills and practices. As one participant stated, doing more with less is a requirement in a cloud-first, enterprise-scale environment.

Lastly, from an organizational perspective, aligning capabilities within the organization is essential. As evidenced, maintaining competing teams, e.g., one legacy versus one cloud, can be incredibly divisive. The level of competitiveness between the organizations can be remarkably defocusing in the large. It is better to merge legacy and cloud functions and update the organizational process rather than keep capabilities divided. If a sizeable private cloud capability exists, the choice of on and off-premise for a service is undoubtedly on the table. As such, each organization is now competing for that customer. Service selection bias can now be introduced based on the proclivities of the deciding person or entity. Thus, the level of infighting can be quite disruptive if left unaddressed.

Implications for Social Change

Given their prominence and vast resources, each case organization has entire departments solely dedicated to social change initiatives. Concerning this study, an implication for positive social change is that, by using this study's findings, IT telecom executives might be able to better optimize diffusion decisions to more significant benefit downstream consumers in need of their services. By adding to the existing body of knowledge, this study's findings may help enable higher cloud innovation implementation success rates. Further, this study may provide societal value by raising successful enterprise-scale, IT cloud adoption, and diffusion awareness. Many of the participants agree on some foundation forming findings that may help IT executives reevaluate their existing practices ultimately improving society's received telecom service value and enablement. Stakeholders for these telecom services include a broad

array of consumers to include many disadvantaged populations. By potentially increasing successful IT cloud adoption and diffusion decision rates, the material positive impact may be achieved.

Recommendations for Action

I explored strategies that IT executives use to make advantageous enterprise cloud innovation adoption and diffusion decisions. Study findings showed that successful enterprise-scale IT cloud adoption and diffusion decisions require significant organizational as well as technical investments of time, focus, and resources.

Top management support is required to effectively adopt and realize a successful IT cloud strategy in large enterprises. Furthermore, organizations and their leadership need to view cloud as being more than just another data center. As such, they need to define and articulate a clear vision that establishes strong end-goals and desired outcomes. Both brownfield and greenfield strategies need to be addressed to help expertly guide overarching, downstream decisions. Further, to be successful, organizations must be open to new business models, processes, technologies, and innovations. By making an all-in commitment, leaders can demonstrate their willingness to back decisions, even failures, and continue to persevere through challenges. Executive decrees may be required to help stimulate initial forays.

Information source bias exists and must be aggressively dealt with. Organizations must establish procedures for vetting service-based information and assumptions. Being sensitive to marketing hype, via organic corporate resources, adopting a trust but verify approach is essential to managing expectations and risk. Both short- and long-term

planning requires that accurate depictions of vendor services be maintained as living documents. Third-party agents, to include industry pundits, have agendas, taking time to assess the influence of these agendas of your organization is advised. Further, the procurement of different additional sources of vendor information can yield triangulation data that can be leveraged to help to mitigate potential vendor bias issues. Seeking other industry partners is recommended to address short-term strategy and decision risk.

A successful organizational change management program is essential, particularly to operate at scale. Overcoming internal IT cloud-adoption inertia is of primary concern. A systematic communications approach must be planned and executed, in addition to a steady resistance management regimen to address unease and facilitate buy-in. By proactively defining and communicating organizational architecture and job role changes, much of the culture and staff related impact can be dealt with aggressively. Leaving the communications to chance or under-appreciating the negative influence IT cloud adoption paradigm challenges can have on an organization increases uncertainty and stimulates chaos. The net importance of this issue was highly present during data collection and was often the primary organizational issue needing to be addressed. Steady leadership is required to help guide adoption and innovation decisions.

Successfully executing a sophisticated IT cloud adoption program at scale requires strong governance. The establishment of a principle-based governance body is crucial. Whether centrally or federally-based, being able to establish adequate guardrails and metrics, which can enable individual teams, is vital. Guardrail and controls design is an essential aspect of balanced, streamlined organizational agility enablement. To better

manage interaction complexities, taking a holistic view of the governance ecosystem, and its interdependencies are essential when designing and standing up an enterprise governance program.

Service selection is a complex, multidimensional problem within a large, multicloud-based enterprise. Development of a sourcing strategy, to include service selection decision and vetting heuristics, is a daunting, but required task. Determining what capabilities are deployed where, against what standards, service level agreements, and principles, is of paramount importance. Incorrectly targeting workloads can lead to a tremendous amount of rework, and lost time and resources. Organizations should ensure that an array of business and technical drivers, beyond cost alone, are considered as part of the capability selection process such as agility, availability, scalability, ease of use, supportability, possible innovation rate, and skills alignment. Trialability (and observability) of service should be considered as part of the service selection process.

This study should be relevant to enterprise-centric IT executives undertaking an IT cloud journey, especially those struggling to define and establish consistent innovation adoption efforts. As appropriate, I will disseminate results via literature, conferences, training, blogs, and my employment. Copies of the final study will be provided, via email, to all study stakeholders and participants.

Recommendations for Further Study

Multiple recommendations exist based on study limitations and findings. The limitations of this study include recall bias and the lack of qualitative research generalizability. During this qualitative collective case study, I examined three large

(revenues greater than \$5 billion) telecom-related companies with a headquarters in the United States. The first set of recommendations is for researchers to conduct additional qualitative studies of similar study design, with other telecom organizations, of varying sizes, to compare findings. This will help address both potential recall bias issues as well as help address generalizability concerns. Researchers could also explore similarly size companies, in different industries, (e.g., finance, hospitality, and medical) to facilitate IT cloud adoption and diffusion decision strategy comparisons.

For this study, I interviewed 19 IT executives having IT cloud innovation adoption and diffusion decision responsibility. Researchers could conduct studies that expand the participant pool beyond IT executives with cloud areas of concern. This would help introduce additional perspectives not represented in this study. Insights gained from additional such studies would be invaluable toward creating baseline decision aids. Lastly, I leveraged an integrated DOI-TOE conceptual model to conduct this study. Researchers could conduct additional studies using either an individual DOI or TOE model or perhaps even another enterprise-centric diffusion model, to compare findings.

A second set of recommendations centers around exploring further the themes identified in this study. A more in-depth examination of each theme would help document the impact these themes have within enterprises and provide organizations with additional information to plan as well as mitigate negative consequences. Similar to the previous recommendation, the information garnered via these studies could help facilitate the development of additional IT cloud innovation adoption and diffusion decision aids.

Conversely, as a counter to the above, researches could explore enterprises who have failed in their early cloud adoption endeavors; furthermore, researchers could capture whether they used diffusion theory-based decision aids or not, and if so, what ones, and how they were employed.

Reflections

Having been an IT practitioner for multiple decades, I wrongly assumed that pursuing a doctoral degree would be an easy, straightforward endeavor. I quickly realized I was about to learn more about myself and my topic than I had ever imagined possible. At times, my forward progress was muted, but I was determined to push through and complete the program. Writing documents as a consultant has always been stress-free. Writing in an academic format, at first, was quite a challenge. It took me some time to develop the appropriate scholar-practitioner skills and acumen. During this process, I learned not only how to write but also to think academically. These skills have been an invaluable addition to my everyday professional career, having a positive impact far more significant than I envisioned. Diffusion theory is exceptionally relevant when making innovation or technology adoption decisions. Having no prior knowledge, the practical application of diffusion theory concepts in my work adds a tremendous amount of richness to my interactions and analyses.

Being an industry consultant, I may have unknowingly or unintentionally introduced some bias. I tried to be as attentive as possible to avoid introducing any personal predispositions into my data collection and analysis efforts. The findings presented are directly traceable to triangulated evidence, thus attempting to mitigate any

potential skewing of the data. During the study, I learned that consistently making advantageous IT cloud adoption and diffusion decisions is eminently possible.

Study Conclusions

An enterprise-scale cloud is complex. To help make advantageous enterprise-centric, cloud innovation adoption, and diffusion decisions, leveraging lessons learned from successful, market-leading organizations is required and improves the likelihood of positive outcomes. Undertake and nurture an innovation-centric, cloud-first mentality and clearly define future state goals to inform intermediate decisions. Leadership must be engaged and bought in to: Effectively prioritize and institutionalize foundational controls and a proactive program of change. Address internal mindset and culture aggressively to bring the organization along. Be persistent, pick something meaningful as a starting point, and fail quickly to iterate. Develop a multi-cloud sourcing strategy to drive service selection. Be mindful of sources of information that contain bias. Trust but verify.

To operate at scale, an effective principle-based governance model and guardrails must be established to guide choices. The development and use of diffusion theory, factor-based decision aids help enable and automate activities. Given the high rate of change, a comprehensive change management strategy is required to mitigate the negative organizational impact and facilitate necessary organizational architecture and process reengineering efforts.

References

- Abdalla, M. M., Oliveira, L. G. L., Azevedo, C. E. F., & Gonzalez, R. K. (2018). Quality in qualitative organizational research: Types of triangulation as a methodological alternative. *Administração: Ensino e Pesquisa*, 19(1), 66–98. doi:10.13058/raep.2018.v19n1.578
- Abraham, R., Aier, S., & Winter, R. (2015). Crossing the line: Overcoming knowledge boundaries in enterprise transformation. *Business & Information Systems*Engineering, 57(1), 3–13. doi:10.1007/s12599-014-0361-1
- Ahmady, G. A., Mehrpour, M., & Nikooravesh, A. (2016). Organizational structure.

 *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, 230, 455–462.

 doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.09.057
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 50(2), 179–211. doi:10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-t
- Akindele, S. T., Afolabi, Y. A., Pitan, O. O., & Gidado, T. O. (2016). The threads of organizational theory: A phenomenological analysis. *Management*, 6(5), 158–184. doi: 10.5923/j.mm.20160605.03
- Alassafi, M., Alharthi, A., Alenezi, A., Walters, R., & Wills, G. (2016). Investigating the security factors in cloud computing adoption: Towards developing an integrated framework. *Journal of Internet Technology and Secured Transactions* (JITST), 5(2). Retrieved from http://www.inderscience.com/jhome.php?jcode=IJITST
- Alavi, S. B., & Gill, C. (2016). Leading change authentically. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 24(2), 157–171. doi:10.1177/1548051816664681

- Al-Badi, A., Tarhini, A., & Al-Qirim, N. (2018). Risks in adopting cloud computing: A proposed conceptual framework. *Emerging Technologies in Computing*, 16–37. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-95450-9_2
- Albee, A. (2018). Digital relevance: developing marketing content and strategies that drive results. New York, NY: Springer Publishing.
- Alkhalil, A., Sahandi, R., & John, D. (2017). An exploration of the determinants for decision to migrate existing resources to cloud computing using an integrated TOE-DOI model. *Journal of Cloud Computing*, 6(1). doi:10.1186/s13677-016-0072-x
- Alkhater, N., Walters, R., & Wills, G. (2018). An empirical study of factors influencing cloud adoption among private sector organisations. *Telematics and Informatics*, 35(1), 38–54. doi:10.1016/j.tele.2017.09.017
- Almendarez, M. (2018). Testing matching and mirroring with homophily in onboarding leadership socialization (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from http://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations
- Almubarak, S. S. (2017). Factors influencing the adoption of cloud computing by Saudi university hospitals. *International Journal of Advanced Computer Science and Applications*, 8(1). doi:10.14569/ijacsa.2017.080107
- Al-rawahna, A. S. M., Hung, C. W., & Chen, S. C. (2018). Readiness of government organizations for cloud-computing age: An empirical evidence from Jordan.

 Journal of Business and Management Sciences*, 6(4), 152–162.

 doi:10.12691/jbms-6-4-3

- Alreemy, Z., Chang, V., Walters, R., & Wills, G. (2016). Critical success factors (CSFs) for information technology governance (ITG). *International Journal of Information Management*, 36(6), 907–916. doi:10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2016.05.017
- Amankwaa, L. (2016). Creating protocols for trustworthiness in qualitative research.

 **Journal of Cultural Diversity, 23(3), 121–127. Retrieved from http://www.tuckerpub.com/jcd.htm
- Amini, M., & Bakri, A. (2015). Cloud Computing Adoption by SMEs in the Malaysia: A

 Multiperspective Framework Based on DOI Theory and TOE Framework. Journal
 of Information Technology & Information Systems Research., 9(2), 121–135.

 Retrieved from http://www.researchgate.net
- Arghode, V., Wang, J., & Lathan, A. (2017). Exploring instructors' practices in student engagement: A collective case study. *Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, 17(4), 126. doi:10.14434/v17i4.22099
- Askalidis, G., Kim, S. J., & Malthouse, E. C. (2017). Understanding and overcoming biases in online review systems. *Decision Support Systems*, 97, 23–30. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2017.03.002
- Avram, M. G. (2014). Advantages and challenges of adopting cloud computing from an enterprise perspective. *Procedia Technology*, 12, 529–534. doi:10.1016/j.protcy.2013.12.525
- Awa, H. O., Ojiabo, O. U., & Emecheta, B. C. (2015). Integrating TAM, TPB, and TOE frameworks and expanding their characteristic constructs for e-commerce

- adoption by SMEs. *Journal of Science and Technology Policy Management*, 6(1), 76–94. doi:10.1108/jstpm-04-2014-0012
- Baillie, L. (2015). Promoting and evaluating scientific rigour in qualitative research.

 Nursing Standard, 29(46), 36–42. doi:10.7748/ns.29.46.36.e8830
- Baker, J. (2011). The technology–organization–environment framework. *Integrated Series in Information Systems*, 231–245. doi:10.1007/978-1-4419-6108-2_12
- Baker, W. E., Grinstein, A., & Harmancioglu, N. (2015). Whose innovation performance benefits more from external networks: Entrepreneurial or conservative firms?

 Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 33(1), 104–120.

 doi:10.1111/jpim.12263
- Barnard, M. (2016). How to apply for research ethics committee approval. *Nursing Children and Young People*, 28(6), 16. doi:10.7748/ncyp.28.6.16.s20
- Barnham, C. (2015). Quantitative and qualitative research: Perceptual foundations. *International Journal of Market Research*, 57(6), 837–854. doi:10.2501/ijmr-2015-070
- Bass, J. M. (2015). How product owner teams scale agile methods to large distributed enterprises. *Empirical Software Engineering*, 20(6), 1525–1557. doi:10.1007/s10664-014-9322-z
- Bass, J. M., & Haxby, A. (2019). Tailoring product ownership in large-scale agile projects: Managing scale, distance, and governance. *IEEE Software*, 36(2), 58–63. doi:10.1109/ms.2018.2885524

- Baxter, P., & Jack, S. (2008). Qualitative case study methodology: Study design and implementation for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 13(4), 544–559. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Bayramusta, M., & Nasir, V. A. (2016). A fad or future of IT? A comprehensive literature review on the cloud computing research. *International Journal of Information Management*, 36(4), 635–644. doi:10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2016.04.006
- Bello, D. C., Radulovich, L. P., Javalgi, R. G., Scherer, R. F., & Taylor, J. (2016).
 Performance of professional service firms from emerging markets: Role of innovative services and firm capabilities. *Journal of World Business*, 51(3), 413–424. doi:10.1016/j.jwb.2015.11.004
- Ben-Yehuda, M., Agmon Ben-Yehuda, O., & Tsafrir, D. (2016). The nom profit-maximizing operating system. *ACM SIGPLAN Notices*, 51(7), 145–160. doi:10.1145/3007611.2892250
- Ben-Yehuda, O. A., Ben-Yehuda, M., Schuster, A., & Tsafrir, D. (2014). The rise of RaaS. *Communications of the ACM*, 57(7), 76–84. doi:10.1145/2627422
- Bettiga, D., & Lamberti, L. (2017). Exploring the adoption process of personal technologies: A cognitive-affective approach. *The Journal of High Technology Management Research*, 28(2), 179–187. doi:10.1016/j.hitech.2017.10.002
- Bildosola, I., Río-Belver, R., Cilleruelo, E., & Garechana, G. (2015). Design and implementation of a cloud computing adoption decision tool: Generating a cloud road. *PLOS ONE*, 10(7), e0134563. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0134563

- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802–1811. doi:10.1177/1049732316654870
- Blind, K., Petersen, S. S., & Riillo, C. A. F. (2017). The impact of standards and regulation on innovation in uncertain markets. *Research Policy*, 46(1), 249–264. doi:10.1016/j.respol.2016.11.003
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research:*An International Journal, 19(4), 426–432. doi:10.1108/qmr0620160053
- Bögel, P., Pereverza, K., Upham, P., & Kordas, O. (2019). Linking socio-technical transition studies and organisational change management: Steps towards an integrative, multi-scale heuristic. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 232, 359–368. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.05.286
- Botta, A., de Donato, W., Persico, V., & Pescapé, A. (2016). Integration of Cloud computing and Internet of Things: A survey. *Future Generation Computer Systems*, 56, 684–700. doi:10.1016/j.future.2015.09.021
- Bowman, J. S. (2018). Thinking about thinking: Beyond decision-making rationalism and the emergence of behavioral ethics. *Public Integrity*, 20(sup1), S89–S105. doi:10.1080/10999922.2017.1410461
- Brière, S., Proulx, D., Flores, O. N., & Laporte, M. (2015). Competencies of project managers in international NGOs: Perceptions of practitioners. *International Journal of Project Management*, 33(1), 116–125. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2014.04.010

- Brinkmann, S. (2016). Methodological breaching experiments: Steps toward theorizing the qualitative interview. *Culture & Psychology*, 22(4), 520–533. doi:10.1177/1354067X16650816
- Broman, K. W., & Woo, K. H. (2018). Data organization in spreadsheets. *The American Statistician*, 72(1), 2–10. doi:10.1080/00031305.2017.1375989
- Burgess, S., & Paguio, R. (2016). Examining ICT application adoption in Australian home-based businesses. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 29(2), 276–299. doi:10.1108/jeim-02-2014-0012
- Busse, C., Kach, A., & Wagner, S. (2016). Boundary conditions: What they are, how to explore them, why we need them, and when to consider them. *Organizational Research Methods*, 1-36. doi: 10.1177/1094428116641191
- Cameron, E., & Green, M. (2015). Making sense of change management: A complete guide to the models, tools and techniques of organizational change. Kogan Page Publishers.
- Campbell, D., & Dopico, L. G. (2016). Structures for Innovation. Centre for Credit Union Research, Filene Research Institute, Madison, Wisconsin. Retrieved from https://filene.org/
- Cappella, J. N. (2017). Vectors into the future of mass and interpersonal communication research: Big data, social media, and computational social science. *Human Communication Research*, 43(4), 545–558. doi:10.1111/hcre.12114

- Caretta, M. A. (2016). Member checking: A feminist participatory analysis of the use of preliminary results pamphlets in cross-cultural, cross-language research. *Qualitative Research*, 16(3), 305-318. doi:10.1177/1468794115606495
- Carreiro, H., & Oliveira, T. (2019). Impact of transformational leadership on the diffusion of innovation in firms: Application to mobile cloud computing.
 Computers in Industry, 107, 104-113. doi:10.1016/j.compind.2019.02.006
- Carter, F. P., Blazel, H., Gleason, C. E., Harris, B. L., Asthana, S., & Edwards, D. F. (2017). A novel participant-centered approach to retention: The Wisconsin ADRC retention program. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 13(7), P898-P899. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2017.07.309
- Chan, Y. E. (2000). IT value: The great divide between qualitative and quantitative and individual and organizational measures. *Journal of Management Information*Systems, 16(4), 225–261. doi:10.1080/07421222.2000.11518272
- Chandler, D., & Hwang, H. (2015). Learning from learning theory. *Journal of Management*, 41(5), 1446–1476. doi:10.1177/0149206315572698
- Chang, V., Kuo, Y. H., & Ramachandran, M. (2016). Cloud computing adoption framework: A security framework for business clouds. *Future Generation Computer Systems*, 57, 24-41. doi:10.1016/j.future.2015.09.031
- Chen, Y., Wang, Y., Nevo, S., Benitez-Amado, J., & Kou, G. (2015). IT capabilities and product innovation performance: The roles of corporate entrepreneurship and competitive intensity. *Information & Management*, 52(6), 643–657. doi:10.1016/j.im.2015.05.003

- Cheraghlou, M. N., Khadem-Zadeh, A., & Haghparast, M. (2016). A survey of fault tolerance architecture in cloud computing. Journal of Network and Computer Applications, 61, 81-92. doi:10.1016/j.jnca.2015.10.004
- Chiu, C. Y., Chen, S., & Chen, C. L. (2017). An integrated perspective of TOE framework and innovation diffusion in broadband mobile applications adoption by enterprises. *International Journal of Management, Economics and Social Sciences (IJMESS)*, 6(1), 14-39. Retrieved from http://www.ijmess.com
- Cho, I. H. (2015). Facebook discontinuance: Discontinuance as a temporal settlement of the constant interplay between disturbance and coping. *Quality & Quantity*, 49(4), 1531–1548. doi:10.1007/s11135-015-0225-x
- Choi, J., Nazareth, D. L., & Ngo-Ye, T. L. (2017). The effect of innovation characteristics on cloud computing diffusion. *Journal of Computer Information*Systems, 58(4), 325–333. doi:10.1080/08874417.2016.1261377
- Chou, D. C. (2015). Cloud computing: A value creation model. *Computer Standards & Interfaces*, 38, 72–77. doi:10.1016/j.csi.2014.10.001
- Chun, S. H., & Choi, B. S. (2014). Service models and pricing schemes for cloud computing. *Cluster Computing*, 17(2), 529-535. doi:10.1007/s10586-013-0296-1
- Ciolfi, M. A., & Kasen, P. A. (2017). The relationship between chiropractor required and current level of business knowledge. *Chiropractic & Manual Therapies*, 25(1), 1-7. doi:10.1186/s12998-017-0134-2

- Coady, Y., Hohlfeld, O., Kempf, J., McGeer, R., & Schmid, S. (2015). Distributed cloud computing: Applications, status quo, and challenges. *ACM SIGCOMM Computer Communication Review*, 45(2), 38-43. doi:10.1145/2766330.2766337
- Colliander, J., & Erlandsson, S. (2015). The blog and the bountiful: Exploring the effects of disguised product placement on blogs that are revealed by a third party.

 **Journal of Marketing Communications*, 21(2), 110-124. doi: 10.1080/13527266.2012.730543
- Compagni, A., Mele, V., & Ravasi, D. (2015). How early implementations influence later adoptions of innovation: Social positioning and skill reproduction in the diffusion of robotic surgery. *Academy of Management Journal*, 58(1), 242–278. doi:10.5465/amj.2011.1184
- Constantinou, C. S., Georgiou, M., & Perdikogianni, M. (2017). A comparative method for themes saturation (CoMeTS) in qualitative interviews. *Qualitative Research*, 17(5), 571–588. doi:10.1177/1468794116686650
- Das, P., Verburg, R., Verbraeck, A., & Bonebakker, L. (2018). Barriers to innovation within large financial services firms. *European Journal of Innovation*Management, 21(1), 96–112. doi:10.1108/ejim-03-2017-0028
- Davis, F. D. (1989). Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. *MIS Quarterly*, 13(3), 319. doi:10.2307/249008
- Daylami, N. (2015). The origin and construct of cloud computing. *International Journal* of the Academic Business World, 9(2), 39-45. Retrieved from http://jwpress.com/IJABW/IJABW-OnLineIssues.htm

- De, D., & Mukherjee, A. (2015). Femto-cloud based secure and economic distributed diagnosis and home health care system. *Journal of Medical Imaging and Health Informatics*, 5(3), 435–447. doi:10.1166/jmihi.2015.1437
- Dean, A. K., Ellis, N., & Wells, V. K. (2017). Science "fact" and science "fiction"?

 Homophilous communication in high-technology B2B selling. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 33(9-10), 764–788.

 doi:10.1080/0267257x.2017.1324895
- Dearing, J. W. (2015). The use of informal opinion leader-based strategy for the diffusion of public health services among international workers in South Korea. *Health Communication*, 12, 115-148. Retrieved from https://www.tandfonline.com/toc/hhth20/
- Dearing, J. W., & Cox, J. G. (2018). Diffusion of innovations theory, principles, and practice. *Health Affairs*, 37(2), 183–190. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2017.1104
- Değerli, A., Aytekin, Ç., & Değerli, B. (2015). Analyzing information technology status and networked readiness index in context of diffusion of innovations Theory.

 Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, 195, 1553–1562.

 doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.06.190
- Denneson, L. M., Cromer, R., Williams, H. B., Pisciotta, M., Dobscha, S. K., & Eysenbach, G. (2017). A qualitative analysis of wow online access to mental health notes is changing clinician perceptions of power and the therapeutic relationship. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 19(6), e208. doi:10.2196/jmir.6915

- Department of Health and Human Services. (1979). The Belmont report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research.

 *Department of Health, Education, and Welfare Publication.** Bethesda Md., Washington. Retrieved from https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/read-the-belmont-report/index.html
- Derbyshire, J., & Giovannetti, E. (2017). Understanding the failure to understand New Product Development failures: Mitigating the uncertainty associated with innovating new products by combining scenario planning and forecasting.

 Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 125, 334–344.

 doi:10.1016/j.techfore.2017.02.007
- De Vries, H., Bekkers, V., & Tummers, L. (2015). Innovation in the public sector: A systematic review and future research agenda. Public Administration, 94(1), 146–166. doi:10.1111/padm.12209
- Dhirani, L. L., Newe, T., & Nizamani, S. (2018). Cloud economics and enterprise strategy: A bird eye's view. *International Journal of Engineering & Technology*, 7(3.15), 360-367. Retrieved from www.sciencepubco.com/index.php/IJET
- Dikko, M. (2016). Establishing Construct Validity and Reliability: Pilot Testing of a Qualitative Interview for Research in Takaful (Islamic Insurance). *The Qualitative Report*, 21(3), 521–528. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- DiPietro, R., Wiarda, E., & Fleischer, M. (1990). The context for change: Organization, technology and environment. In L. G. Tornatzky & M. Fleischer (Eds.), *The*

- Processes of Technological Innovation (pp. 151-175). Lexington, MA: Lexington Books.
- Dixon, C. S. (2015). Interviewing adolescent females in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(12), 2067-2077. doi:10.1177/1524839915580941
- Du, X., Deng, L., & Qian, K. (2018). Current market top business scopes trend—A concurrent text and time series active learning study of NASDAQ and NYSE stocks from 2012 to 2017. *Applied Sciences*, 8(5), 751. doi:10.3390/app8050751
- Duan, Y., Duan, Q., Sun, X., Fu, G., Narendra, N. C., & ... Zhou, Z. (2016). Everything as a service (XaaS) on the cloud: Origins, current and future trends. *Services Transactions on Cloud Computing*, 4(2), 32–45. doi:10.29268/stcc.2016.0006
- Duan, Y., Sun, X., Longo, A., Lin, Z., & Wan, S. (2016). Sorting terms of "aaS" of everything as a service. *International Journal of Networked and Distributed Computing*, 4(1), 32. doi:10.2991/ijndc.2016.4.1.4
- El-Gazzar, R., Hustad, E., & Olsen, D. H. (2016). Understanding cloud computing adoption issues: A Delphi study approach. *Journal of Systems and Software*, 118, 64–84. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2016.04.061
- El-Gazzar, R., Wahid, F., & Stendal, K. (2018). Unpacking knowledge on cloud computing: An umbrella review. *Twenty-fourth Americas Conference on Information Systems*. New Orleans, 2018. Retrieved from https://aisel.aisnet.org/
- El-Gazzar, R. F. (2014). A literature review on cloud computing adoption issues in enterprises. *IFIP Advances in Information and Communication Technology*, 214–242. doi:10.1007/978-3-662-43459-8_14

- El Hussein, M. T., Jakubec, S. L., & Osuji, J. (2016). The FACTS: A mnemonic for the rapid assessment of rigor in qualitative research studies. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 55(1), 60–60. doi:10.3928/01484834-20151214-15
- El Shaban, A., & Egbert, J. (2018). Diffusing education technology: A model for language teacher professional development in CALL. *System*. doi:10.1016/j.system.2018.09.002
- Etikan, I., Musa, S. A., & Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5(1), 1-4. doi:10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11
- Fernandez, E. B., Monge, R., & Hashizume, K. (2015). Building a security reference architecture for cloud systems. *Requirements Engineering*, 21(2), 225–249. doi:10.1007/s00766-014-0218-7
- Ferreira, R. J., Buttell, F., & Ferreira, S. B. (2015). Ethical Considerations for Conducting

 Disaster Research with Vulnerable Populations. *Journal of Social Work Values*and Ethics, 12(1), 29–40. Retrieved from http://www.jswve.org
- Figliola, P. M., & Fischer, E. A. (2016). Overview and issues for implementation of the federal cloud computing initiative: Implications for federal information technology reform management. *US Congressional Research Service (CRS)*, Library of Congress, 1. Retrieved from http://www.crs.gov
- Fishbein, M., & Ajzen, I. (1975). *Belief, Attitude, Intention and Behaviour: An Introduction to Theory and Research*. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.

- Fisher, C. (2018) Cloud versus on-premise computing. *American Journal of Industrial* and *Business Management*, 8, 1991-2006. doi: 10.4236/ajibm.2018.89133.
- Fortin, I., & Oliver, D. (2016). To imitate or differentiate: Cross-level identity work in an innovation network. *Scandinavian Journal of Management*, 32(4), 197–208. doi:10.1016/j.scaman.2016.09.001
- Fowley, F., Pahl, C., Jamshidi, P., Fang, D., & Liu, X. (2018). A classification and comparison framework for cloud service brokerage architectures. *IEEE Transactions on Cloud Computing*, 6(2), 358–371. doi:10.1109/tcc.2016.2537333
- Frieden, R. (2017). Freedom to discriminate: Assessing the lawfulness and utility of biased broadband networks. *Vanderbilt Journal of Entertainment and Technology Law*, 20, 655. Retrieved from http://jetlaw.org
- Fusch, P. I., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2017). How to conduct a mini-ethnographic case study: A guide for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 22(3), 923-941. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408–1419. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Gallouj, F., Weber, K. M., Stare, M., & Rubalcaba, L. (2015). The futures of the service economy in Europe: A foresight analysis. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 94, 80–96. doi:10.1016/j.techfore.2014.06.009

- Gangwar, H., Date, H., & Ramaswamy, R. (2015). Understanding determinants of cloud computing adoption using an integrated TAM-TOE model. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 28(1), 107–130. doi:10.1108/jeim-08-2013-0065
- Gangwar, H., Date, H., & Raoot, A. D. (2014). Review on IT adoption: Insights from recent technologies. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 27(4), 488–502. doi:10.1108/jeim-08-2012-0047
- Garrison, G., Wakefield, R. L., & Kim, S. (2015). The effects of IT capabilities and delivery model on cloud computing success and firm performance for cloud supported processes and operations. *International Journal of Information Management*, 35, 377-393. doi:10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2015.03.001
- Gehman, J., Glaser, V. L., Eisenhardt, K. M., Gioia, D., Langley, A., & Corley, K. G.
 (2017). Finding theory–method fit: A comparison of three qualitative approaches to theory building. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 27(3), 284–300.
 doi:10.1177/1056492617706029
- Gentles, S. J., Charles, C., Ploeg, J., & McKibbon, K. A. (2015). Sampling in qualitative research: Insights from an overview of the methods literature. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(11), 1772-1789. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Georgallis, P., & Durand, R. (2017). Achieving high growth in policy-dependent industries: Differences between startups and corporate-backed ventures. *Long Range Planning*, 50(4), 487–500. doi:10.1016/j.lrp.2016.06.005

- Ghaffari, K., & Lagzian, M. (2018). Exploring users' experiences of using personal cloud storage services: A phenomenological study. *Behaviour & Information*Technology, 37(3), 295–309. doi:10.1080/0144929x.2018.1435722
- Giacumo, L. A., Villachica, S. W., & Breman, J. (2018). Workplace learning, big data, and organizational readiness: Where to start? *Digital Workplace Learning*, 107–127. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-46215-8_7
- Gledson, B. (2016). Exploring the Consequences of 4D BIM Innovation Adoption. In: P
 W Chan and C J Neilson (Eds.) Proceedings of the 32nd Annual ARCOM
 Conference, 5-7 September 2016, Manchester, UK. Association of Researchers in
 Construction Management, Vol 1, 73-82. Retrieved from
 http://www.arcom.ac.uk/-docs/proceedings
- Govindaraju, R., Akbar, R., & Suryadi, K. (2018). IT infrastructure transformation and its impact on IT capabilities in the cloud computing context. *International Journal on Electrical Engineering and Informatics*, 10(2), 395-405. doi:10.15676/ijeei.2018.10.2.14
- Greenhalgh, T., Robert, G., MacFarlane, F., Bate, P., & Kyriadkidou, O. (2004).

 Diffusion of innovations in service organizations: Systematic review and recommendations. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 82(4), 581–629. doi:10.1111/j.0887-378x.2004.00325.x
- Guba, E., & Lincoln, Y. (1989). *Naturalistic inquiry*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Guetterman, T. C. (2015). Descriptions of sampling practices within five approaches to qualitative research in education and the health sciences. *Forum Qualitative*

- Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 16(2). Retrieved from http://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/fqs
- Gupta, S., & Saini, A. K. (2017). Cloud adoption: Linking business needs with system measures. *Global Journal of Enterprise Information System*, 9(2), 42. doi:10.18311/gjeis/2017/15835
- Gupta, V., & Bhatia, S. S. (2017). Cloud computing: An operational framework in the implementation of ERP. *International Journal of Advanced Research in Computer Science and Software Engineering*, 7(2), 164–169. doi:10.23956/ijarcsse/v7i2/0109
- Gutierrez, A., Boukrami, E., & Lumsden, R. (2015). Technological, organisational and environmental factors influencing managers' decision to adopt cloud computing in the UK. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 28(6), 788–807. doi:10.1108/jeim-01-2015-0001
- Haag, S., & Eckhardt, A. (2014). Organizational cloud service adoption: A scientometric and content-based literature analysis. *Journal of Business Economics*, 84(3), 407–440. doi:10.1007/s11573-014-0716-6
- Hagaman, A. K., & Wutich, A. (2016). How many interviews are enough to identify metathemes in multisited and cross-cultural research? Another perspective on Guest, Bunce, and Johnson's (2006) landmark study. *Field Methods*, 29(1), 23–41. doi:10.1177/1525822X16640447

- Haider, M., & Kreps, G. L. (2004). Forty years of diffusion of innovations: Utility and value in public health. *Journal of Health Communication*, 9(sup1), 3–11. doi:10.1080/10810730490271430
- Hameed, M. A., & Arachchilage, N. A. G. (2016). A model for the adoption process of information system security innovations in organizations: A theoretical perspective. arXiv preprint arXiv:1609.07911. Retrieved from https://arxiv.org
- Harfoushi, O., Akhorshaideh, A. H., Aqqad, N., Janini, M. A., & Obiedat, R. (2016).
 Factors affecting the intention of adopting cloud computing in Jordanian hospitals. *Communications and Network*, 08(02), 88–101.
 doi:10.4236/cn.2016.82010
- Harvey, L. (2015). Beyond member-checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 38(1), 23–38. doi:10.1080/1743727x.2014.914487
- Hays, D. G., Wood, C., Dahl, H., & Kirk-Jenkins, A. (2016). Methodological rigor in journal of counseling & development qualitative research articles: A 15-year review. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 94(2), 172–183. doi:10.1002/jcad.12074
- Heavin, C., & Power, D. J. (2018). Challenges for digital transformation—towards a conceptual decision support guide for managers. *Journal of Decision Systems*, 27(sup1), 38-45.doi:10.1080/12460125.2018.1468697

- Hennink, M. M., Kaiser, B. N., & Marconi, V. C. (2016). Code saturation versus meaning saturation: How many interviews are enough? *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(4), 591–608. doi:10.1177/1049732316665344
- Ho, S. M., Ocasio-Velazquez, M., & Booth, C. (2017). Trust or consequences? Causal effects of perceived risk and subjective norms on cloud technology adoption.

 Computers & Security, 70, 581-595. doi:10.1016/j.cose.2017.08.004
- Hom, M. A., Podlogar, M. C., Stanley, I. H., & Joiner, T. E., Jr. (2017). Ethical issues and practical challenges in suicide research collaboration with institutional review boards. Crisis, 38(2), 107–114. doi:10.1027/0227-5910/a000415
- Hoover, S. M., Strapp, C. M., Ito, A., Foster, K., & Roth, K. (2018). Teaching qualitative research interviewer skills: A developmental framework for social justice psychological research teams. *Qualitative Psychology*, 5(2), 300–318. doi:10.1037/qup0000101
- Hoti, E. (2015). The technological, organizational and environmental framework of IS innovation adaption in small and medium enterprises. Evidence from research over the last 10 years. *International Journal of Business and Management*, III(4), 1–14. doi:10.20472/bm.2015.3.4.001
- Høyland, S., Hollund, J. G., & Olsen, O. E. (2015). Gaining access to a research site and participants in medical and nursing research: A synthesis of accounts. *Medical Education*, 49(2), 224–232. doi:10.1111/medu.12622

- Hsu, P.-F., Ray, S., & Li-Hsieh, Y.-Y. (2014). Examining cloud computing adoption intention, pricing mechanism, and deployment model. *International Journal of Information Management*, 34(4), 474–488. doi:10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2014.04.006
- Hwang, K., Bai, X., Shi, Y., Li, M., Chen, W.-G., & Wu, Y. (2016). Cloud performance modeling with benchmark evaluation of elastic scaling strategies. *IEEE Transactions on Parallel and Distributed Systems*, 27(1), 130–143.
 doi:10.1109/tpds.2015.2398438
- Ibrahim, I. b., & Jaafar, H. S. b. (2016). Factors of Environment Management Practices

 Adoptions. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 224, 353–359.

 doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.05.387
- Imran, A., & Yusoff, R. M. (2015). Empirical validation of qualitative data: a mixed method approach. *International Journal of Economics and Financial Issues*, 5(1). Retrieved from http://www.econjournals.com
- Iqbal, S., Kiah, M. L. M., Anuar, N. B., Daghighi, B., Wahab, A. W. A., & Khan, S. (2016). Service delivery models of cloud computing: security issues and open challenges. *Security and Communication Networks*, 9(17), 4726–4750. doi:10.1002/sec.1585
- Ismail, A. (2015). A review of theoretical approaches on diffusion analysis: Discussing issues involved in the adoption of ICT services in a complex socio-economic context. *Australian Journal of Sustainable Business and Society*, 1(1), 97-108.

 Retrieved from https://www.aabss.org.au/australian-journal-sustainable-business-and-society

- Ivey, J. (2017). Demystifying research II: Data collection methods and considerations.

 Pediatric Nursing, 43(4), 200–201. Retrieved from http://www.pediatricnursing.net
- Jaatun, M. G., Pearson, S., Gittler, F., Leenes, R., & Niezen, M. (2016). Enhancing accountability in the cloud. *International Journal of Information Management*. doi:10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2016.03.004
- James, N. (2017). Using narrative inquiry to explore the experience of one ethnically diverse ESL nursing student. *Teaching and Learning in Nursing*, 1-6. doi:10.1016/j.teln.2017.08.002
- Jantz, R. C. (2015). The determinants of organizational innovation: An interpretation and implications for research libraries. *College & Research Libraries*, 76(4), 512–536. doi:10.5860/crl.76.4.512
- Jararweh, Y., Al-Ayyoub, M., Darabseh, A., Benkhelifa, E., Vouk, M., & Rindos, A. (2016). Software defined cloud: Survey, system and evaluation. *Future Generation Computer Systems*, 58, 56–74. doi:10.1016/j.future.2015.10.015
- Jarvis, D., Wachowiak, M., Walters, D., & Kovacs, J. (2017). Adoption of web-based spatial tools by agricultural producers: Conversations with seven northeastern Ontario farmers using the geovisage decision support system. *Agriculture*, 7(8), 69. doi:10.3390/agriculture7080069
- Jeng, D. J.-F., & Pak, A. (2014). The variable effects of dynamic capability by firm size:

 The interaction of innovation and marketing capabilities in competitive industries.

- International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal, 12(1), 115–130. doi:10.1007/s11365-014-0330-7
- Jentoft, N., & Olsen, T. S. (2017). Against the flow in data collection: How data triangulation combined with a "slow" interview technique enriches data.

 *Qualitative Social Work: Research and Practice, 147332501771258.

 doi:10.1177/1473325017712581
- Jia, Q., Guo, Y., & Barnes, S. J. (2017). Enterprise 2.0 post-adoption: Extending the information system continuance model based on the technology-organizationenvironment framework. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 67, 95–105. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2016.10.022
- Jissink, T., Schweitzer, F., & Rohrbeck, R. (2018). Forward-looking search during innovation projects: Under which conditions it affects innovativeness.

 Technovation. doi:10.1016/j.technovation.2018.07.001
- Johansson, B., & Muhic, M. (2017). Relativism in the cloud: Cloud sourcing in virtue of IS development outsourcing-a literature review. *International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management*, 5(4), 55-65.doi:10.12821/ijispm050404
- Jowsey, T. (2016). Watering down ethnography. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 25(7), 554-555. doi:10.1136/bmjqs-2015-005062
- Jung, J., Song, H., Kim, Y., Im, H., & Oh, S. (2017). Intrusion of software robots into journalism: The public's and journalists' perceptions of news written by

- algorithms and human journalists. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 71, 291-298. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2017.02.022
- Kablan, M., Joe-Won, C., Ha, S., Jamjoom, H., & Keller, E. (2015). The cloud needs a reputation system. *arXiv preprint arXiv*:1509.09057. Retrieved from https://arxiv.org
- Kallio, H., Pietilä, A.-M., Johnson, M., & Kangasniemi, M. (2016). Systematic methodological review: developing a framework for a qualitative semistructured interview guide. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 72(12), 2954–2965.
 doi:10.1111/jan.13031
- Kamalodeen, V. J., & Jameson-Charles, M. (2016). A mixed methods research approach to exploring teacher participation in an online social networking website.
 International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 1-14.
 doi:10.1177/1609406915624578
- Kar, A. K., & Rakshit, A. (2015). Flexible pricing models for cloud computing based on group decision making under consensus. *Global Journal of Flexible Systems Management*, 16(2), 191–204. doi:10.1007/s40171-015-0093-1
- Karkošková, S., & Feuerlicht, G. (2016). Cloud computing governance lifecycle. *Acta Informatica Pragensia*, 5(1), 56–71. doi:10.18267/j.aip.85
- Kee, K. F. (2017) Adoption and diffusion. In C. Scott, & L. Lewis (Eds.), *International encyclopedia of organizational communication*. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Kee, K. F., Sparks, L., Struppa, D. C., Mannucci, M. A., & Damiano, A. (2016).

 Information diffusion, Facebook clusters, and the simplicial model of social

- aggregation: A computational simulation of simplicial diffusers for community health interventions. *Health Communication*, 31(4), 385–399. doi:10.1080/10410236.2014.960061
- Kerwin-Boudreau, S., & Butler-Kisber, L. (2016). Deepening Understanding in

 Qualitative Inquiry. *The Qualitative Report*, 21(5), 956–971. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Khan, S. A. (2017). Consumer innovation adoption stages and determinants. Department of Management. Ca'Foscari University of Venice. Retrieved from http://virgo.unive.it
- Khan, S. N., Nicho, M., Takruri, H., Maamar, Z., & Kamoun, F. (2019). Role assigning and taking in cloud computing. *Human Systems Management*, 38(1), 1–27. doi:10.3233/hsm-180336
- Khanagha, S., Volberda, H., & Oshri, I. (2014). Business model renewal and ambidexterity: Structural alteration and strategy formation process during transition to a cloud business model. *R&D Management*, 44(3), 322-340.doi:10.1111/radm.12070
- Kim, T. (2015). Diffusion of changes in organizations. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 28(1), 134–152. doi:10.1108/jocm-04-2014-0081
- Kiss, A. N., Fernhaber, S., & McDougall–Covin, P. P. (2018). Slack, innovation, and export intensity: implications for small– and medium–sized enterprises.

 *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice, 42(5), 671–697.

 doi:10.1177/1042258718795318

- Kjærgaard, A., & Vendelø, M. T. (2015). The role of theory adaptation in the making of a reference discipline. *Information and Organization*, 25(3), 137–149. doi:10.1016/j.infoandorg.2015.04.002
- Kornbluh, M. (2015). Combatting challenges to establishing trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 12(4), 397-414. doi: 10.1080/14780887.2015.1021941
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2017). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1),

 120–124. doi:10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Kung, L., & Kung, H. J. (2015). External environment pressure on organizational innovation adoption: from literature to a conceptual model. *International Journal* of Management Theory and Practice, 15(1), 99-115. Retrieved from http://www.myacme.org/ijmtp/
- Kurnia, S., Karnali, R. J., & Rahim, M. M. (2015). A qualitative study of business-to-business electronic commerce adoption within the Indonesian grocery industry: A multi-theory perspective. *Information & Management*, 52(4), 518–536.
 doi:10.1016/j.im.2015.03.003
- Kushida, K. E., Murray, J., & Zysman, J. (2015). Cloud security: From scarcity to abundance. *Journal of Industry, Competition and Trade*, 15(1), 5-19.
 doi:10.1007/s10842 014 0188 y

- Lang, M., Wiesche, M., & Krcmar, H. (2016). What Are the Most Important Criteria for Cloud Service Provider Selection? A Delphi Study. In *European Conference on Information Systems*. Retrieved from https://aisel.aisnet.org/ecis/
- Lau, A. K. W., & Lo, W. (2015). Regional innovation system, absorptive capacity and innovation performance: An empirical study. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 92, 99–114. doi:10.1016/j.techfore.2014.11.005
- Lee, Y.-C. (2015). Why do people adopt cloud services? Gender differences. *Social Science Information*, 55(1), 78–93. doi:10.1177/0539018415609174
- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research.

 **Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care, 4(3), 324–327. doi:10.4103/2249-4863.161306
- Lewis, S. (2015). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. *Health Promotion Practice*, 16(4), 473-475. doi:10.1177/1524839915580941
- Liao, H., & Hitchcock, J. (2018). Reported credibility techniques in higher education evaluation studies that use qualitative methods: A research synthesis. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 68, 157–165. doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2018.03.005
- Liberale, A. P., & Kovach, J. V. (2017). Reducing the time for IRB reviews: A case study. *Journal of Research Administration*, 48(2), 37–50. Retrieved from https://www.srainternational.org/publications/journal/volume-xlviii-number-1

- Lin, D., Squicciarini, A. C., Dondapati, V. N., & Sundareswaran, S. (2016). A cloud brokerage architecture for efficient cloud service selection. *IEEE Transactions on Services Computing*, 1–1. doi:10.1109/tsc.2016.2592903
- Lin, H.-F., Su, J.-Q., & Higgins, A. (2016). How dynamic capabilities affect adoption of management innovations. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(2), 862–876. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.07.004
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage. doi:10.1002/9781405165518.wbeosn006
- Liu, Y., Lv, D., Ying, Y., Arndt, F., & Wei, J. (2018). Improvisation for innovation: The contingent role of resource and structural factors in explaining innovation capability. *Technovation*, 74-75, 32–41. doi:10.1016/j.technovation.2018.02.010
- Liu, Y., Sun, Y., Ryoo, J., Rizvi, S., & Vasilakos, A. V. (2015). A survey of security and privacy challenges in cloud computing: solutions and future directions. *Journal of Computing Science and Engineering*, 9(3), 119-133.

 doi:10.5626.jcse.2015.9.3.119
- Lundy, B. L., & Drouin, M. (2016). From social anxiety to interpersonal connectedness: relationship building within face-to-face, phone, and instant messaging mediums. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 54, 271-277. doi:10.1016.j.chb.2015.08.004
- Malli, G., & Sackl-Sharif, S. (2015). Researching one's own field. Interaction dynamics and methodological challenges in the context of higher education research. *Forum Qualitative Social forschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 16(1).

 Retrieved from http://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/fqs

- Martins, R., Oliveira, T., & Thomas, M. A. (2016). An empirical analysis to assess the determinants of SaaS diffusion in firms. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 62, 19–33. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2016.03.049
- Mathewson, J., & Moran, M. (2016). *Outside-in marketing: using big data to guide your content marketing*. IBM Press.
- Mayer, I. (2015). Qualitative research with a focus on qualitative data analysis.

 *International Journal of Sales, Retailing & Marketing, 4(9), 53. Retrieved from http://www.ijsrm.com
- Mazrekaj, A., Shabani, I., & Sejdiu, B. (2016). Pricing schemes in cloud computing: An overview. *International Journal of Advanced Computer Science and Applications*, 7(2). doi:10.14569/ijacsa.2016.070211
- McFadyen, J., & Rankin, J. (2016). The role of gatekeepers in research: Learning from reflexivity and reflection. *GSTF Journal of Nursing and Health Care (JNHC)*, 4(1), 82-88. doi:10.5176/2345-718X_4.1.135
- Mell, P., & Grance, T. (2011). The NIST definition of cloud computing. doi:10.6028/NIST.SP.800-145
- Menz, M., Kunisch, S., & Collis, D. J. (2015). The corporate headquarters in the contemporary corporation: Advancing a multimarket firm perspective. *Academy of Management Annals*, 9(1), 633–714. doi:10.5465/19416520.2015.1027050
- Merriam, S. (1995). What can you tell from an N of 1? Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *PAACE Journal of lifelong learning*, 4, 50-60. Retrieved from https://www.iup.edu/ace/paace/

- Mills, E., Granderson, J., Chan, R., Diamond, R., Haves, P., Nordman, B., ... Selkowitz, S. (2015). Green, clean, & mean: Pushing the energy envelope in tech industry buildings (No. LBNL-1005070). Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory (LBNL), Berkeley, CA (United States). Retrieved from https://www.osti.gov
- Milovich, M., Jr. (2015). Moving technology leaders up the influence curve. *MIS Quarterly Executive*, 14(1). Retrieved from http://www.misqe.org/
- Miracle, V. A. (2016). The Belmont Report: the triple crown of research ethics.

 *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing, 35(4), 223-228.

 doi:10.1097/dcc.0000000000000186
- Mohajan, H. K. (2018). Qualitative research methodology in social sciences and related subjects. *Journal of Economic Development, Environment and People*, 7(1), 23. doi:10.26458/jedep.v7i1.571
- Mohammed, B., Kiran, M., Awan, I. U., & Maiyama, K. M. (2016). Optimising fault tolerance in real-time cloud computing IAAS environment. In *Future Internet of Things and Cloud (FiCloud)*, 2016 IEEE 4th International Conference on (pp. 363-370). IEEE. doi: 10.1109/FiCloud.2016.58
- Monteiro, F., Mol, M., & Birkinshaw, J. (2017). Ready to be open? Explaining the firm level barriers to benefiting from openness to external knowledge. *Long Range Planning*, 50(2), 282–295. doi:10.1016/j.lrp.2015.12.008
- Moon, S., Kim, J., Kim, T., & Lee, J. (2015). Reverse auction-based resource allocation policy for service broker in hybrid cloud environment. *Cloud Computing* 2015,

- 76. Retrieved from
- https://www.iaria.org/conferences2015/CLOUDCOMPUTING15.html
- Morar, P., Read, J., Arora, S., Hart, A., Warusavitarne, J., Green, J., ... Faiz, O. (2015).

 Defining the optimal design of the inflammatory bowel disease multidisciplinary team: results from a multicentre qualitative expert-based study. *Frontline Gastroenterology*, 6(4), 290-297. doi:10.1136/flgastro-2014-100549
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(9), 1212–1222. doi:10.1177/1049732315588501
- Müller, S. D., Holm, S. R., & Søndergaard, J. (2015). Benefits of cloud computing:

 Literature review in a maturity model perspective. *Communications of the Association for Information Systems*, 37(1), 42. Retrieved from https://aisel.aisnet.org/cais/
- Myers, M. D. (1997). Qualitative research in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, 21(2), 241. doi:10.2307/249422
- Nassaji, H. (2015). Qualitative and descriptive research: Data type versus data analysis. Language Teaching Research, 19(2), 129–132. doi:10.1177/1362168815572747
- Nelson, J. (2016). Using conceptual depth criteria: Addressing the challenge of reaching saturation in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 17(5), 554–570. doi:10.1177/1468794116679873
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 18(2), 34-35. doi:10.1136eb-2015-102054

- Nohe, C., & Michaelis, B. (2016). Team OCB, leader charisma, and organizational change: A multilevel study. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 27(6), 883–895. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2016.05.006
- O'Brien, M. E., & Steele, N. M. (2017). Wife caregiver experiences in the patient with prostate cancer at home. *Urologic Nursing*, 37(1), 37-44, 46. doi:10.7257/1053-816x.2017.37.1.37
- Ojo, A., & Mellouli, S. (2018). Deploying governance networks for societal challenges.

 *Government Information Quarterly, 35(4), S106–S112.

 doi:10.1016/j.giq.2016.04.001
- Oliveira, T., Thomas, M., & Espadanal, M. (2014). Assessing the determinants of cloud computing adoption: An analysis of the manufacturing and services sectors.

 Information & Management, 51(5), 497-510. Retrieved from http://www.journals.elsevier.com/information-and-management
- Oredo, J. O., & Njihia, J. M. (2015). Mindfulness and quality of innovation in cloud computing adoption. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 10(1). doi:10.5539/ijbm.v10n1p144
- Pakath, R. (2015). Competing on the cloud: A review and synthesis of potential benefits and possible pitfalls. *Journal of Organizational Computing and Electronic Commerce*, 25(1), 1–27. doi:10.1080/10919392.2015.990771
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and*

- *Mental Health Services Research*, 42(5), 533–544. doi:10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Papachroni, A., Heracleous, L., & Paroutis, S. (2016). In pursuit of ambidexterity:

 Managerial reactions to innovation–efficiency tensions. *Human Relations*, 69(9),

 1791–1822. doi:10.1177/0018726715625343
- Papazoglou, M. E., & Spanos, Y. E. (2018). Bridging distant technological domains: A longitudinal study of the determinants of breadth of innovation diffusion.

 Research Policy. doi:10.1016/j.respol.2018.06.006
- Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus quantitative research methods: Discovery or justification? *Journal of Marketing Thought*, 3(1), 1-8. doi: 10.15577/jmt.2016.03.01.1
- Parthasarathy, M., & Forlani, D. (2016). Revisiting the causes of organizational discontinuance: A diffusion theory approach offers new insights. *Journal of Business Market Management*, 9(2), 650-676. Retrieved from http://www.jbmonline.net/
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Paulus, T., Woods, M., Atkins, D. P., & Macklin, R. (2017). The discourse of QDAS: reporting practices of Atlas.ti and NVivo users with implications for best practices. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 20(1), 35–47. doi:10.1080/13645579.2015.1102454

- Paulus, T. M., & Bennett, A. M. (2017). 'I have a love–hate relationship with Atlas.ti':

 Integrating qualitative data analysis software into a graduate research methods
 course. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 40(1), 19–35.
 doi:10.1080/1743727X.2015.1056137
- Paulus, T. M., & Lester, J. N. (2015). Atlas.ti for conversation and discourse analysis studies. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 19(4), 405–428. doi:10.1080/13645579.2015.1021949
- Perego, P., Kennedy, S., & Whiteman, G. (2016). A lot of icing but little cake? Taking integrated reporting forward. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 136, 53–64. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.01.106
- Peticca-Harris, A., deGama, N., & Elias, S. R. S. T. A. (2016). A dynamic process model for finding informants and gaining access in qualitative research. *Organizational Research Methods*, 19(3), 376–401. doi:10.1177/1094428116629218
- Phaphoom, N., Wang, X., Samuel, S., Helmer, S., & Abrahamsson, P. (2015). A survey study on major technical barriers affecting the decision to adopt cloud services.

 **Journal of Systems and Software*, 103, 167–181. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2015.02.002
- Piaralal, S. K., Nair, S. R., Yahya, N., & Karim, J. A. (2015). An integrated model of the likelihood and extent of adoption of green practices in small and medium sized logistics firms. *American Journal of Economics*, 5(2), 251-258. doi:10.5923/c.economics.201501.32

- Porter, M. E., & Heppelmann, J. E. (2015). How smart, connected products are transforming companies. *Harvard Business Review*, 93(10), 96-114. Retrieved from https://hbr.org/
- Puklavec, B., Oliveira, T., & Popovič, A. (2018). Understanding the determinants of business intelligence system adoption stages. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 118(1), 236–261. doi:10.1108/imds-05-2017-0170
- Puthal, D., Sahoo, B. P. S., Mishra, S., & Swain, S. (2015). Cloud computing features, issues, and challenges: A big picture. *Computational Intelligence and Networks* (*CINE*), 2015 International Conference on (pp. 116-123). Retrieved from http://ieeexplore.ieee.org
- Queen, P. E., & Fasipe, O. (2015). Understanding the impact of business complexity on executive management characteristics and firm performance. *Journal of Accounting and Finance* (2158-3625), 15(3). Retrieved from http://www.nabusinesspress.com/jafopen.html
- Rahi, S. B., Bisui, S., & Misra, S. C. (2017). Identifying the moderating effect of trust on the adoption of cloud-based services. *International Journal of Communication Systems*, 30(11), e3253. doi:10.1002/dac.3253
- Rai, R., Sahoo, G., & Mehfuz, S. (2015). Exploring the factors influencing the cloud computing adoption: A systematic study on cloud migration. *SpringerPlus*, 4, 197. doi: 10.1186/s40064-015-0962-2
- Raja, J. Z., Chakkol, M., Johnson, M., & Beltagui, A. (2018). Organizing for servitization: Examining front- and back-end design configurations. *International*

- Journal of Operations & Production Management, 38(1), 249–271. doi:10.1108/ijopm-03-2016-0139
- Ramazi, P., Riehl, J., & Cao, M. (2018). Homophily, heterophily and the diversity of messages among decision-making individuals. *Royal Society Open Science*, 5(4), 180027. doi:10.1098/rsos.180027
- Ratten, V. (2015). Service innovations in cloud computing: A study of top management leadership, absorptive capacity, government support, and learning orientation.

 *Journal of the Knowledge Economy, 7(4), 935–946. doi:10.1007/s13132-015-0319-7
- Rauwolf, P., Mitchell, D., & Bryson, J. J. (2015). Value homophily benefits cooperation but motivates employing incorrect social information. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 367, 246–261. doi:10.1016/j.jtbi.2014.11.023
- Ray, D. (2016). Cloud adoption decisions: Benefitting from an integrated perspective.

 *Electronic Journal of Information Systems Evaluation, 19(1), 3-22. Retrieved from http://www.ejise.com/main.html
- Renz, S. M., Carrington, J. M., & Badger, T. A. (2018). Two strategies for qualitative content analysis: An intramethod approach to triangulation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(5), 824–831. doi:10.1177/1049732317753586
- Rhee, J., Seog, S. D., Bozorov, F., & Dedahanov, A. T. (2017). Organizational structure and employees' innovative behavior: The mediating role of empowerment. *Social Behavior and Personality*, 45(9), 1523-1536. doi: 10.2224/sbp.6433

- Rid, T., & Buchanan, B. (2014). Attributing cyberattacks. *Journal of Strategic Studies*, 38(1-2), 4-37. doi:10.1080/01402390.2014.977382
- Ristov, S., Mathá, R., Kimovski, D., Prodan, R., & Gusev, M. (2018). A new model for cloud elastic services efficiency. *International Journal of Parallel, Emergent and Distributed Systems*, 1-18. doi:10.1080/17445760.2018.1434174
- Rogers, E. (2003). Diffusion of innovations (5th ed.). New York, NY: The Free Press.
- Rohani, M. B., & Hussin, R. C. (2015). An integrated theoretical framework for cloud computing adoption by universities technology transfer offices (TTOs). *Journal of Theoretical and Applied Information Technology*, 79(3), 415. Retrieved from https://www.jatit.org
- Roulston, K., & Shelton, S. A. (2015). Reconceptualizing bias in teaching qualitative research methods. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 21(4), 332–342. doi:10.1177/1077800414563803
- Ruan, J., Chan, F. T., Zhu, F., Wang, X., & Yang, J. (2016). A visualization review of cloud computing algorithms in the last decade. *Sustainability*, 8(10), 1008. doi:10.3390/su8101008
- Ryan, A. M. (2018). Recognizing Bias. Cavendish Square Publishing, LLC.
- Sabi, H. M., Uzoka, F.-M. E., Langmia, K., & Njeh, F. N. (2016). Conceptualizing a model for adoption of cloud computing in education. *International Journal of Information Management*, 36(2), 183–191. doi:10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2015.11.010

- Safari, F., Safari, N., & Hasanzadeh, A. (2015). The adoption of software-as-a-service (SaaS): Ranking the determinants. *Journal of Enterprise Information*Management, 28(3), 400–422. doi:10.1108/jeim-02-2014-0017
- Santos, J., Palumbo, F., Molsen-David, E., Willke, R. J., Binder, L., Drummond, M., . . . Thompson, D. (2017). ISPOR code of ethics 2017 (4th Edition). *Value in Health:*The Journal of the International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes

 Research, 20(10), 1227–1242. doi:10.1016/j.jval.2017.10.018
- Saunders, M., & Townsend, K. (2016). Reporting and justifying the number of interview participants in organization and workplace research. *British Journal of Management*, 27(4), 836–852. doi:10.1111/1467-8551.12182
- Schermerhorn, J. R., Davidson, P., Woods, P., Factor, A., Junaid, F., & McBarron, E. (2019). *Management*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Schlichting, A. D. (2015). Data center energy efficiency technologies and methodologies:

 A review of commercial technologies and recommendations for application to

 Department of Defense systems. MITRE Corporation McLean United States.

 Retrieved from https://www.mitre.org
- Schmidt, P. J., Wood, J. T., & Grabski, S. V. (2016). Business in the cloud: Research questions on governance, audit, and assurance. *Journal of Information Systems*, 30(3), 173–189. doi:10.2308/isys-51494
- Schneider, S., & Sunyaev, A. (2016). Determinant factors of cloud-sourcing decisions: reflecting on the IT outsourcing literature in the era of cloud computing. *Journal of Information Technology*, 31(1), 1–31. doi:10.1057/jit.2014.25

- Scott, S., & McGuire, J. (2017). Using diffusion of innovation theory to promote universally designed college instruction. *International Journal of Teaching & Learning in Higher Education*, 29(1), 119-128. Retrieved from http://www.isetl.org/ijtlhe/
- Shaban, R. Z., Considine, J., Fry, M., & Curtis, K. (2017). Case study and case-based research in emergency nursing and care: Theoretical foundations and practical application in paramedic pre-hospital clinical judgment and decision-making of patients with mental illness. *Australasian Emergency Nursing Journal*, 20(1), 17–24. doi:10.1016/j.aenj.2017.01.002
- Shahrasbi, N., & Rohani, M. (2018). Organizational readiness in the operations management and information systems disciplines: Concept review and a crisp set comparative analysis. *Journal of Supply Chain and Operations Management*, 16(3), 246. Retrieved from https://www.csupom.com/issues
- Sharma, M., Gupta, R., & Acharya, P. (2017). Prioritizing the critical factors of cloud computing adoption using multi-criteria decision-making techniques. *Global Business Review*, 097215091774118. doi:10.1177/0972150917741187
- Sharma, Y., Javadi, B., Si, W., & Sun, D. (2016). Reliability and energy efficiency in cloud computing systems: Survey and taxonomy. *Journal of Network and Computer Applications*, 74, 66-85. doi:10.1016/j.jnca.2016.08.010
- Sharp, H., Dittrich, Y., & de Souza, C. R. B. (2016). The role of ethnographic studies in empirical software engineering. *IEEE Transactions on Software Engineering*, 42(8), 786–804. doi:10.1109/TSE.2016.2519887

- Shin, S. J., Yuan, F., & Zhou, J. (2016). When perceived innovation job requirement increases employee innovative behavior: A sensemaking perspective. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 38(1), 68–86. doi:10.1002/job.2111
- Shinder, D. (2016). From mainframe to cloud: It's technology déjà vu all over again. *GFI TechTalk*. Retrieved from https://techtalk.gfi.com/from-mainframe-to-cloud-its-technology-deja-vu-all-over-again/
- Shuaib, M., Samad, A., Alam, S., & Siddiqui, S. T. (2019). Why adopting cloud is still a challenge?—A review on issues and challenges for cloud migration in organizations. *Ambient Communications and Computer Systems*, 387–399. doi:10.1007/978-981-13-5934-7_35
- Shuja, J., Ahmad, R. W., Gani, A., Abdalla Ahmed, A. I., Siddiqa, A., Nisar, K., ... Zomaya, A. Y. (2017). Greening emerging IT technologies: Techniques and practices. *Journal of Internet Services and Applications*, 8(1). doi:10.1186/s13174-017-0060-5
- Singh, S. K., & Singh, D. K. (2017). Cloud computing: Security issues and challenges.

 *International Journal of Advances in Engineering & Technology, 10(3), 338.

 *Retrieved from http://ijaet.org
- Sirek, D. (2016). Turning toward an ethnographic approach to teaching: How ethnography in the music classroom can inform teaching practice. *The Canadian Music Educator*, 57(4), 17-21. Retrieved from https://cmea.ca/journal/
- Snapp, S. (2017a). *The problem with how Gartner makes its money*. *Brightwork: Gartner Review. Retrieved on 17 September, 2019 from

- $https://www.brightworkresearch.com/gartner/2017/06/11/gartner-makes-money/\#How_Gartner_Breaks_Out_its_Revenue$
- Snapp, S. (2017b). *Is Gartner correct that they Are unbiased*? *Brightwork: Gartner Review. Retrieved on 17 September, 2019 from https://www.brightworkresearch.com/gartner/2017/06/23/gartner-correct-unbiased/
- Snelson, C. (2016). Qualitative and mixed methods social media research: A review of the literature. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *15*(1). doi:10.1177/1609406915624574
- Sorsa, M., Kiikkala, I., & Åstedt-Kurki, P. (2015) Bracketing as a skill in conducting unstructured qualitative interviews. *Nurse Researcher*. 22(4), 8-12. doi:10.7748/nr.22.4.8.e1317
- Sriwannawit, P., & Sandström, U. (2015). Large-scale bibliometric review of diffusion research. *Scientometrics*, 102(2), 1615–1645. doi:10.1007/s11192-014-1448-7
- Stake, R. E. (1995). The art of case study research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Synergy Research Group. (2017). *Hyperscale operators continue ramping up share of cloud markets*. Synergy Research Group. Retrieved on 19 September, 2019 from https://www.srgresearch.com/articles/hyperscale-operators-continue-ramping-share-cloud-markets
- Tarhini, A., Arachchilage, N. A. G., Masa'deh, R., & Abbasi, M. S. (2015). A critical review of theories and models of technology adoption and acceptance in

- information system research. *International Journal of Technology Diffusion*, 6(4), 58–77. doi:10.4018/ijtd.2015100104
- Thuraisingham, M. (2017). The secret life of decisions: How unconscious bias subverts your judgement. London, UK: Routledge.
- Titus, V. K., Parker, O., & Bass, A. E. (2018). Ripping off the band-aid: Scrutiny bundling in the wake of social disapproval. *Academy of Management Journal*, 61(2), 637–660. doi:10.5465/amj.2016.0435
- Tonkin-Crine, S., Anthierens, S., Hood, K., Yardley, L., Cals, J. W. L., & ... Little, P. (2015). Discrepancies between qualitative and quantitative evaluation of randomised controlled trial results: achieving clarity through mixed methods triangulation. *Implementation Science*, 11(1). doi:10.1186/s13012-016-0436-0
- Tornatzky, L. G., & Fleischer, M. (Eds.). (1990). *The processes of technological innovation*. Lexington, MA: Lexington Books.
- Torraco, R. J. (2016). Writing integrative literature reviews. *Human Resource Development Review*, 15(4), 404–428. doi:10.1177/1534484316671606
- Twining, P., Heller, R. S., Nussbaum, M., & Tsai, C. (2017). Some guidance on conducting and reporting qualitative studies. *Computers & Education*, 106, A1-A9. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2016.12.002
- Van Dongen, J. J. J., Habets, I. G. J., Beurskens, A., & van Bokhoven, M. A. (2016).
 Successful participation of patients in interprofessional team meetings: A
 qualitative study. *Health Expectations*, 20(4), 724–733. doi:10.1111/hex.12511

- VanScoy, A., & Evenstad, S. B. (2015). Interpretative phenomenological analysis for LIS research. *Journal of Documentation*, 71(2), 338–357. doi:10.1108/jd-09-2013-0118
- Varghese, B., & Buyya, R. (2018). Next generation cloud computing: New trends and research directions. *Future Generation Computer Systems*, 79, 849–861. doi:10.1016/j.future.2017.09.020
- Varpio, L., Ajjawi, R., Monrouxe, L. V., O'Brien, B. C., & Rees, C. E. (2017). Shedding the cobra effect: Problematising thematic emergence, triangulation, saturation and member checking. *Medical Education*, 51(1), 40–50. doi:10.1111/medu.13124
- Veinot, P., Lin, W., Woods, N., & Ng, S. (2017). Faculty and resident perspectives on ambulatory care education: A collective case study of family medicine, psychiatry, and surgery. *Canadian Medical Education Journal*, 8(3), e37.

 Retrieved from https://journalhosting.ucalgary.ca/index.php/cmej/index
- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S., & Sullivan, Y. (2016). Guidelines for conducting mixed-methods research: An extension and illustration. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 17(7), 435–494. doi:10.17705/1jais.00433
- Vithayathil, J. (2017). Will cloud computing make the Information Technology (IT) department obsolete? *Information Systems Journal*, 28(4), 634–649. doi:10.1111/isj.12151
- Walitzer, K. S., Dermen, K. H., Barrick, C., & Shyhalla, K. (2015). Modeling the innovation–decision process: Dissemination and adoption of a motivational

- interviewing preparatory procedure in addiction outpatient clinics. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 57, 18–29. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2015.04.003
- Walsh, R. (2015). Wise ways of seeing: Wisdom and perspectives. *Integral Review*, 11(2), 156-174. Retrieved from http://www.integral-review.org
- Walther, J., Sochacka, N. W., Benson, L. C., Bumbaco, A. E., Kellam, N., Pawley, A. L., & Phillips, C. M. L. (2017). Qualitative research quality: A collaborative inquiry across multiple methodological perspectives. *Journal of Engineering Education*, 106(3), 398–430. doi:10.1002/jee.20170
- Wang, W., Liu, Y., Liang, Y., & He, K. (2017) The influential factors of organization adoption of e-government cloud. 2017 International Conference on Financial Management, Education and Social Science (FMESS 2017).

 doi:10.25236/fmess.2017.60
- Wang, X., Cao, J., & Xiang, Y. (2015). Dynamic cloud service selection using an adaptive learning mechanism in multi-cloud computing. *Journal of Systems and Software*, 100, 195-210. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2014.10.047
- Wang, Y. M., & Wang, Y. C. (2016). Determinants of firms' knowledge management system implementation: An empirical study. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 64, 829-842. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.07.055
- Warui, C., Mukulu, E., & Karanja, K. (2015). The influence of management participation on adoption of HRIS IN teachers service commission (TSC) operations in Kenya.

 International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences,

 5(2). doi:10.6007/ijarbss/v5-i2/1462

- Weingärtner, R., Bräscher, G. B., & Westphall, C. B. (2015). Cloud resource management: A survey on forecasting and profiling models. *Journal of Network and Computer Applications*, 47, 99–106. doi:10.1016/j.jnca.2014.09.018
- Willis, D. G., Sullivan-Bolyai, S., Knafl, K., & Cohen, M. Z. (2016). Distinguishing features and similarities between descriptive phenomenological and qualitative description research. Western Journal of Nursing Research, 38(9), 1185–1204. doi:10.1177/0193945916645499
- Wilson, E., Kenny, A., & Dickson-Swift, V. (2017). Ethical challenges in community-based participatory research: A scoping review. Qualitative Health Research, 28(2), 189–199. doi:10.1177/1049732317690721
- Wisdom, J. P., Chor, K. H. B., Hoagwood, K. E., & Horwitz, S. M. (2014). Innovation adoption: A review of theories and constructs. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 41(4), 480–502. doi:10.1007/s10488-013-0486-4
- Woods, M., Paulus, T., Atkins, D. P., & Macklin, R. (2016). Advancing qualitative research using qualitative data analysis software (QDAS)? Reviewing potential versus practice in published studies using Atlas.ti and NVivo, 1994–2013. *Social Science Computer Review*, 34(5), 597–617. doi:10.1177/0894439315596311
- Wu, C., Nadjaran Toosi, A., Buyya, R., & Ramamohanarao, K. (2018). Hedonic pricing of cloud computing services. *IEEE Transactions on Cloud Computing*, 1–1. doi:10.1109/tcc.2018.2858266

- Wu, D., Terpenny, J., & Gentzsch, W. (2015). Cloud-based design, engineering analysis, and manufacturing: A cost-benefit analysis. *Procedia Manufacturing*, 1, 64–76. doi:10.1016/j.promfg.2015.09.061
- Wu, L., & Chiu, M. L. (2015). Organizational applications of IT innovation and firm's competitive performance: A resource-based view and the innovation diffusion approach. *Journal of Engineering and Technology Management*, 35, 25-44. doi:10.1016/j.jengtecman.2014.09.002
- Wu, L., Garg, S. K., & Buyya, R. (2015). Service level agreement (SLA) based SaaS cloud management system. In *Parallel and Distributed Systems (ICPADS)*, 2015

 IEEE 21st International Conference on, 440-447. Retrieved from http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/
- Xu, B., Qin, T., Qiu, G., & Liu, T.-Y. (2015). Optimal pricing for the competitive and evolutionary cloud market. In *Proceedings of the 24th International Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, 139–145. Retrieved from https://ijcai-15.org/
- Yazan, B. (2015). Three approaches to case study methods in education: Yin, Merriam, and Stake. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(2), 134-152. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr
- Yigitbasioglu, O. M. (2015). The role of institutional pressures and top management support in the intention to adopt cloud computing solutions. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 28(4), 579-594.doi: 10.1108/JEIM-09-2014-0087
- Yoo, S.-K., & Kim, B.-Y. (2018). A decision-making model for adopting a cloud computing system. *Sustainability*, 10(8), 2952. doi:10.3390/su10082952

- Yudho, G. S., Utari, D., Nur Fitriah, A. B., Achmad, N. H., & Chahyati, D. (2016).
 Knowledge management adoption and its impact on organizational learning and non-financial performance. *Knowledge Management & E-Learning*, 8(2), 387.
 Retrieved from https://www.doaj.org/
- Zamanzadeh, V., Ghahramanian, A., Rassouli, M., Abbaszadeh, A., Alavi-Majd, H., & Nikanfar, A. (2015). Design and implementation content validity study:

 Development of an instrument for measuring patient-centered communication. *Journal of Caring Sciences*, 4 (2), 165-178. doi:10.15171/jcs.2015.017
- Zamuee, M. R. (2016). Nature of commercial practices in the Namibian pension fund administration market. *American Journal of Marketing Research*, 2(5), 114-126.

 Retrieved from http://www.publicscienceframework.org/journal/allissues/ajmr.html
- Zhang, N., Zhao, X., Zhang, Z., Meng, Q., & Tan, H. (2017). What factors drive open innovation in China's public sector? A case study of official document exchange via microblogging (ODEM) in Haining. *Government Information Quarterly*, 34(1), 126-133. doi:10.1016/j.giq.2016.11.002
- Zhang, Y., & Wildemuth, B. M. (2016). Qualitative analysis of content. In B. Wildemuth (Ed.), Applications of social research methods to questions in information and library science (2nd ed.) (pp. 318-329). Denver, CO: Libraries Unlimited.

Appendix: Interview Protocol

Interview Title: Exploring Firm-Level, Cloud Adoption, and Diffusion

- A. I will introduce myself to the participant and thank them for participating.
- B. I will verify receipt of the consent form, answer any questions and concerns of the study participant.
- C. I will orient the interview. 1) Ask open question 2) Long answer positive and negative.
- D. I will remind the study participant that the interview will be recorded and the interview will remain strictly confidential.
- E. I will turn on the recording device, announce the study participant's identifying code, as well as the date and time of the interview.
- F. I will start the interview with the first question and continue through to the last question.
 - How do you contribute to IT cloud adoption and propagation decisions with steps, purposes, and time elements of each?
 - What are the key roles involved in the adoption and propagation of IT cloud within your organization and how does your role relate to these other roles?
 - Please describe the nature, frequency, and structure of how you communicate
 IT cloud adoption and propagation decisions with other peer and subordinate
 IT organizational roles.
 - How do you gather information to formulate IT cloud adoption deliberations and facilitate propagation communications?

- How do you adjudicate IT cloud adoption and propagation decisions with steps, rationale, and purposes of each?
- What difficulties have you encountered in the IT cloud adoption and propagation process within your organization and have these difficulties altered over time?
- What additional strategy-related information would be worth sharing to help
 IT executives make advantageous enterprise cloud adoption and diffusion decisions?
- G. End interview questions and ask if there is any other information they would like to share.
- H. Explain the concept of member checking and inform participant they will receive a transcript of the interview to verify the accuracy.
- I. Thank the participant for partaking in the study. Confirm the participant has contact information for any follow-up questions and concerns. Offer copy of the study when completed.